
 

 

 

 
To: Members of the Governance and 

Audit Committee 
Date: 

 
22 April 2021 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824706204 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE to be 
held at 9.30 am on WEDNESDAY, 28 APRIL 2021 VIA ZOOM. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
G. Williams 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1 APOLOGIES   

 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  (Pages 5 - 6) 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 
identified to be considered at this meeting.   
 

3 URGENT MATTERS   

 Notice of items, which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 12) 

 To receive the minutes of the Corporate Governance Committee meeting 
held on 17 March 2021 (copy enclosed). 
 

5 PROCURING WELL-BEING IN WALES  (Pages 13 - 80) 

 To consider a report by the Deputy Monitoring Officer/ Legal Services 
Manager (copy enclosed) providing the external report by the external report 
by the Future Generations Commissioner’s Office in respect to their review 
into procuring Well-being in Wales.   
 

Public Document Pack



 

6 BUDGET UPDATE - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP) AND 
BUDGET PROCESS  (Pages 81 - 96) 

 To consider a report by the Head of Finance and Assets (copy enclosed) 
updating members on the latest projections included in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and the plans for the Budget Process for 2022/23 and 
beyond. 
 

7 INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER & STRATEGY 2021-22  (Pages 97 - 124) 

 To consider a report by the Chief Internal Auditor (copy enclosed) which 
provides the Committee with the Internal Audit Charter and Strategy for 2021-
22. 
 

8 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  (Pages 125 - 142) 

 To consider a report by the Chief Internal Auditor (copy enclosed) updating 
members on Internal Audit progress. 
 

9 INTERNAL AUDIT HOUSING TENANCY  (Pages 143 - 156) 

 To receive the follow up report by the Chief Internal Auditor (copy enclosed) 
which provides members an update in the implementation of the action plan 
that accompanied the Internal Audit report on Housing Tenancy presented to 
the committee in January 2020.  
 

10 INTERNAL AUDIT PAYMENT CARD INDUSTRY DATA SECURITY 
STANDARDS (PCI-DSS)  (Pages 157 - 168) 

 
To receive the follow up report by the Chief Internal Auditor (copy enclosed) 
which provides an update on progress in implementing the action plan that 
accompanied the Internal Audit report on Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standards (PCI-DSS). 

11 INTERNAL AUDIT SUPPORT BUDGETS & DIRECT PAYMENTS  (Pages 
169 - 190) 

 
To consider an update report by the Chief Internal Auditor (copy enclosed) on 
the progress in implementing the action plan that accompanied the Internal 
Audit report on Support Budgets & Direct Payments presented to Members in 
September 2019. 

12 GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 
191 - 192) 

 To consider the committee’s forward work programme (copy enclosed). 
 
 
 

 



 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors 
 
Mabon ap Gwynfor 
Tony Flynn 
Martyn Holland 
 

Alan James 
Barry Mellor 
Joe Welch 
 

Lay Member 
 
Paul Whitham 
 

 
 

 
COPIES TO: 
 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part III 
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for 
planning permission made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which 
has made an application for financial assistance’. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee held via video conference 
on Wednesday, 17 March 2021 at 9.30 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillors Tony Flynn, Martyn Holland (Vice-Chair), Alan James, Barry Mellor (Chair) 
and Joe Welch. 
 
Lay Member - Paul Whitham 
 
Cabinet Member – Councillor Richard Mainon - Lead Member for Corporate Services 
and Strategic Direction 

Observer- Councillor Meirick Lloyd Davies. 
 

ALSO PRESENT 

 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services - Monitoring Officer (GW), Head of Finance 
and Property Services (Section 151 Officer) (SG), Chief Internal Auditor (LL), Strategic 
Planning Team Manager (NK), Strategic Planning & Performance Officer (CE), Chief 
Digital Officer (BE), Democratic Services Manager (SP), Committee administrators (SJ 
and RTJ). 
 
Wales Audit Office Representatives David Wilson, Matthew Edwards and Jodie Williams 
had also been in attendance. 

 
 

1 APOLOGIES  
 
None. 
 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
No declarations of interest were raised. 
 

3 URGENT MATTERS  
 
None. 
 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on the 
27 January 2021 were submitted. 
 
The Monitoring Officer (MO) confirmed a number of updates would be presented to 
the Committee regarding the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 2021 
when required. Confirmation that changes to the structure of the Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee where not due to take place until May 2022.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



RESOLVED that subject to the above, the minutes of the Corporate Governance and 
Audit Committee be received and approved as a correct record. 
 

5 THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY FOR WALES  
 
The Lead Member for Corporate Services and Strategic Direction introduced the 
report (previously circulated). Members were informed of the changes that have been 
embraced by Welsh Government under the Equality Act 2010 section 1-3. It was 
explained that following the changes a to review by officers of procedures within the 
council would have to take place. The aim would be to reduce socio-economic 
disadvantage across the authority.  
It was explained to members the report had been presented to the committee to 
present the key changes in key functions to satisfy requirements under the legislation. 
It was confirmed that the policy would be rolled out to officers to adopt.  
The Strategic Planning Team Manager added work had begun to review a number 
of key decision making and planning frameworks currently adopted with the council. 
Within the report it detailed the intention to review planning policy, e-learning modules 
and web content under the equality web pages and HR policy. It was confirmed that 
Internal Audit would also give consideration to this duty in future work.  
 
Members thanked the officers and noted the duty to include the socio-economic duty 
within Council policies and procedures. 
It was therefore, 
   
 RESOLVED, that members  

 note the reasons behind the Duty, its definitions, commits to giving due regard 
to the Duty. 

 note the core functions that are adapting to the Duty and ensures the 
adaptations are made. 

 Inspect Well-being Impact Assessments with respect to inequality of 
outcome that results from socio-economic disadvantage / poverty; Ensure 
they take ownership for Well-being Impact Assessments for which they are 
responsible; Challenge officers to provide evidence or take steps to fill in 
knowledge gaps in Well-being Impact Assessments and challenge the 
conclusions of the Assessments, asking Officers whether their conclusions are 
accurate / are likely to be accurate and avoid and challenge optimism bias. 

 
6 ALTERNATIVE SERVICE DELIVERY MODEL (ASDM) TOOLKIT  

 
Members were guided through the report (previously circulated) by the Lead Member 
for Corporate Services and Strategic Direction. It was explained that the toolkit had 
been requested by the committee to collate all resources in one toolkit. The toolkit 
provided officers with templates and guidelines to work towards when completing 
tasks. Communication with all officers had taken place to put the toolkit in place. 
Members heard that the intention had been for the toolkit to be read as a guide in 
establishing good practice in partnership governance, scrutiny requirements and 
provided assurance that good governance arrangements had been in place. 
 
Members thanked officers for the requested comprehensive report. The Monitoring 
Officer explained that a number of other considerations would still have to take place 

Page 8



such as compliance to GDPR requirements.  The toolkit provided both officers and 
members a guide to follow. 
 
Members thanked the Lead Member and officers for the report. It was, 
 
RESOLVED, that members note the contents of the ASDM toolkit, its intended use, 
its definitions, and the committee approved its use both within the Council and when 
the Council is working in partnership. 
  
 

At this juncture it was agreed to vary the order of the Agenda. 
 
 

7 CERTIFICATION OF GRANTS AND RETURNS 2019-20  
 
The Head of Finance and Property introduced the Audit Wales report (previously 
circulated). The report provided an assurance to the authority on the arrangements 
of grants. It was explained that the scope of the report had reduced over the previous 
years as Welsh Government reduced the number of grants that required this level of 
audit. It was confirmed that overall the Council has adequate arrangements in place 
for the production and submission of the 2019/20 grant claims. 
The Audit Wales representative Matthew Edwards explained that the teacher pension 
audit had been required to be reported to Welsh Government, therefore it had to be 
qualified. One of the tests required was not able to be completed due to Covid 
restrictions. Members were assured that Audit Wales had no concerns on the 
compilation of data from Audit Wales. Overall the Head of Finance and Property 
stated he was pleased with the outcome considering the difficulties faced during the 
pandemic.  
 
Members asked if it had been similar for all authorities within Wales. The Audit Wales 
representative stated the issues that had been experienced by Denbighshire had 
been specific to the authority in that electronic copies had not been readily available 
for Audit Wales to monitor.  It was stressed if the issues continued communication 
with the payroll team to address the issues would be made.  
It was confirmed due to regulations Audit Wales are required to report to the penny 
when auditing grant claims and regardless of the amount the findings are reported 
back. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Finance and Property and Audit Wales team for the 
report. 
Members, 
RESOLVED that members note the contents of the report. 
 
 
 
 

8 ANNUAL AUDIT SUMMARY  
 
The Head of Finance and Property introduced the Annual Audit Summary report 
produced by Audit Wales report (previously circulated). It was emphasised the report 

Page 9



had been updated to be more user friendly and have easier access to information. 
The report summarised the work done over the previous year for quick access.  
 
Matthew Edwards the representative from Audit Wales introduced Jodie Williams, it 
was explained to members Jodie had recently been promoted as an Audit Lead and 
would be contributing to the audit work of Denbighshire. The report provided 
members with an overview of the duties of the Auditor General and Denbighshire and 
summarised the findings.  David Wilson (Audit Wales representative) added that 
within the report a number of previously reported papers both Denbighshire findings 
and regional papers had been included. Confirmation that links to the detailed reports 
had been included within the document. Reassurance was provided to members on 
current Audit Wales work. Ongoing work around the Covid recovery plan and Covid 
learning would continue.  
 
Members were in agreement that the report provided a readable view of the Audit 
Wales work. In response to members questions the representatives expanded on the 
following; 

 With regard to the Local Government studies, it was explained officers 
considered the report and consider the report to identify any issues that 
would relate specifically to Denbighshire and report in the appropriate way. 

 Denbighshire contributed to the national fraud initiative, information was 
forwarded to the initiative for analysis.  The Chief Internal Auditor confirmed 
that a summary of the NFI results was included in the Internal audit update 
report.  
 

Members thanked officers and Audit Wales for the detailed response to questions.  
It was therefore 
 
RESOLVED, that members note the Audit Wales, Annual Audit Summary for 
Denbighshire County Council. 
 

9 AUDIT WALES' AUDIT PLAN 2021- 22  
 
Members were guided through the report (previously circulated) by the Head of 
Finance and Property. It was explained that the report detailed  Audit Wales’ planned 
work to be completed in 2021-22 from a financial and performance standpoint.  
 
Matthew Edwards (Audit Wales) confirmed the annual report included the intended 
work for key areas of responsibility around the performance and financial audit. 
Members heard that the concept of materiality was applied to work. It was explained 
that absolute assurance was not sought when reviewing financial statements and 
notes. Members were guided through the report and the risks that had been identified 
by the Audit Wales representative. A comprehensive reasoning for the risks was 
provided to members.  
The key focus risks identified had included risk of management override of controls, 
the councils subsidiary company – Denbighshire Leisure Limited and 2 areas 
affected by the Covid-19 pandemic - pressures on staff resource of remote working 
potentially impacting the preparation, audit and publication of accounts and material 
misstatement and the shape and approach to the audit. 

Page 10



Reference to the fee and audit team was highlighted, the representative confirmed 
the fee had remained fairly unchanged and Audit Wales had been confident that the 
specific risks could be absorbed in the fee set out. 
The Audit Wales representative stressed the importance of good communication with 
the finance team to work effectively would continue.   
 
David Wilson from Audit Wales highlighted the programme of work from the 
performance side of work. 
Reference was made to the continuous improvement aspect of the report. It had been 
identified that the introduction of the Local Government and Elections Wales Act 2021 
would have an impact on Audit Wales’ work including an assessment of performance 
which would be audited by Audit Wales. 
 
During the discussions the following areas were expanded upon: 

 It would be sensible to have a coordinated response when reviewing the 
funding streams received from Welsh Government. Cross working with 
Internal Audit and Welsh Government to ensure amounts are correctly 
disclosed and allocated correctly in accounts. At present Audit Wales had not 
been required to consider the fraud aspect of the funding. Ongoing discussion 
of the role of Audit Wales continued. Confirmation that Internal Audit had 
completed work addressing grant work and funding streams. 

 Included in the Audit Wales fee a small contingency had been included to 
address any queries from electors and members of the pubic. It was explained 
if the number of queries raised increased that may increase the fee a 
discussion with the Head of Finance would be held.   

 Members heard that IFRS 16 was a requirement of all public sector bodies. 
Confirmation that this had been deferred due to the Covid-19 pandemic was 
provided. The new standard would require a large amount of work to comply` 
with the requirements. Support and dialogue with the finance department to 
ensure compliance had taken place.  

 
Following discussions David Wilson confirmed that he would provide members and 
observers with additional information about the procedures Audit Wales followed 
when auditing Central Government in light of the changes due to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
The Chair thanked Audit Wales and officers for the report and it was: 
 
RESOLVED that members note the contents of the Audit Wales Audit Plan 2021-22.  
 

10 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee’s Forward Work Programme 
(FWP) was presented for consideration (previously circulated). 
 
It was agreed to amend the FWP as following: 
 
9 June 21 – To include the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
28 July 21 – A report on RIPA following a desktop inspection.  

Page 11



 
To include the Local Government Act as a future agenda item for changes to the 
constitution. 
 
RESOLVED that Corporate Governance and Audit Committee’s forward work 
programme be noted. 
 

11 CYBER RESILIENCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR  
 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
In order to address the concerns raised on the Audit Wales report on Cyber resilience 
in the public sector and discuss the confidential report it was –  
 
RESOLVED that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the Press 
and Public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it would involve the 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 
A confidential report by Audit Wales (previously circulated), provided information 
relating to cyber resilience in the public sector. Members discussed the need to be 
more aware of cybercrime. It was noted that following the pandemic the use of I.T. 
had increased, members felt providing members with information about cyber 
resilience would be beneficial. 
 
Members agreed it would be useful to have a follow up report presented to the 
committee on the work Denbighshire are completing in relation to cyber resilience in 
the public sector. 
 
It was, 
RESOLVED that members note the contents of the confidential report and a follow 
up report be included on the FWP.  
 

The meeting concluded at 11.35 a.m. 
 

Page 12



 

Report to Corporate Governance Committee  

Date of meeting 28th April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Julian Thompson Hill Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Finance, 
Performance and Strategic Assets 

Report author Lisa Jones Deputy Monitoring Officer/ Legal Services Manager Tania 
Silva, Framework Manager. 

Title Procuring Well-being in Wales - A Review into how the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act is informing procurement in Wales.   

1. What is the report about? 

To provide the Committee with the external report by the Future Generations Commissioner’s Office in 
respect of their review into procuring Well-being in Wales.   

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. All external governance reports are provided to Corporate Governance Committee in 
accordance with the Committee’s Terms of Reference.  

2.2. This report also provides information on what Denbighshire County Council is currently doing to 
meet the recommendations on the Procuring Well-being in Wales report and highlight the areas 
where we need to incorporate changes in order to meet the report’s recommendations. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

That the Committee considers the detail within the report and the actions being taken, and to be taken, 
in order to address the recommendations.  The Well-Being of Future Generations Act 2015 (the Act) 
places a duty under s.22 to take all reasonable steps to follow a course of action set out in a s.20 
recommendation, and to publish a response.   

4. Report details 

4.1 The Commissioners’ report is attached at Appendix 1.  On the whole this is a positive report for the 
Council, albeit there is always room to continually improve, see section 3.3 and in particular pages 28 
and 32.   

4.2 The Joint Collaborative Procurement service with Flintshire County Council has been in place since 
July 2014 and the report recognises there are differences between the Authorities and sometimes 
challenges in acting in step with another Authority through joint working and purchasing together.   
Great strides have been taken over the last 6 months by the Joint Procurement Service to facilitate 
and improve our collaborative approach and to support joint working across the two Council’s 
services.   The procurement team is to embark on a self assessment exercise in respect of its own 
collaborative skill set and where the gaps may be, but it is important to note that the procurement 
service is a support service and that it is services that have the opportunity to collaborate and procure 
to support well being.   The intention is to utilise the Institute for Collaborative Working toolkit and self 
assessment approach.  This will be piloted with the team and the learning will be fed back to the Joint 
Procurement Board to consider how best to utilise this insight across both Authorities.   

4.3 Members will note that the inception and progress of the Community Benefits Hub in supporting the 
Act’s intentions.   

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 
 

4.4 The report identifies matters that the Welsh Government need to address further, as the guiding hand 
in ensuring every public sector organisation is delivering Well-Being within their procurement activities 
– see section 3.2 page 12 summary.    

4.5 The Act has provided the legislative permission, and duty, to include within procurement activity and 
contract lifecycles considerations and expectations in respect of current and future well-being.  The 
Act is a unique piece of legislation and provides public bodies with an opportunity to transform the way 
procurement is planned and delivered in Wales.   

4.6 Denbighshire County Council elected to take part on the Section 20 Review in order to gain detail of 
how efforts to embed the Act into their procurement decisions are helping the Council and other public 
bodies to meet, or take steps to meet, their well-being objectives and to further understand how public 
bodies’ procurement decisions and related actions impact the long-term. Procurement is one of the 
seven corporate areas for change in the Act’s statutory guidance and is a key area of focus for public 
bodies in meeting their obligations under the Act.  

4.7 The review acknowledges that nationally procurement processes have improved considerably over the 
last decade, however the following areas still need to be addressed:  

 

 There is still too much focus on process and not outcomes. 

 Increasing a focus on procuring well-being with a greater focus on outcomes and measuring what 
matters.  

 Acknowledges that a key barrier to sustainable procurement has been that it can cost more at least 
in the short-term, especially when whole-life costing may not be considered.    

 
4.8 In respect of processes and outcomes, to a great extent the Council’s hands are currently tied in that 

it must procure in accordance with the Public Sector Procurement Regulations 2015; legislation that 

has emanated from the EU Procurement Directives.  A significant and historic opportunity as a 
result of leaving the European Union now exists, as new procurement regulations are being 
consulted upon.  Central and Devolved Government now have the opportunity to design 
regulations that deliver better for our communities and businesses.  

 
4.9  Any procurement exercise over 25k commences with a Commissioning Form, which directs the 

Officer to consider and record their considerations and intent in respect of a wide number of areas.  
This is an important part of the process to encourage and support services to think beyond the 
immediate purchase need.  A copy of the Commissioning Form is attached as Appendix 2 for 
information.  

 
4.10 The actions being taken, or to be taken, to address the issues raised by the Commissioner are set 

out at Appendix 3.   This will be updated following consultation on a revised procurement strategy.   

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate Priorities? 

The Council has set it’s corporate priorities in order to meet the Act’s duties;  the Council has declared a 
climate emergency and procurement has an important role to play in supporting this policy and wider 
corporate priorities.  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

It is not possible to quantify the cost of procuring to ensure the well being of future generations in a single 
report as each procurement activity has individual circumstances.  It is possible some activity which supports 
well being may cost more in financial terms than eg the cheapest option; it will be up to services to consider 
the added value that could be achieved over and above a single purchasing need.   In some situations an 
increase in cost for the actual procuring service, could result in far greater well being benefits for another 
service.   The procurement strategy is being developed further in this regard, so that where possible any 
tension can be fully considered and a one council approach is followed.  

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact Assessment? 

A Well-being Impact Assessment is not required for this report.  

Page 14



 
 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny and others? 

The Collaborative Procurement Board consisting of lead members and both Monitoring Officers were 
sighted on the draft report before publication.   

In meeting the recommendations going forwards key stakeholders will be consulted.  

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

It is likely that the ongoing impact of ensuring our procurement progresses the aim of the Future 
Generations legislation will increase costs. This may for some projects involve reducing the scale of 
projects, in others we may need to accept that additional funds need to be found. Each spending 
decision will continue to be required to assessed individually and take account of the wider budgetary 
constraints.   

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to reduce them? 

The risks in not taking on board the report recommendations’ are that the Commissioner may 
intervene, and moreover the Council not meeting it’s duties to put future generations at the heart of its 
activities.  

11. Power to make the decision 

s.22 Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015.  

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



PROCURING 

WELL-BEING 

IN WALES
A Review into how the Well-being

of Future Generations Act is 

 informing procurement in Wales.

February 2021
Page 17



www.futuregenerations.wales

Procuring well-being in Wales

Contents

P10 3.1 SECTION 20 REVIEW - SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

P12 3.2 WELSH GOVERNMENT FINDINGS 

P24 3.3 PUBLIC BODY FINDINGS 

P34 3.4 THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 - CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

P03 THE WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT  

P05 1.0 INTRODUCTION

P08 2.0 SECTION 20 REVIEW

P09 3.0 FINDINGS

P38 4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR WELSH GOVERNMENT

P43 5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR PUBLIC BODIES, INCLUDING WELSH GOVERNMENT

P46 USEFUL RESOURCES

P47 USEFUL CONTACTS

Page 18



www.futuregenerations.wales

Procuring well-being in Wales

Dr Jane Lynch, Reader in

Procurement at Cardiff

Business School. 

Professor Kevin Morgan, Dean

of Engagement.

This work has been completed in

partnership with Cardiff University

as part of a Memorandum of

Understanding, particularly

acknowledging the involvement of:

I would also like to thank the

members of the steering group

for their contribution: 

Catryn Holzinger, Audit Wales.

Vincent Hanley and Cat Griffith-

Williams, Constructing

Excellence in Wales.

Emma Waldron, Wales Council

for Voluntary Action. 

Rhian Edwards, Wales Co-op

Centre. 

Keith Edwards, Foundational

Economy Network & Can-Do

Toolkit.

Page 19



The Well-being of Future Generations Act

(hereby referred to as ‘the Act’) gives us the

ambition, permission and legal obligation to

improve our social, cultural, environmental

and economic well-being.

The Well-being of Future Generations Act

requires public bodies in Wales to think

about the long-term impact of their

decisions, to work better with people,

communities and each other, and to prevent

persistent problems such as poverty, health

inequalities and climate change.

The Act is unique to Wales attracting interest

from countries across the world as it offers a

huge opportunity to make a long-lasting,

positive change to current and future

generations.

To make sure we are all working towards the

same purpose, the Act puts in place seven

well-being goals. 

The Act makes it clear the listed public

bodies must work to achieve all of the goals,

not just one or two. The Act establishes

Public Services Boards in each Local

Authority area. They are required to assess

the state of well-being locally, set objectives

and produce a plan designed to improve

economic, social, environmental and cultural

well-being in their local area, contributing to

the well-being goals.

The Well-being of Future Generations Act

defines Sustainable Development in Wales

as: “The process of improving the economic,

social, environmental and cultural well-being

of Wales by taking action, in accordance with

the sustainable development principle, aimed

at achieving the well-being goals.”

www.futuregenerations.wales
03Procuring well-being in Wales

The Well-being of Future
Generations Act

Page 20

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/


04

Sophie Howe is the first Future Generations

Commissioner for Wales and her role is to be

the guardian of future generations. This

means helping public bodies and those who

make policy in Wales to think about the long-

term impact their decisions have.

Sophie took up post in 2016 and has led high

profile interventions around transport

planning, education reform and climate

change, challenging the Government and

others to demonstrate how they are taking

account of future generations.

Described by the Big Issue Magazine as one

of the UK’s leading Changemakers, her

interventions have secured fundamental

changes to land-use planning policy, major

transport schemes and Government policy on

housing - ensuring that decisions taken today

are fit for the future.

Prevention

Involvement 

Long-Term 

Integration

Collaboration

www.futuregenerations.wales

Procuring well-being in Wales

The Act sets out five ways of working needed

for public bodies to achieve the seven well-

being goals. This approach provides an

opportunity for innovative thinking, reflecting

the way we live our lives and what we expect

of our public services. 

You can find more about our work

online at:

www.futuregenerations.wales

Page 21

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-commissioner/
http://futuregenerations.wales/


Introduction01
The Act provides us with an opportunity to

transform the way procurement is planned

and delivered in Wales. By moving from a

process-driven approach towards an

outcomes-based approach, we can ensure

the £6.3 billion spent annually by the public

sector in Wales delivers the best outcomes

across all four dimensions of well-being

(economic, social, environmental, and

cultural) for current and future generations.

Procurement is one of the seven corporate

areas for change in the Act’s statutory

guidance (Shared Purpose: Shared Future,

SPSF 1: Core Guidance) and it must be a

key area of focus for public bodies in

meeting their obligations under the Act,

including setting, and taking all reasonable

steps to meet, their organisational well-

being objectives.

If it is accepted (as it should be, as it is set

out in the statutory guidance) that the way

in which resources are spent through

procurement is a reasonable step, then a

public body’s procurement strategy should

be setting out clearly how they are

procuring in a way which helps them to

meet their organisational well-being

objectives, and in turn contributing to the

seven national well-being goals. They

should also evidence clear alignment with

the four dimensions of well-being (cultural,

economic, social and environmental) and

how they have applied the five ways of

working in the Act which are planning for

the long term, prevention, integration,

collaboration and involvement. 

Working in partnership with Cardiff

University, we have undertaken research to

establish the extent to which the Act has

been informing commissioning and

procurement decisions across all 44 public

bodies in Wales since 2016 (when the Act

came into force).

Our work has been undertaken in two

stages (i) research and (ii) Section 20

Review.

Phase 1 - Research1.1.

Preliminary desk-based research on

published procurement policies and

current guidance

Requesting evidence from the 44

public bodies and using the information

shared to understand the progress that

individual public bodies are making in

meeting their well-being objectives, the

seven national well-being goals and

four dimensions of well-being, by using

the five ways of working, within their

approach to procurement

Engaging with the wider community of

stakeholders at regional events and

forums.

The desk-based research (August 2019-

January 2020) consisted of the following

approach: 

This should be reported through the

outcomes that are achieved.

www.futuregenerations.wales
05Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 22

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-1-core-guidance.PDF


The main findings from the first research

phase are outlined in the ‘Spotlight on

Procurement’ within the Commissioner’s

Future Generations Report published in May

2020. The chapter outlines what it could

mean if the £6.3 billion a year public bodies

spend on procuring a range of goods,

services and works was being spent on

buying things and improving the economic,

social, environmental and cultural well-being

of people and communities in Wales. The

Act provides an important opportunity to re-

think how and where public funds are spent

in the interest of current and future

generations.

Building on the research findings from Phase

1, a Section 20 Review was triggered in

March 2020 to formally examine the

procurement practices of nine public bodies.

The purpose of the formal Review was to: 

(i) gain a more detailed understanding of

how efforts to embed the Act into

procurement decisions are helping public

bodies to meet (or take steps to meet) their

well-being objectives; and 

(ii) to further understand how public bodies

are taking account of the statutory ways of

working, particularly considering long-term

impact, within their approach to

procurement.

Phase 2 – Section 20 
Review

(a) the steps the body has taken or proposes

to take to meet its well-being objectives;

(b) the extent to which the body is meeting its

well-being objectives;

(c) whether a body has set well-being

objectives and taken steps to meet them in

accordance with the sustainable development

principle.

(a) the steps the body has taken or proposes

to take to meet its well-being objectives;

(b) how to set well-being objectives and take

steps to meet them in accordance with the

sustainable development principle.

(1) The Commissioner may conduct a review into

the extent to which a public body is safeguarding

the ability of future generations to meet their

needs by taking account of the long-term impact

of things the body does under Section 3.

(2) In conducting a review, the Commissioner may

review

(3) In conducting a review, the Commissioner

must have regard to any examination of the body

carried out by the Auditor General for Wales under

section 15.

(4) In conducting a review, the Commissioner may

make recommendations to the public body about

(5) The Commissioner may conduct a single

review of two or more public bodies.

(6) The Commissioner must publish a report of a

review (including any recommendations made)

and send a copy of it to the Welsh Ministers.

(7) In conducting a review, the Commissioner may

require a public body to provide such information

as the Commissioner considers relevant to the

review.

(8) But a public body is not required to provide

information to the Commissioner if the body is

prohibited from providing it by virtue of an

enactment or any other rule of law.

1.2.

Section 20: Reviews by the 
Commissioner

www.futuregenerations.wales
06Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 23

https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement
https://gov.wales/progress-towards-the-development-of-a-new-procurement-landscape-in-wales-html
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/section/20#:~:text=20Reviews%20by%20the%20Commissioner&text=(1)The%20Commissioner%20may%20conduct,the%20body%20does%20under%20section%20.


public bodies (during Autumn 2020)

provided an opportunity to discuss the

steps they were taking to embed the Act,

and establish some of the more deep-

rooted challenges faced by public bodies.

The discussions helped to identify any gaps

in support that may be required going

forward.

With the sudden onset of COVID-19, and

the additional pressure being placed on

public bodies dealing with the impact of

the crisis, the Review was paused in March

but resumed in October 2020. 

Interview discussions with leaders and

representatives from each of the nine

Who are the Report and recommendations aimed at?
This Report includes findings and

recommendations specifically for the nine

public bodies who were subject to the

Review.  The nine organisations have a

statutory duty (Section 22(4)) to publish

their response to the recommendations

made by the Commissioner in this Report.

Public bodies are encouraged to do so

within 25 working days of the

recommendations being published.

Many of the recommendations are equally

relevant to all public bodies who should

consider them as advice, and we will be

following progress as part of the

Commissioner's duty to provide advice and

assistance and to monitor and assess how

public bodies are making progress towards

their well-being objectives. The

Commissioner and Auditor General for

Wales also work closely on their

complementary duties, and Audit Wales

has contributed to this Review. Going

forward, the Commissioner and Auditor

General for Wales will be seeking to share

relevant information on how public bodies

are making progress towards meeting the

requirements of the Act.

The recommendations are specifically

aimed at those in senior positions –

Ministers, Chief Executives and Directors of

Finance.

This Report also includes examples shared

by public bodies, illustrating good practice

and lessons learned, demonstrating a

consideration of specific elements of the

Act. However, it was challenging to find

examples evidencing consideration of all

elements of the Act. When implementing

the recommendations from this Report,

public bodies should consider how current

and future procurement activities can

contribute to Wales’ seven well-being

goals, their organisational well-being

objectives and the four dimensions of well-

being (cultural, economic, social and

environmental), through the application of

the five ways of working.

The well-being goals should be placed as

the national primary objectives for

delivering strategic procurement in Wales.

The report explains how this may be

achieved, considering the role of

procurement professionals, the

procurement function and how the

procurement process can support delivery

of wider organisational priorities and

objectives.

www.futuregenerations.wales
07Procuring well-being in Wales

The findings and recommendations include

those which are relevant to all the public

bodies subject to the Review and those

which are primarily directed at the Welsh

Government in its leadership capacity. 

Page 24



Section 20 Review02

Bridgend County Borough Council 

Cardiff and Vale University Health

Board 

Denbighshire County Council 

Flintshire County Council 

National Library of Wales 

Velindre NHS Trust (as hosts of NHS

Wales Shared Services) 

Wrexham County Council 

Welsh Government 

Ynys Môn / Anglesey Council

From the 44 Public Bodies invited to

participate in the initial research phase,

nine organisations representing a range of

national, local authority and health board

organisations were selected for the Review:  

The responses to Phase 1 – the

desktop research phase. 

Fair representation of national, local

authority and health board.

organisations being interviewed 

Evidence of individual procurement

strategy development. 

Evidence received outlining the steps

being taken to meet the requirements

of the Act as part of their procurement

process.

The nine public bodies were selected for

the Review based on multiple factors

including:

This section outlines the methodology adopted for the Review.

Shortlisted Participants

www.futuregenerations.wales
08Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 25

http://futuregenerations2020.wales/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Manifesto-for-the-Future-FGCW1.pdf


Findings03
The key findings from the research phase were published in May 2020 as part of the

Commissioner’s Future Generations Report 2020. This is published every four years as part of a

statutory duty and provides an assessment of the improvements public bodies have made in

relation to meeting their well-being objectives. More than just meeting a ‘duty’ this Report

explains how the Welsh public sector is collectively improving well-being in accordance with

the Act. The Commissioner has identified procurement as an important lever for public bodies

to achieve their well-being objectives, and it is also one of the seven corporate areas of change

identified in Welsh Government’s Statutory Guidance on the Act.

www.futuregenerations.wales
09Procuring well-being in Wales

Table 1: Summary of key findings and recommendations included in the ‘Spotlight on

Procurement' (Future Generations 2020 Report,  May 2020).

Page 26

https://futuregenerations2020.wales/
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement


www.futuregenerations.wales
10Procuring well-being in Wales

Evidence gathered in the research and

Review phases (for the nine public bodies

subject to the Review) included exploration

of issues around leadership, embedding

the Act, the impact of the Future

Generations Report (May 2020) and the

impact of Covid-19. In addition, good

practice examples are presented

throughout the findings.

The following main issues have been

identified and each point will be explained

in more detail within Section 3.2 and

Section 3.3.

Section 20 Review -
summary of findings

3.1. Issues directly relating to Welsh

Government in their leadership

capacity

Welsh Government has failed to show

clear joined up leadership on the role of

procurement in delivering Wales’

national well-being goals (and public

bodies well-being objectives). 

There is poor communication and

integration between different Welsh

Government priorities, alongside lack of

support available for public bodies to

ensure these are implemented

effectively on the ground. 

Page 27



Issues relating to public bodies

Opportunities to deliver on all four

dimensions of well-being are not being

maximised, often due to a lack of

leadership and strategic approach that

recognises the ‘power of purchase’.

The “procurement system” is too often

leading to a focus on process and

short-term cost rather than delivering

wider outcomes over the long-term,

and there is no consistent way of

measuring the outcomes that can be

achieved in line with the Act. There

needs to be a shift to considering long

term costs holistically, in line with the

Act.

There is no mechanism for promoting

effective collaboration for public

bodies, particularly cross-sector to

improve sharing, learning, capacity and

skills.

Although there is evidence across the

board that the nine public bodies

interviewed are taking steps to apply the

Act during the procurement process, the

Review has identified a number of

challenges and constraints in procuring

sustainably including:

Organisational buy-in, leadership

involvement and engagement –

leaders failing to view procurement as

an important function or lever in

meeting corporate (well-being)

objectives.

Insufficient resources and capacity

within the procurement function and

amongst procurement professionals.

Navigating what has become an

increasingly complex landscape.

www.futuregenerations.wales
11Procuring well-being in Wales

Opportunities for making spend work

harder are being missed due to lack of

support for the procurement profession

and lack of accountability at a

leadership level. 

There is no ongoing monitoring of

procurement approaches or outcomes

either for the purposes of spotting

where things are going wrong, and

opportunities are being missed, or for

identifying and sharing best practice.

 

Page 28



During discussions with the public bodies,

there was a consensus that Welsh

Government should be leading the way

when implementing legislation and policy,

providing practical support to other public

bodies, as well as monitoring and assessing

how they, and others, are considering the

Act in their procurement activities.

Leadership at the national and local level is

inconsistent and current guidance is

insufficient in providing the necessary

support to embed the Act. Many public

bodies are expected to follow the national

procurement strategy however, the current

Wales Procurement Policy Statement

(WPPS) has not been updated since 2015

and does not fully reflect the Act. We are

aware that Welsh Government are hoping to

publish a revised Statement imminently and

the Office of the Future Generations

Commissioner (OFGC) has contributed to

this process through providing advice. 

Welsh Government
Findings (in their
leadership capacity)

3.2.

The issue: Welsh Government has

failed to show clear, joined up

leadership on the role of

procurement in delivering Wales’

national well-being goals (and

public bodies' well-being

objectives).

The current situation: One of the

opportunities for change outlined in the

Commissioner's Future Generations Report

2020 is that Welsh Government should

develop leadership that supports a strategic

approach to procurement, recognising the

‘power of purchase’.

“Procurement will continue to be a facilitator of

change and a conduit to collaboration.  

Building commercial activities that will foster

vibrant Welsh supply markets and support

sustainable communities through delivery of

citizen centric services within the Welsh Public

sector”.

The Act requires procurement to adopt a

much wider approach to well-being beyond

this quite traditional approach.

In March 2020, Welsh Government

published “Progress towards the

development of a new procurement

landscape in Wales” which provides an

update on their recent work as well as

setting out their new way of working going

forwards. Although the Commissioner

offered feedback on a draft of this, the Act

was not highlighted as a key framework

underpinning Welsh Government’s

approach and is an example of a ‘missed

opportunity’ for showing public bodies how

the Act should be the framework for public

procurement in Wales, demonstrating clear

links between delivering policy and the

seven national well-being goals.

Since 2016, when the Act has been in

place, Welsh Government has not

developed comprehensive guidance or a

framework that supports public bodies to

apply the Act within their procurement

activities.

However there has been some

developments in relation to evolving the

approach to capturing social value,

collaboration in developing a co-ordinated

national and regional procurement

programme and wider capability and

capacity building. 

www.futuregenerations.wales
12Procuring well-being in Wales

However, it isn’t clear how the current

vision in the draft revised Statement aligns

to all aspects, or supports the ambitious

aims, of the Act:

Page 29

https://futuregenerations2020.wales/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/a-new-procurement-landscape-in-wales.pdf


In addition to considering how their own

procurement decisions deliver on all

elements of the Act, Welsh Government

and the National Procurement Service

(NPS) has a responsibility to monitor and

assess how other public bodies are

considering the Act in their procurement

activities, particularly through national

frameworks. During the Section 20 Review, Welsh

Government representatives emphasised it

is the public bodies responsibility to

evaluate how using frameworks can

contribute to organisational well-being

objectives. Therefore, whilst public bodies

utilising frameworks to deliver social value

is understandable, especially considering

the capacity issues they face, the

frameworks alone are not ensuring that

public bodies are meeting their legal duties

to ‘take all reasonable steps to meet their

well-being objectives.’

A Welsh Government review in 2018 stated

that “NPS will, over time, cease to exist”

responding to the views of customers that

“they required a different approach which

provided greater support to enable delivery

of regional and local well-being goals and

priorities”. It is not clear what progress has

been made to establish a “national policy

development and delivery support

function” as outlined by the Cabinet

Secretary for Finance in 2018.

Some public bodies, particularly those with

smaller procurement teams, draw on these

national frameworks relying on them as the

first ‘port of call’ for managing

procurement. They are under the

impression that frameworks offer a safety

net for capturing social value and assume

that they have already considered the Act.

During the Review, one national body 

www.futuregenerations.wales
13Procuring well-being in Wales

Carmarthenshire County Council lead

on the tender for the South West Wales

Regional Contractors framework

(SWWRCF) and was keen to embed

opportunities to maximise economic,

social, environmental and cultural well-

being of people and communities into

the core of the Framework. This is a

significant regional Framework in South

West Wales, with an estimated value of

£1 billion worth of construction projects

being awarded through it over the 4

year duration. ‘Objectives & Aims’

based on the Act were produced and

included in the Tender to communicate

their aspirations to all tenderers and

subsequently appointed Contractors.

This document has helped to guide

opportunities at call-off level, and

individual project opportunities can

then be built upon further at the next

stage.

Case Study: Carmarthenshire County

Council

stated that “we make as much use of well-

established local government procurement

frameworks as we can and rely on other

government agencies to have undertaken

the necessary well-being assessments in

arriving at the agreed frameworks which

are in place”.

By working collaboratively, the NPS

manages the delivery of all-Wales public

sector contracts and frameworks for goods

and services. The current NPS pipeline

brings together public sector purchasing

power of around £0.5 billion for categories

of common and repetitive spend. Over 70

public sector organisations in Wales are

signed up as NPS members including all

local authorities, the NHS, the Welsh

Parliament, Welsh Government and Welsh

Government Sponsored Bodies (WGSBs),

the Police and Fire and Rescue services

and Higher and Further Education

institutions.

Page 30

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-01/council-for-economic-development-october-18-national-procurement-service.pdf


A commitment to the Act at Framework level, and the application of the five ways of

working and seven national goals throughout the procurement process, has led to a

more robust and meaningful tender and has created a ‘golden thread’ where the

project aims and objectives are aligned with the Act and reflected in each tender. 

For example, the themes of innovation, sustainability, collaboration and community

benefits form a key part of the quality questions and subsequent scoring criteria that

will be asked of tendering contractors. In so doing, Carmarthenshire aims to ensure

that sufficient consideration is given to the principles of the Act, together with

tangible deliverables such as the delivery of targeted recruitment and training, which

will foster involvement and long-term impact, and also opportunities for the

community through the provision of services and jobs.

Another example is the forthcoming call-off from the SWWRCF 2020 Framework for

Pentre Awel - Zone 1. Funded through City Deal and Council investment, this

comprises public, academic, business, health and leisure facilities to boost

employment, education, leisure provision, health research and delivery, and skills and

training. Due out to tender in February 2021 it is valued at £80 million with a

completion date of Summer 2023. Developing the work carried out by the Project

Team on embedding the Act from the initial planning phases, they have flowed this

vision through to the procurement stage and further aligned the Council’s

commitment to maximising the well-being goals and their own objectives.

Case Study: Carmarthenshire County Council (continued)

www.futuregenerations.wales
14Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 31



Many of the procurement teams who

participated in the Section 20 Review

highlighted a desire to do things differently

but noted that they were unsure how to fully

embed the Act in all decision-making

without additional support and consistent

national guidance. One public body said that

their intentions to take additional steps to

meet the requirements of the Act, including

the recommendations outlined in the Future

Generations Report 2020, were

‘meaningless’ without coherent strategic

guidance. When developing new initiatives,

guidance and toolkits there needs to be

clear consideration for how these support

procurement activities to deliver against all

elements of the Act.

Welsh Government are reviewing the

structure and governance of procurement

and the transition from NPS and Value Wales

to a new structure. Welsh Government

accepts that some of the policy

implementation toolkits where Wales was

once known to excel, such as the

Procurement Route Planner, need re-

prioritising and updating.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

Welsh Government should establish a

Procurement Centre of Excellence for

improving coordination, collaboration

and providing practical support to

public bodies in the exercise of their

procurement functions, specifically in

relation to the Act. Development of

this Centre of Excellence would

require a comprehensive review and

reform of the existing procurement

landscape (structures, networks,

partnerships and initiatives) and be

resourced to build capacity and

support implementation. 

The new Programme for Government

should clearly set out how Welsh

Government will provide strategic

leadership and commitment to

supporting and achieving wider

outcomes from procurement, using

language that is consistent with the

Act.  

Welsh Government’s new

Procurement Policy Statement should

demonstrate how it will support

public bodies to deliver the

aspirations of the Act in public sector

procurement in Wales. This

Statement, along with progress to

deliver the commitments, should be

reviewed and reported annually. 

Welsh Government should ensure all

future national procurement

frameworks align with, and contribute

to, the seven national well-being

goals and apply the five ways of

working set out in the Act. 

www.futuregenerations.wales
15Procuring well-being in Wales

They ensure clear communication and

transparency on well-being aims and

objectives throughout the tender

process – “the golden thread”  

The themes of innovation,

sustainability, collaboration and

community benefits form a key part of

the quality questions and subsequent

scoring criteria that will be asked of

tendering contractors.

Key Lessons

Page 32



The issue: There is poor

communication and integration

between different Welsh

Government priorities, alongside

lack of support available for public

bodies to ensure these are

implemented effectively on the

ground.

The current situation: Public procurement

operates under a regulatory regime, the

Public Contracts regulations, but with

growing attention to embedding social

value and well-being into procurement, it is

perceived by many that the policy

landscape has become complex with an

extensive set of tools, guidance and

priorities coming from Welsh Government.

Throughout the duration of the research

and Section 20 Procurement Review, Welsh

Government has been supporting many

initiatives which relate to, and support,

progressive procurement including the

foundational economy, social partnerships,

circular economy, social value, and

community wealth building. 

There are some innovative approaches

being taken to consider the Act, but they

appear to be lacking strategic connection.

Whilst written guidance from Welsh

Government in implementing national

initiatives is helpful, when this is not

coordinated or explained in the context of

the Act, or linked to other relevant policy

areas it can cause confusion and makes

the already complex landscape even

harder for public bodies to navigate. The forthcoming Social Partnerships Bill

will need to ensure that the new

procurement duty placed on public bodies

supports them to deliver outcomes that will

help them to achieve their well-being

objectives and, in turn, the national well-

being goals.

The focus on the Foundational

Economy through a new Ministerial

Advisory Board, a Foundational

Economy Challenge Fund, Community

of Practice and expert panel on

procurement; 

The partnership with the Centre for

Local Economic Strategies (CLES),

focusing on community wealth building

and supporting Public Service Board

clusters to strengthen local supply

chains;

The creation of a Knowledge Hub and

refreshing the Welsh Procurement

Policy Statement;

The update of the Community Benefits

Toolkit and implementation of the

Welsh social value framework (TOMS -

Themes Outcomes and Measures);

Work with the Charted Institute of

Procurement & Supply (CIPS) to

develop further procurement training;

Establishing a Critical Equipment

Requirements Engineering Team

(CERET) during COVID-19;

Developing a Decarbonisation

Dashboard for procurement;

'A More Equal Wales: Strengthening

Social Partnerships' White Paper which

proposes a 'Bill to strengthen our social

partnership arrangements', including a

requirement for 'specified public bodies

to produce a procurement strategy in

line with statutory guidance'.

 

www.futuregenerations.wales
16Procuring well-being in Wales

Examples of relevant national initiatives

that would benefit from further integration

and coordination include:

Value Wales and the National

Procurement Service – creating new

frameworks and managing existing

ones whilst transitioning to new

arrangements;

Page 33



The foundational economy describes

the jobs at the heart of our local

communities, across sectors such as

care and health services, food, housing,

energy, tourism, construction and retail.

This part of the economy account for

four jobs in every ten and £1 in every

£3 spent. Last year Welsh Government

invested £4.5 million in a new

Foundational Economy Challenge Fund

which is currently supporting 52

projects that are testing new and

innovative ways of making the everyday

economy work better for all

communities in Wales. They have

recently committed an additional £3

million of funding to enable this work to

continue. Funding support has been

given to:

Case Study 

Community Care Collaborative in

Wrexham, which is contracted by

the local health board to run three

GP practices, has developed a new

model or primary care based on

helping patients access support.

They have recruited an emotional

well-being team to provide well-

being support for patients which

has seen a 57% reduction in

referrals to other mental health

organisations.  

Vale of Glamorgan Council has

been able to improve its

procurement processes and

engage with more than 1,000

businesses since June 2020 to

increase the number of local small

and medium-sized enterprises

delivering Council contracts

resulting in more money being

retained within the local economy.

ELITE Paper Solutions, a social

enterprise based in Merthyr Tydfil

which specialises in document

management storage and data

shredding. They have been able to

develop a fully inclusive workplace,

now employing a total of 39 people

many of whom might otherwise

have been excluded from the labour

market, due to disability, health

conditions or long-term

unemployment. Through winning

three large public sector contracts

they have increased their revenue

by £90,000 and recruited a further

six staff members. ELITE is a

community benefit arising from, and

grown through, the NPS Office

Supplies national framework.

Alongside the Challenge Fund the

Deputy Minister for the Economy and

Transport has established a Ministerial

Advisory Board and a package of

practical support using experts in the

Centre for Local Economic Strategies

who are working with Public Services

Boards to help them develop their

approach to procurement in the

foundational economy with a focus on

‘community wealth building’.  This is

welcome practical support but it is

currently disconnected from other

initiatives in Government.  Public sector

procurement would benefit from an

expanded package of support which

integrates all aspects of the Act and

related Government programmes.

www.futuregenerations.wales
17Procuring well-being in Wales

Case Study: Foundational Economy

Challenge Fund

Page 34



Case Study 

Case Study: Carmarthenshire Public

Services Board Food Procurement

An economic dividend by securing

supply contracts for micro, small

and medium sized firms that are

locally or regionally based; 

A health dividend by promoting

good food for all, especially in

schools and colleges, where the

citizens of tomorrow are acquiring

their skills, habits and tastes today.

Carmarthenshire has a rich history of

food production and supply, but it

recognised that there is an opportunity

for public sector organisations to make

a greater contribution to the local

supply chain by changing its approach

to procurement and doing things

differently. Smart public food

procurement could provide a 'Double

Dividend':

www.futuregenerations.wales
18Procuring well-being in Wales

Welsh Government funded

experimentation has accelerated

the progress of public bodies taking

steps to achieve their well-being

objectives. 

A focus on the Foundational

Economy is an effective approach

for embedding well-being and

social value into procurement, but

needs to be better connected to

other initiatives as well as the Act.

Key Lessons

Benefiting from a Foundational

Economy Challenge Fund Award, the

project will establish a new way of

working not just for the food sector but

potentially across all other public sector

procured goods and services. The Act

provides an excellent opportunity to

test and challenge, and by using the

five ways of working as a guiding

framework there is an opportunity to

have a significant impact on the social,

environmental, economic, and cultural

well-being of Carmarthenshire.

Ungry Young Man

Page 35



Whilst Welsh Government develops

guidance for the public sector, for example

on delivering social value and embedding

the Act, unless it is integrated with existing

guidance it is seen as an additional burden.

Feedback from public bodies indicates a

need for greater practical support on

implementation.

There is also a significant issue around

terminology and definitions – a variety of

different terms are used, often with

ambiguity over their meanings and their

application, such as consistency with

implementing collaboration and

understanding social value, with general

lack of coordination and connection back

to the Act.

This results in a lack of clarity for

procurement practitioners on how these

different initiatives are connected. This lack

of coordination has been highlighted at

procurement forums by professionals

unable to see how the outcomes are

meaningful or impactful. In the absence of

Welsh Government providing clarity and

join-up between these activities,

procurement professionals are having to

communicate the connections between,

and the outcomes of, these different

initiatives.

This complex landscape is also

perpetuating the competing priorities

procurement teams are already managing,

and the lack of guidance leaves public

bodies unsure about which actions to

prioritise. An example of this is that during

the Section 20 Review discussion with one

public body, they outlined clear

decarbonisation aspirations but did not

know how to prioritise this with limited

resources.

Procuring in a Climate Emergency

Work undertaken by Natural Resources

Wales and the NHS Wales Shared Services

Partnership to calculate the carbon

footprint of their activities has shown that

procurement contributes nearly 60% and

49% respectively of their overall emissions,

greater than emissions created by energy

use in buildings and transport.  The Welsh

Government has set an ambition for the

public sector to be carbon neutral by 2030,

which is commendable, and the latest UK

Committee on Climate Change advice has

suggested ambitious emission reduction

targets for Wales to be Net Zero by 2050.

However, it is not clear how procurement is

currently being used to meet our climate

change targets. Although Welsh

Government has recently developed

guidance for the public sector on

decarbonisation as a helpful resource - a

Decarbonisation Dashboard Procurement

Advice Note which enables public bodies

to analyse the carbon intensity of their

expenditure - it adds to the plethora of

existing guidance and if not integrated with

other requirements can be seen as an

additional burden.

The 21st-century schools programme

provides an opportunity for public bodies

to deliver outcomes linked to the Act.

Through our research, we have seen

evidence from some public bodies

delivering outcomes aligned to the Act,

such as low/zero carbon schools. One local

authority shared a case study on the

construction of a school commissioned for

£7 million, with a requirement for this

project to achieve Passivhaus certification. 

www.futuregenerations.wales
19Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 36

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/procurement-advice-note-on-decarbonisation.pdf


They provided evidence that they have

considered each of the five ways of working

and an explanation for how the project is

meeting ten out of their 15 well-being

objectives (including looking after the

environment now and for the future,

promoting Welsh language and culture and

helping children live healthy lifestyles). I also

welcome £5m of capital funding in the

2021-22 draft budget to take forward a

Carbon Zero Pilot Project to decarbonise

schools and colleges in Wales. Llancarfan

Primary School in the Vale of Glamorgan, will

be completed later this year and will be

Wales’ first Net Zero Carbon School.

However, this good practice isn’t happening

consistently, and we are still seeing disparity

in the approach being taken by public

bodies.  Feedback from the construction

sector has highlighted projects, including

new schools, that are not seeking

opportunities to contribute to all national

well-being goals. Welsh Government needs

to provide a clear commitment, through their

Mutual Investment Model and other

significant infrastructure programmes, to

ensure that all publicly funded buildings will

be zero carbon in future and maximise their

contribution to all seven well-being goals,

rather than just considering energy use or

community benefits, and ensure that the

‘pilot’ being supported becomes normal

practice across Wales.

Case Study: Collaborative Project to

Develop a Warrantied Design System

for the Delivery of Zero Carbon

Homes from Timber, at Scale

At its second meeting on the 2nd

October 2020, members of the

Council Housing Development Forum

Wales, gave their backing for a

collaborative working proposal to

commence work on the development

of a pattern book of zero carbon

timber frame house designs and work

together to establish a procurement

club to purchase the homes direct

from manufacturers. The Innovation

Partnership project requires that 11

participating local authorities

advertise and let a contract to

develop the system with designers

and manufacturers. Following the

conclusion of the Innovation

Partnership, the Councils will let a

contract to deliver the zero carbon

homes for a period of five years. It is

recommended that a five-year

contract is let to provide suppliers

with order book certainty, enabling

them to invest in new plant and

equipment generating economies of

scale, which should enable the price

of the homes to reduce over the

lifetime of the contract.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

Welsh Government should review all guidance and toolkits that are currently in place to

support sustainable procurement and measure/monitor community benefits and/or

social value, and publish a clear plan outlining how these will be revised and

consolidated to enable a consistent approach for public bodies to report on the well-

being outcomes being achieved. 

In order to meet carbon emission targets, every public body should set out how they

have considered the carbon impact of their procurement decisions and in the case of

construction or infrastructure contracts should require schemes to be net zero carbon

over their lifetime.

www.futuregenerations.wales
20Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 37



The issue: Opportunities for making

spend work harder are being

missed due to lack of support for

the procurement profession and

lack of accountability at a

leadership level.

The current situation: Procuring sustainably

throughout the public sector in Wales

requires leadership support: senior

champions who will set a strategic vision,

commit to effecting change, take

ownership over targets and drive good

practice throughout their organisations.

The Act provides an opportunity to deliver

innovative procurement; procurement that

is focused on long-term value and

achieving better outcomes for Wales.

Evidence that this is happening is patchy,

and there is no structure or mechanism in

place to monitor or report on the outcomes

that are being achieved from the £6.3

billion spend.

including the recommendations outlined in

this report.

One public body stated that “as ‘stewards

of money,’ cost must be the factor that

drives procurement outcomes.” Some

public bodies perceive that it is cheaper to

procure goods outside of Wales and

justifying the additional spend of local

sourcing is not an option. However, there is

evidence of other public bodies being

willing to prioritise spending in the local

economy as it results in wider benefits. The

focus on short-term cost and ‘value for

money’ as opposed to wider benefits that

could be achieved limits opportunities for

public money to contribute towards Wales’

seven well-being goals illustrating that

without support from senior leadership,

procurement cannot be realised as a lever

that delivers best outcomes for current and

future generations.

Getting buy in from senior organisational

leadership is noted as challenging due to

'so many other competing priorities' and

'budgeting issues.' This situation is

compounded by the initial reactive and

fragmented response to the Covid-19 crisis

and the impending Brexit transition. During

one interview, a Director of Finance

commented that their priority is to add

value from a governance and audit

perspective, with a focus on delivering

‘value for money,’ rather than sustainability,

further stating “it is the role of the

procurement team to manage relationships

and carry out groundwork.” Without the

Act being recognised as a strategic issue,

and prioritised, at a senior level within

public bodies and in Welsh Government,

any initiatives to fully embed the Act in

procurement activities will be unsuccessful, 

www.futuregenerations.wales
21Procuring well-being in Wales

The Review has also shown that examples

that demonstrate procurement’s

contribution to each of Wales’ seven well-

being goals, are rarely widely shared.

Equally, not enough of these examples

exist that focus on delivering the best

outcomes across all four dimensions of

well-being (economic, social,

environmental, and cultural) because

achieving ‘value for money’ or the ‘most

economically advantageous tender’ is often

prioritised. However, some organisations

have progressed the 'Community benefits'

agenda and we are beginning to see

examples of contracts placing greater

emphasis on social value through the

application of the new Themes, Outcomes

and Measures (TOMs) framework. There

needs to be further senior leadership

support that empowers the procurement

profession to drive and share good

practice. 

Page 38

https://www.wlga.wales/national-toms-for-wales-regional-stakeholder-consultation-survey


The Procurement Centre of Excellence

should review and reform structures

for national accountability and

establish an appropriate mechanism

to scrutinise progress on

implementation. Welsh Government

should report annually on how overall

national public spend is contributing

to the national well-being goals.  

In addition, their annual report (on

progress with the Act) should clearly

set out how all of their own

procurement spend, and grant spend,

is contributing to meeting their well-

being objectives, and in turn the seven

national well-being goals.

During discussions with public bodies a

barrier to implementing the Act that was

consistently identified was the numerous

reporting tools used, with little feedback

from Welsh Government about the

outcomes that are delivered as a result.

One example of this is the Community

Benefits toolkit (first published in 2011 and

currently on its ninth iteration), which is

designed to help public sector bodies in

Wales to identify community benefit

objectives that can be delivered as part of

their contracts, and to show how these

economic and social outcomes support

delivery of the Act. Public bodies submit

this information to Welsh Government but

do not receive any feedback; “it goes into a

black hole”.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

The issue: There is no ongoing

monitoring of procurement

approaches or outcomes either for

the purposes of spotting where

things are going wrong, and

opportunities are being missed, or

for identifying and sharing best

practice.

The current situation: Public bodies are no

longer gaining the necessary support from

Welsh Government required to maximise

opportunities to deliver community

benefits, social value and wider

procurement outcomes that support the

ambitions within the Act.

www.futuregenerations.wales
22Procuring well-being in Wales

They expressed frustration at the lack of

feedback as it meant that potential missed

opportunities to deliver community

benefits, as well as examples of good

practice, are not being shared. The

interview with Welsh Government civil

servants highlighted that they do not have

the resources or capacity to monitor and

assess the steps public bodies are taking

to deliver community benefits using the

toolkit, or indeed any other steps they are

taking to embed the Act.

iStockphoto

Page 39

https://gov.wales/procurement-community-benefits-measurement-tool-v9


As already highlighted Welsh Government

has, over many years, supported many

initiatives designed to support the delivery

of sustainable and progressive

procurement (Community Wealth Building,

Foundational Economy, and TOMs led by

the Welsh Local Government Association)

however the range of reporting tools

available to capture procurement

outcomes, combined with the lack of

feedback on their application from Welsh

Government and a lack of opportunity to

share and learn, has resulted in an

inconsistent approach to applying the Act

and also uncertainty of what good practice

looks like. All public bodies that

participated in the Section 20 Review

highlighted a need for a mechanism to

share real-life examples and lessons

learned when taking steps to consider the

requirements of the Act during

commissioning, procurement, and contract

management.

Procurement professionals also felt a

reticence in sharing lessons learned from

ineffective attempts to embed the Act in

the procurement process with

procurement networks and/or forums. One

such example is where two public bodies

wanted to procure drinking fountains in

public spaces, as an example of what is

possible when procuring in collaboration,

considering outcomes through the lens of

the Act. However, there were

insurmountable legal obstacles, preventing

the procurement from going ahead. This

example emphasises how difficult it can be

to achieve long-term positive outcomes

when all departments involved with the

procurement process have not adopted a

'can do mindset'. Innovative approaches to

embed the Act should be commended,

public bodies should be encouraged to

take risks, and further support needs to be

provided by Welsh Government to

maximise opportunities to deliver

community benefits, social value and wider

benefits that align with the Act.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

The Procurement Centre of Excellence should develop a mechanism or tool to assist

public bodies to monitor and report consistently on the Act (possibly building on the

work being done on social value and the new TOMS framework) demonstrating how

their procurement spend is meeting the well-being goals and objectives. 

Welsh Government should monitor progress by public bodies in Wales. This must be

reported within the annual reports on delivery of their well-being objectives for both

Welsh Government, in respect of the overall outcomes being delivered across Wales,

and by individual public bodies.

www.futuregenerations.wales
23Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 40



Public Body Findings3.3.

Whilst the issues identified in the above

section focusses on Welsh Government,

many are also relevant to public bodies

including the need for a strategic approach

with senior leadership support and

commitment that recognises the role

procurement can play in supporting the

achievement of wider outcomes. We

acknowledge that the issues identified at a

national level do not always make it easy

for public bodies to procure in line with the

Act, however each public body has a role

to play in identifying and delivering these

wider outcomes to ensure that their

procurement spend contributes to the

achievement of their well-being objectives

and the seven national well-being goals.

Perception of procurement – the lack

of acknowledgement from

organisational leadership, as well as

other departments, of the strategic role

the procurement process has in taking

steps to meet the requirements of the

Act present numerous barriers. This

means that procuring goods and

services more sustainably becomes

harder and more time consuming.

in line with the Act, when public bodies

have limited capacity and / or where

procurement and commissioning do

not collaborate effectively.   

The issues that are specific to

public bodies:

Data analysis – access to accurate and

timely data is challenging in

organisations where resource and

analytical skills are constrained. Internal

communication is also reported as a

key factor here.  

Training for non-procurement staff -

some of the richer interview

discussions were with public bodies

that involved other departments wider

than just procurement. In some public

bodies, resources were so limited that

having a standalone procurement

function is not feasible. 

Tension between process and

outcomes – it is challenging for

procurement professionals to focus on

delivering long-term positive outcomes,

As well as an array of uncoordinated Welsh

Government initiatives, there is also

currently an agreed lack of clarity on the

following areas which add to the complex

landscape procurement teams are trying to

navigate.  

The issue: Opportunities to deliver

on all four dimensions of well-being

are not being maximised, often due

to lack of leadership and strategic

approach that recognises the

‘power of purchase’.

All public bodies evidenced some steps

being taken to consider economic,

environmental, social, or cultural well-being.

Most public bodies who actively embed the

principles of the Act focus on delivering

the well-being goals and only one public

body focused on maximising their

contribution through applying the ways of

working.

The interview discussions revealed

examples where public bodies are taking

steps to consider the Act in procurement

decisions, and others where embedding

the Act has plateaued due to the Covid-19

crisis period, lack of understanding, feeling

overwhelmed, resource constraints and

general lack of central support.

www.futuregenerations.wales
24Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 41



Many public bodies were able to show how

they had considered issues such as waste

reduction, carbon emissions and local

employment, but few public bodies

recognised the importance of close

alignment with their own individual well-

being objectives. Hardly any of the public

bodies that participated in the Section 20

Review were able to explain how their

approach to procurement was helping

them to meet wider long-term objectives,

for example how they might procure a

particular product which has less carbon

impact, supports the growth of jobs and

skills in the local economy which in turn

supports objectives around tackling

poverty and improving health. Nor were any

able to show how they had involved

citizens in the process.

There still needs to be further work across

the public bodies in fully embedding all

elements of the Act and aligning their

procurement outcomes with their

organisational well-being objectives.

For example, one public body

demonstrated they are taking steps to

meet the spirit of the Act, through sharing

what they consider ‘quick wins’ including

the procurement of compostable cutlery

and cups. Whilst the steps they are taking

to promote sustainability are welcome, they

also need to be showing how they have

considered procuring in a way which helps

them to deliver their well-being objective to

be “an exemplar organisation driving a

culture that promotes well-being, equality,

and sustainability”. This finding indicates

there may be missed opportunities to drive

progress on achieving organisational

objectives through procurement decisions.

Case Study – Caerphilly Council

As an example of good practice,

Caerphilly County Borough Council

has published their ‘Programme for

Procurement 2018-2023' which

clearly outlines the steps they have

taken, and plan to take, to achieve

each of their 17 strategic goals. The

strategy demonstrates clear

consideration for each of the four

dimensions of well-being, along with

an understanding of how success will

be measured, as shown below. Each

strategic goal is accompanied by the

steps already taken towards achieving

it, what success looks like, how this

will be achieved and a timescale for

when it will be achieved. There is also

an acknowledgement that progress

will be measured through their service

improvement plan.

Case Study – Cardiff Council

Based on the Act, and other policy

drivers, Cardiff Council outlines their

six procurement priorities and how

they will be delivered through their

Socially Responsible Procurement

Policy, illustrating the important role

of procurement in supporting how a

public body can take steps to meet

the requirements of the Act. An

example of this is their priority “to

protect the environment, minimise

waste, reduce energy consumption

and use other resources efficiently”

supporting their well-being objective

“Cardiff Grows in a Resilient Way”.

www.futuregenerations.wales
25Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 42

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Procurement/Programme-for-Procurement-2018-2023.aspx%22%20/
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Business/Tenders-commissioning-and-procurement/Policies-procedures-and-guidance/Documents/SOCIALLY%20RESPONSIBLE%20PROCUREMENT%20POLICY%20Eng%2017.4.2018.pdf


Many Health Boards use the ‘Well-being of Future Generations Act Checklist,’ developed by

the NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership and evidenced within the ‘Procurement Services

case study template’, to demonstrate which of Wales’ seven well-being goals and sometimes

the five ways of working they consider relevant.

This example of how the ‘Well-being of Future Generations Act checklist’ has been applied,

shows that five of Wales’ seven well-being goals and all the five ways of working are

considered relevant to this project. This illustrates consideration for how procurement

outcomes can deliver some aspects of the Act which is positive, however the implementation

of the Act is not being considered holistically as each element of the Act is being considered

in isolation.

Case Study – Caerphilly Council (continued) 

Also, the checklist does not provide space to explain how the goals are being considered and

there is no consideration of the organisational well-being objectives or the four dimensions of

well-being (cultural, economic, environmental, and social). Senior leadership should be

considering how opportunities to deliver all elements of the Act are considered through

procurement activities, utilising the Commissioner’s existing tools and guidance to support

this.

www.futuregenerations.wales
26Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 43



Senior leadership should review their

procurement approach and activities

to identify opportunities to maximise

the social, economic, environmental

and cultural impact of spending

decisions, setting clear steps that

show how procurement is supporting

the delivery of their organisational

well-being objectives.

In 2019, Cardiff and Vale University Health

Board were the first Health Board to

announce a climate emergency and have

taken measures to introduce sustainable

operating theatres. This highlights how

procurement can be used to support the

delivery of their strategic outcomes and

supports the delivery of their well-being

objective to ‘reduce harm, waste and

variation sustainably, making best use of

the resources available to us’.

Clearly align financial planning and

decisions across the seven corporate

areas of change to the achievement of

their well-being objectives. The vision

provided by  well-being objectives

should provide a longer-term plan of

funding and corporate plans/well-being

statements should set out how

spending plans will seek to finance 

their steps.  

The Commissioner has already given

advice to public bodies (Chapter 2, Future

Generations 2020 report), as set out below: 

Provide evidence in their well-being

statements/plans/corporate plans and

annual reports on how applying the Act

to the corporate areas of change is

informing the steps they are taking

to maximise their contribution to the

goals.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

www.futuregenerations.wales
27Procuring well-being in Wales

The issue: The “procurement

system” is too often leading to a

focus on process and short-term

cost rather than delivering wider

outcomes over the long-term, and

there is no consistent way of

measuring the outcomes that can

be achieved in line with the Act.

There needs to be a shift to

considering long term costs

holistically, in line with the Act.

Although the procurement process has

improved considerably over the last

decade, there is still too much focus on

process and not outcomes. The Act

requires public bodies to focus on

procuring well-being with a greater focus

on outcomes and measuring what matters.

Another key barrier to sustainable

procurement has been that it can cost

more at least in the short-term, especially

when whole-life costing is not considered,

even if it does offer long-term savings and

wider ‘value’.

Generating community benefits is a long-

established concept in the Welsh

procurement landscape; an innovative

approach when launched that has

supported public sector bodies to consider

additional economic and social benefits

that can be achieved when tendering large

contracts. Throughout the research and

formal Section 20 Review, public bodies

have shared examples of how they are

delivering community benefits through

procurement. Public sector organisations,

particularly within the housing sector, use

the Community Benefits Toolkit to report

economic and social outcomes. These

outcomes are reported to Welsh

Government but the impact of these is

often slow to be analysed and is not shared

or reported more widely.

Page 44



In June 2019, Denbighshire County

Council established a Community

Benefits Hub, designed to provide

support and enabling council services

to include community benefits in

contracts at the earliest opportunity.

There is a clear understanding by the

Local Authority on how using an

outcomes approach to procurement

contributes towards their corporate

objectives and priorities: i.e., young

people, connected communities,

environment, and resilient

communities. This is a positive example

of developing a suitable platform for

sharing knowledge and best practice.

Case Study – Denbighshire County

Council

The community benefits approach has

achieved positive outcomes over many

years; however the landscape has

changed, and the Act now requires public

bodies to move beyond community

benefits, which have particularly focused

on delivering outcomes that contribute to A

Prosperous Wales, A Healthier Wales and A

More Equal Wales, and less on areas such

as nature and decarbonisation. The

Community Benefits Toolkit does not

clearly include consideration of the four

dimensions of well-being (cultural,

economic, social and environmental),

organisational well-being objectives, or the

application of the five ways of working. The

Act requires us to move to spending more

strategically to meet a wide set of

organisational well-being objectives and in

turn the long-term well-being goals for

Wales.

www.futuregenerations.wales
28Procuring well-being in Wales

Flintshire County Council has

developed a Social Value Strategy,

Social Value Procurement Policy and

appointed a Social Value Officer to

help them take steps to achieve

strategic objectives outlined in their

well-being Plan, and embed well-being

and wider social value into

commissioning and procurement. Their

approach is summarised by stating

that “Social value looks beyond the

financial cost of a service and

considers what wider additional

benefits to the community can be

generated. Implementing the Social

Value Strategy will be a key element in

delivering the Well-being of Future

Generations Act and enable the

Council and partners to create new

resources for priority work streams”.

This is an encouraging step which

should assist the Council to better

meet their objectives although, both in

this case and in the development of

the ‘Social Measurement Framework

for Wales’, there are opportunities to

further reinforce links to the Act by

using the language of well-being and

sustainability rather than ‘social value’

which could be construed as relating

predominantly to ‘social well-being’

rather than embedding social,

economic, environmental and cultural

well-being as the Act requires.

Case Study – Flintshire County Council

Page 45

https://committeemeetings.flintshire.gov.uk/documents/s53175/Social%20Value%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0
https://committeemeetings.flintshire.gov.uk/documents/s53175/Social%20Value%20Strategy.pdf?LLL=0


In their efforts to do this and consider

wider social value, focusing on contribution

to all the well-being goals, the interviews

with many public bodies revealed that

commissioning and procurement teams are

moving away from the community benefits

approach. 

This builds on the work that has been led

by the Welsh Local Government

Association (WLGA) over the last 15

months, working with local authorities to

develop a new social value measurement

framework for Wales. The Welsh National

Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMs),

led by the WLGA was launched in

November 2020 and provides

organisations with a social value

measurement and management framework

which is aligned to the seven national  well-

being goals and allows them to consider

how their procurement decisions also

contribute to their own well-being

objectives.

We welcome the development of a

framework that takes a more holistic

approach to measuring social value and

well-being, aligned to the Act. It is not

however currently clear whether this

approach should be, or will be, adopted

consistently across Wales and there is

currently a lack of national guidance on

this. Any framework that is put in place will

need to ensure sufficient resource and

skills for managing contracts to ensure that

efforts to embed the Act into procurement

is followed through and measured; many

public bodies expressed concern that this

currently is not the case.

Welsh Government reported that they are

focused on achieving consistency with

measuring social value and the Act,

however, there remains no mechanism in

place to do this, and no consistent

approach for clearly monitoring and

reporting how procurement spend is

meeting public body well-being objectives

or the seven well-being goals.

www.futuregenerations.wales
29Procuring well-being in Wales

This requires long-term cultural change

across public bodies. Most interview

participants (procurement professionals,

finance, and respective team members)

emphasised the need for, and a desire to,

work towards achieving this cultural

change to deliver wider social value and

outcomes aligned to the Act.

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

This should be reported within the

annual reports on delivery of their

well-being objectives.  

In order to avoid confusion of

language, and link clearly to the

statutory requirements of the Act, the

terminology should be revised to

mirror the language of the Act.

Once a mechanism or tool is developed

and adopted by Welsh Government (as

recommended above), each public body

should be using it to clearly monitor and

report on its activities, both in individual

procurement exercises and overall, how

their procurement spend is meeting their

well-being goals and objectives.   

Page 46



Opportunities for sharing information

and learning are limited and don’t

involve a wide cross-section of

organisations or partners

Examples of innovation and good

practice are not shared, or encouraged

to be adopted, as widely as they could.

Collaborative arrangements seem to be in

flux since the changes announced to the

NPS (in 2018). This lack of coordinated and

practical support for collaboration means

that: 

The issue: There is no mechanism

for promoting effective collaboration

for public bodies, particularly cross-

sector to improve sharing, learning,

capacity and skills.

Evidence from public bodies shows that there

are many frustrated champions, who believe in

the wider power of procurement working to

deliver positive procurement outcomes, often 

www.futuregenerations.wales
30Procuring well-being in Wales

There are some structures for peer-to-peer

support, collaboration and learning across

Wales, such as the local government Heads

of Procurement network, Welsh

Government Sponsored Bodies

Procurement group and NHS Wales Shared

Services forum, but they lack national

coordination and support especially to

facilitate collaboration across different

sectors, e.g. local government and health.

Representatives from the public bodies,

who participated in the Section 20 Review,

consistently acknowledged there needs to

be better alignment and opportunities for

communication and closer collaboration

across the Welsh public sector. This builds

on the phase 1 research findings published

in the ‘Spotlight on Procurement’ chapter

of the Future Generations Report 2020.

However, lessons from these outcomes are

not always being applied throughout

frameworks and collaborative procurement,

leading to a gap between the potential and

actual outcomes being achieved.

There was a consensus that

communication and agreement between

Welsh Government Ministers and

commissioning on high level priorities is

key. For example, if austerity drives the

need for ‘lowest cost’ as a priority this will

restrict the ability (and mindset) to source

locally and more sustainably and consider

more innovative approaches. When there is

a clear motivation for more local sourcing

and sustainable outcomes it forces the

organisation, not just the procurement

profession, to think differently about the

end-to-end procurement process. In other

words, the extent to which the Welsh

Government sets the narrative and shows

leadership from Ministers, to the individual

actions of departmental officials in this

area, is critically important. It is not clear

how this is communicated, understood or

monitored consistently across Welsh

Government and there are examples of

where direction from Welsh Government

has been counterproductive in

encouraging other public bodies to take

steps towards sustainable procurement.

There is a wide perception that

communication on decision-making

between UK Government and the Welsh

public sector is poor. For example, there

remains uncertainty over major political

milestones such as Brexit and Wylfa

leaving little time to budget and plan

appropriately - these require significant

investment and upfront planning which

affects spend categories such as schools,

housing, infrastructure, and food.

without wider organisational or leadership

support.

Page 47



Some participants felt that further funding

is required to implement “FG requirements”

– i.e, a ‘sustainability budget’. Some public

bodies felt they struggle to identify where

opportunities to consider the Act are

missed and do not know which type of

resources are needed to support this (this

was similar to a finding noted in the

research phase published in the Future

Generations Report 2020

recommendations).

However, whilst I agree that there needs to

be a clear and consistent narrative from

Welsh Government which emphasises the

new requirements to consider long-term

‘well-being spend,’ alongside appropriate

recognition of this in funding allocations

and requirements that are placed on public

bodies, I do not agree that the answer is

sustainability budgets. What is required is

longer-term cultural change towards well-

being budgeting rather than short-term

one-off allocations which have the result of

working against a fundamental shift in

attitudes towards how we spend public

money in Wales.

www.futuregenerations.wales
31Procuring well-being in Wales

Case Study – Powys County Council

Over the last 3 years, the Home Grown

Homes project, led by Powys County

Council has worked to identify and test

interventions that, if applied, could

have a transformative impact on the

Welsh timber construction supply

chain in particular, and on the delivery

of low carbon social housing in general.

The project is funded by Welsh

Government and the EU Rural

Development Programme and

delivered by Wood Knowledge Wales

with Cardiff Metropolitan University,

Coed Cymru and BM TRADA. The

project report states that “now is the

time for implementation at scale and in

a manner that addresses the economic

shock of Covid-19 to deliver

meaningful green manufacturing,

construction and forestry jobs together

with Net Zero Housing at scale and

supplied from Welsh manufacturing

and forest industries.”

Throughout the interviews with public

bodies there have been some good

examples of innovative thinking and how

collaborative procurement has helped to

combat the pressures with individual

budget constraints and further

demonstrate consideration for the Act.

To take steps to meet the requirements of

the Act, procurement teams have been

working collaboratively with other

departments, sectors, and organisations

across regions. For example:

Wrexham County Borough Council are

currently collaborating with Glyndwr

University on systems leadership to

improve the joining-up between

services, resulting in a ‘can do mindset’

being established. However, during

discussions, the local authority

expressed that the Act is sometimes

perceived as an additional ‘statutory

thing’ rather than a strategic

framework to achieve cultural change.

Case Study – Wrexham County

Borough Council

Page 48



Implement a shared, skilled and excellent corporate procurement service that

ensures the required support for the two organisations and individual services in

delivering corporate and service objectives and efficiency targets; 

Maximise procurement savings for the benefit of the residents and businesses of

Denbighshire and Flintshire; 

Develop professional capacity and resilience to create a top performing

procurement team, delivering organisational benefit and personal professional

development for the team.

Flintshire County Council and Denbighshire County Council have a long-standing

collaborative procurement service. Representatives from Flintshire County Council

explained that this was originally established due to procurement roles not being filled

in either Local Authorities, and the organisations collaborated to deliver their joint

vision which is to: 

The discussion with Flintshire County Council highlighted that the agreement

promotes a ‘Can Do mindset’ due to the scope of activities included in (day-to-day

management, policy, advice, compliance and liaison). But maintaining the relationship

is not without challenges, primarily due to the different priorities in each Local

Authority. This collaborative working is to be commended but trying to align the two

organisations’ priorities may result in missed opportunities for procurement outcomes

to contribute to their individual organisational well-being objectives.

Case Study – Flintshire County Council and Denbighshire County Council

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board

has developed a good example of long-

term planning, effective communication and

sustainable sourcing - a Memorandum of

Understanding (MoU) has been organised

through the Public Service Boards to help

formalise relationships between the Health

Board and the third sector. One such

initiative taken to implement this MoU

specific to procurement, to protect and

grow the £7 million annual spend on

contracts in the third sector, was to provide

training for third sector organisations on the

Light Touch Regime in procurement. The

Health Board currently has 35 contracts in

place with third sector organisations, over

four years, which has led to creating new

jobs and expansion of welsh suppliers to

support their service provision.

Case Study – Cardiff and Vale University

Health Board

www.futuregenerations.wales
32Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 49

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/documents/business/selling-to-the-council/procurement-and-commissioning-strategy.pdf


The Adaption Lab - supporting

officers to design and deliver

experiments that test potentially

scalable solutions to regionwide

problems. 

The Procurement Lab – supporting

officers to learn, develop and test

new processes and methods for

procuring innovative products and

services that produce better

outcomes for people who use and

deliver services against the two

thematic areas. 

The Data Lab – supporting officers

to better collect, manage, analyse,

understand and make more

effective use of data in decision

making.

InFuSe is a research led collaboration

between Cardiff Capital Region (with

Monmouthshire leading), Y Lab (Nesta)

and Cardiff University. The Wales

European Funding Office project aims

to help public sector workers develop

skills that can better support

communities and accelerate

decarbonisation in the Cardiff Capital

Region. The programme will target new

capacity for innovation around

experimentation, better use of data for

decision-making, and targeted

procurement to solve shared regional

challenges, primarily across the

region's ten local authorities. The three

core workstreams for the programme

are:

Case Study – InFuSe – Innovation of

Future Public Services

The Procurement Centre of

Excellence established by Welsh

Government will act as a central

portal to support cross-sector

collaboration and implementation. In

collaboration with others Welsh

Government should review existing

groups and networks to better

coordinate activity across local

government, health, PSBs and

regions, along with the third sector

and private sector. 

Public Services Boards should

prioritise how they can collaborate

and use spend to maximise social

value, contribute to their well-being

objectives, and improve well-being on

a local level.

These examples highlight the need to involve

other departments, organisations, sectors and

suppliers at a pre-procurement stage to deliver

outcomes that maximise contribution to

organisational well-being objectives, and the

seven well-being goals through applying the

five ways of working.

www.futuregenerations.wales
33Procuring well-being in Wales

The Commissioner’s Recommendations:

Wiki Commons

Page 50



There is no doubt that the impact of Covid-

19 has been significant on all public bodies

and led to both positive and negative

developments in procurement. Whilst there

have been some examples of innovation and

good practice, linked specifically to

procuring during the pandemic, as a whole

the steps public bodies are taking to meet

the requirements of the Act has plateaued

during the Covid-19 crisis period often due

to ongoing challenges being exacerbated.

Generally, this has been due to reduced

capacity, lack of understanding, resource

challenges and constraints, and a general

lack of central support, the latter being

consider essential by participants when

considering the recovery phase.

The Impact of Covid-
19 – Challenges and
Opportunities

3.4.

Some of the main issues and challenges

reported by public bodies during

discussions were:

Resource and capacity have become even

more of an issue during the crisis period

affecting procurement and especially

contract management and capacity to

ensure the procurement process and

contract management system captures all

potential areas of social value.

meant that 10 from a team of 16 employees

were diverted from daily tasks. This has

meant that some [innovative] projects have

been paused and, in some cases the

additional burden on staff to manage both

normal daily activity and Covid-19 related

activity means that significant pressures

have been placed on staff – with a fear of

‘burn out’.

The urgent need to re-think approaches to

procurement to centralise and urgently scale

up the supply of products and services

required for Covid-19 sometimes meant that

internal communication and consultation has

been impacted. This has slowed down some

procurement and shortened procurement

pipelines, leaving less time for suppliers to

prepare.

Time pressured procurement

Resource and Capacity Challenges

COVID-19 Challenges

www.futuregenerations.wales
34Procuring well-being in Wales

Some public bodies reported high levels of

staff on sick leave during this period and

smaller public organisations appear to have

faced greater negative impact due to the

proportion of resource taken away from the

day job when responding to the Covid-19

crisis. For example, one local authority

reported that responding to Covid-19, 

Public bodies reported that the urgency for

supply and some relaxation of some

procurement regulation meant that they

were better able to prioritise local spend and

support local communities, while others

struggled with establishing supply chain

voids and knowing how to reach out the

local market quickly. This varied dependent

on the type of product or service being

procured. This point also relates back to the

issue on capacity and resource.

Public bodies with lower spend and high-

level uncertainty (power to purchase) found

that they do not offer sufficient investment

to convince suppliers to have a strategic

change of direction, i.e, they were not able to

offer suppliers a higher sense of longer-term

security.

Page 51



During the Covid-19 pandemic, the

National Library of Wales decided to cancel

the procurement of a £4million project to

build a storage facility as part of the

national broadcasting archive. The funding

for this is being invested in things that

deliver community engagement with

culture and heritage through digitalisation.

This approach has been welcomed by the

Heritage Lottery and contributes to their

well-being objective to "deliver new ways

of interpreting our collections to a wide

range of audiences". In addition, this

procurement outcome reflects the

changing needs of Welsh citizens in

response to Covid-19 where loneliness

during periods of self-isolation has had a

negative impact of people's mental health.

Case Study - National Library of Wales

Some public bodies reported that

procurement spend has been reduced

during the crisis with many new and

innovative projects being put on hold leaving

less opportunity to embed social value. But

there have been examples of good practice

where local suppliers have been deliberately

sourced to provide goods and services

necessary for the crisis period. This is

especially relevant in the procurement of

medical equipment (PPE, hand sanitiser).

Projects Paused

The response to the Covid-19 crisis has

brought contrasting results when it comes to

achieving social value. As a whole,

prioritisation of the Act has reduced during

Covid-19; procurement teams have had to

contend with supply voids, short timescales

and staff sickness. However, there have

been some examples where Section 20

Review participants felt well prepared and

didn’t feel they needed to compromise on

considering well-being objectives or delivery

on the Act.

Embedding well-being and social value

www.futuregenerations.wales
35Procuring well-being in Wales

Although there has been little time, if any, to

capture lessons learned during the crisis, it

is important to consider how we can learn

from the positive action during this period

and take these lessons forward over the

long-term. The Covid-19 learning project has

been underway by Audit Wales' Good

Practice Exchange and the Institute of Welsh

Affairs (IWA) is seeking to learn from this

period. 

Some initial feedback to highlight includes:

COVID-19 Lessons Learned &
Opportunities

Embedding well-being and Social Value

Some participants felt well prepared and did

not feel they needed to compromise on well-

being objectives or delivery on the Act

because of Covid.

Getty Images

Aramyan

Page 52



Discussions with the public bodies during

the Section 20 Review showed that

opportunities for more local sourcing has

meant there has been greater motivation for

public bodies to engage with third sector 

For example, building on the success and

lessons learned from initiatives such as

“Better jobs closer to home”, the

Foundational Economy Challenge Fund has

enabled experiments in the more

challenging aspects of procurement such as

through social care with lessons being

shared through a Community of Practice

(CoP) forum with the aim of developing and

scaling-up similar projects across Wales. 

One important message that has become

clear during the pandemic is the need to

support Welsh small and medium-sized

enterprises to be more resilient, able to scale

up quickly, to diversify and to grow.

Sector Engagement

Strategically Elevating Procurement

There is a widely held view that the

perception of procurement within the

organisation has improved since Covid-19;

procurement has been a critical function in

terms of how public bodies have had to

respond with opportunities to demonstrate

how it can support delivery of key outcomes.

Greater focus on outcomes over process is

illustrated by Velindre NHS Trust who

reported a higher drive towards achieving

more value-based healthcare recognising

the impact of procurement decisions from

the patients' point of view with end users

being more involved in product design.

The pandemic period has demonstrated that

most procurement work can be managed

electronically without the need to travel, with

the same objectives within reach. This could

offer opportunities for a more agile approach

to collaborative procurement that have yet to

be explored.

Workforce Mobility

[Outside of procurement] the crisis has

accelerated the need for public

organisations to better understand ‘what is

value?’. Increased costs of sourcing locally

may represent long-term better value for

money as it is important to weigh up other

factors such as logistics costs, whole life

cost, and to factor in whether a higher cost

product achieves wider or more longer-term

benefits to the local economy. Local

suppliers are also closer to understanding

local needs.

Budget Silos

Dearth in the supply market for PPE and

other emergency products, has meant that

Covid-19 has provided an opportunity for

innovation in procurement with more focus

on outcomes than process.

Accelerating Innovation

www.futuregenerations.wales
36Procuring well-being in Wales

Covid-19 has demonstrated that a lot can be

achieved in a short space of time which has

prompted procurement professionals to

work with others in the organisation to

review how to procure differently, to

understand the impact of the scale and

scope of change when interventions are

possible. Legacy building and understanding

tools and techniques for capturing value is

key going forward; participants quoted

examples (e.g., face coverings) to

understand what can be done when cost is

not a priority driver.

Legacy Building

partners who have historically been

perceived as weaker links around the table.

But since Covid-19, their unique position

and closeness to serving local communities

has changed the dynamic and attitude.

Page 53



One of the first examples in Wales was

the Royal Mint, a producer of coins, who

adapted their manufacturing capabilities

and created a medical visor, gaining

mass production approval within 48

hours. The medical visors are being

supplied to hospitals in Wales. 

Local gin producers Hensol Castle

Distillery adapted their manufacturing

capability in response to Covid-19 and

supplied the health board with hand

sanitiser.

There have been examples of Welsh

manufactures adapting their capabilities to

develop local supply chains for PPE and

other emergency products during the

pandemic.  

Procurement of personal protective

equipment (PPE) 

The Auditor General for Wales stated that

“although the bulk of PPE came from

international suppliers, the Welsh

Government and NHS worked with Welsh

manufacturers to develop local supply

chains. Welsh Government officials told us

that this involved collaborative working

within the Welsh Government, NHS and

Industry Wales through the critical

equipment requirements engineering team

(CERET).” This collaborative approach

during the crisis is welcome and should be

built on over the long-term as we look to

recover from the pandemic.

www.futuregenerations.wales
37Procuring well-being in Wales

innovative outcomes, in a time-pressured

environment, sometimes with reduced

capacity. Looking towards a Covid-19

recovery, it is important for this good

practice is scaled up, reflecting upon the

lessons learned.

COVID-19 Concluding Statement

Due to the pervasive nature of the pandemic,

and the significant role of procurement, it

has been important to understand the

opportunities and challenges experienced

by public bodies when considering the Act

during the procurement process.

Equally, the impact of Covid-19 has drawn

attention to the existing barriers to delivering

procurement outcomes in line with the

requirements of the Act, including an

absence of organisational buy-in, leadership

involvement and engagement (both with the

Act and with procurement), having

insufficient resources and capacity, along

with the challenges navigating what has

become an increasingly complex landscape.

The lessons learned from Covid-19 appear

to have accelerated change with special

attention to working digitally and working

from home leading to greater environmental

benefits. In procurement there has been

improved collaboration horizontally across

public bodies and vertically between public

bodies and the local supply market. It was

noted by some public bodies that while they

are keen to continue with the changes

made, there is a fear that business will revert

to normal pre-covid times.

As we emerge from the pandemic and meet

head on the economic and social fallout, it is

critical that we do not lose sight of the

advancements made and that procurement

continues to develop. There is more of an

imperative than ever for the Welsh

Government to address the barriers to

implementing sustainable procurement, to

ensure that public money is spent in a way

which drives wider benefits towards those

further from the labour market, towards

meeting our decarbonisation targets and

towards the regeneration of communities

worst hit by the crisis.The response to Covid-19 has demonstrated

that procurement can deliver ambitious and

Page 54

https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/coronavirus-royal-mint-visors-frontline-nhs-workers-ppe-a9485256.html
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2020-12/PPE_Letter_English.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/sites/default/files/2020-12/PPE_Letter_English.pdf


RECOMMENDATIONS FOR
WELSH GOVERNMENT04

These Recommendations are designed to promote and sustain positive change, but to have

maximum effect they need to be considered expeditiously. The Recommendations were put

together on the basis they can, and ought to be achieved, within the next 12 months, i.e before

end March 2022.

Issue highlighted:

Welsh Government should establish a Procurement Centre of Excellence for improving

coordination, collaboration and providing practical support to public bodies in the

exercise of their procurement functions, specifically in relation to the Act.

Development of this Centre of Excellence would require a comprehensive review and

reform of the existing procurement landscape (structures, networks, partnerships and

initiatives) and be resourced to build capacity and support implementation.  

The new Programme for Government should clearly set out how Welsh Government

will provide strategic leadership and commitment to supporting and achieving wider

outcomes from procurement, using language that is consistent with the Act.   

Welsh Government’s new Procurement Policy Statement should clearly demonstrate

how it will support public bodies to deliver the aspirations of the Act in public sector

procurement in Wales. This Statement, along with progress to deliver the

commitments, should be reviewed and reported annually.  

Welsh Government should ensure all future national procurement frameworks align

with, and contribute to, the seven national well-being goals and apply the five ways of

working set out in the Act. 

Recommendations to Welsh Government

Welsh Government has failed to show clear joined up leadership on the role

of procurement in delivering Wales’ national well-being goals (and public

bodies well-being objectives).

www.futuregenerations.wales
38Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 55



Further advice on how this could be achieved:

Act as a central portal to coordinate and support cross-sector collaboration and

implementation.

Report outcomes delivered through procurement on a regular basis.

Provide feedback to public bodies on good and bad practice. 

Support and enable shared learning amongst public bodies that drives improvement in

line with the Act.

Provide on the ground practical support for the procurement profession.

Raise the profile of procurement, giving agency and authority to procurement

professionals supported by senior-level commitment.

We would strongly advise that this Centre of Excellence is not developed by civil servants

alone, but should be done in collaboration with the wider procurement community and

external experts, with Ministerial oversight. Welsh Government should involve a holistic

range of organisations who bring knowledge and expertise of each of the national well-

being goals as well as relevant professions. This structure could have oversight from the

Office of the Future Generations Commissioner but as a minimum should have a clear link.

The Centre of Excellence will: 

Welsh Government should establish the Centre and set clear outcomes (in agreement

with others), reporting annually on how these are being delivered.

Welsh Government’s Centre of Digital Service is an example of a ‘mechanism’ designed to

provide guidance, training, standards, collaborative networking and hands-on practical

help to the Welsh public services. A similar approach could be taken for procurement.

The Foundational Economy Challenge Fund, Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES)

work and the development of Welsh National TOMs highlighted in this report are a good

starting point. However, there needs to be better integration and more join up between

these projects, as well as the provision of additional coordinated practical support for

public bodies. 

Welsh Government should provide practical guidance, supporting public bodies using

national and/or regional frameworks to contribute to the seven national well-being goals

and apply the five ways of working set out in the Act.

www.futuregenerations.wales
39Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 56



Issue highlighted:

Welsh Government should review all guidance and toolkits that are currently in place

to support sustainable procurement and measure/monitor community benefits and/or

social value, and publish a clear plan outlining how these will be revised and

consolidated to enable a consistent approach for public bodies to report on the well-

being outcomes being achieved.   

In order to meet carbon emission targets every public body should set out clearly how

they have considered the carbon impact of their procurement decisions and in the

case of construction or infrastructure contracts should clearly require schemes to be

net zero carbon over their lifetime.

Recommendations to Welsh Government

There is poor communication and integration between different Welsh

Government priorities, alongside lack of support available for public bodies

to ensure these are implemented effectively on the ground.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

The forthcoming Social Partnerships Bill will need to ensure that the new procurement

duty placed on public bodies supports them to deliver outcomes that will help them to

achieve their well-being objectives and, in turn, the national well-being goals.

A recent Wales Co-operative Centre report provides a useful summary of how existing

legislation, policy and guidance supports delivery of social value within the social care

sector.

www.futuregenerations.wales
40Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 57

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Social-value-CtoC-Brochure-English-20.11.20.pdf


Issue highlighted:

The Procurement Centre of Excellence should review and reform structures for

national accountability and establish an appropriate mechanism to scrutinise progress

on implementation. Welsh Government should report annually on how overall national

public spend is contributing to the national well-being goals.

In addition, their annual report (on progress with the Act) should clearly set out how all

of their own procurement spend, and grant spend, is contributing to meeting their

well-being objectives, and in turn the seven national well-being goals.

Recommendations to Welsh Government

Opportunities for making spend work harder are being missed due to lack

of support for the procurement profession and lack of accountability at a

leadership level.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

This Centre of Excellence will be connected to key decision-makers including Ministers

and public sector leaders, and supported by external advisers with knowledge and

expertise of each of the national well-being goals as well as relevant professions. The

Centre will have a specific remit to highlight where overall spend across Wales is not

aligning or making slow progress to meeting the well-being goals and directing national

action to address this.

www.futuregenerations.wales
41Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 58



Issue highlighted:

The Procurement Centre of Excellence should develop a mechanism or tool to assist

public bodies to monitor and report consistently on the Act (possibly building on the

work being done on social value and the new TOMS framework) demonstrating how

their procurement spend is meeting the well-being goals and objectives.   

Welsh Government should monitor progress by public bodies in Wales. This must be

reported within the annual reports on delivery of their well-being objectives for both

Welsh Government in respect of the overall outcomes being delivered across Wales

and by individual public bodies.

Recommendations to Welsh Government

There is no ongoing monitoring of procurement approaches or outcomes

either for the purposes of spotting where things are going wrong, and

opportunities are being missed, or for identifying and sharing best practice.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

Welsh Government should commit to providing support to public bodies (specifically the

procurement function) on achieving this.  

This could include establishing a Community of Practice for sharing and learning what

works.

www.futuregenerations.wales
42Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 59



RECOMMENDATIONS FOR
PUBLIC BODIES, INCLUDING
WELSH GOVERNMENT05

Again, these Recommendations are designed with a 12-month (before end March 2022)

timeframe in mind, unless stated otherwise.

Issue highlighted:

Senior leadership should review their procurement approach and activities to identify

opportunities to maximise the social, economic, environmental and cultural impact of

spending decisions, setting clear steps that show how procurement is supporting the

delivery of their organisational well-being objectives.

Recommendations to Public Bodies

Opportunities to deliver on all four dimensions of well-being are not being

maximised, often due to lack of leadership and strategic approach that

recognises the ‘power of purchase’.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

Procurement needs to be ‘at the top table’.  Public bodies should involve departments and

organisations who are involved in, and impacted by, the procurement process when setting

well-being objectives (e.g. commissioning, contract management, suppliers and waste

management). This could lead to public bodies understanding the broader benefits and

steps they can take to improve all aspects of well-being through procurement.

www.futuregenerations.wales
43Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 60



Issue highlighted:

This should be reported within the annual reports on delivery of their well-being

objectives.

In order to avoid confusion of language, and link clearly to the statutory requirements

of the Act, the terminology should be revised to mirror the language of the Act.

Once a mechanism or tool is developed and adopted by Welsh Government (as

recommended above), each public body should be using it to clearly monitor and report

on its activities, both in individual procurement exercises and overall, how their

procurement spend is meeting the well-being goals and objectives.

Recommendations to Public Bodies

The “procurement system” is too often leading to a focus on process and

short-term cost rather than delivering wider outcomes over the long-term,

and there is no consistent way of measuring the outcomes that can be

achieved in line with the Act. There needs to be a shift to considering long

term costs holistically, in line with the Act.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

Chapter 2 in the Future Generations Report 2020 ‘A spotlight on Procurement’

outlines a vision for public section procurement in Wales with recommendations for all

public bodies (including Welsh Government). 

Chapter 4 of the Future Generations Report 2020 focuses on ‘Setting good well-being

objectives’.

Art of the Possible 'journeys’ for each of the seven well-being goals provide guidance

for public bodies on the actions they should be taking. Fair and local procurement is a

theme within a Journey to a Prosperous Wales, and ethical consumption and

procurement is a theme within a Journey to a Globally Responsible Wales. 

As a minimum, all contracts above £1 million (same as Community Benefits Toolkit)

should include an assessment of the outcomes being delivered against the four

dimensions of well-being (cultural, economic, social and environmental) or the seven well-

being goals and their own well-being objectives.   

Public bodies should proactively participate in the Community of Practice for sharing and

learning what works. 

Public bodies should use the resources published by the Future Generations

Commissioner and other organisations.  

www.futuregenerations.wales
44Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 61

https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=procurement
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/english?category=wellbeing
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/FINAL-Prosperous-Wales-Topic-1.pdf
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Global-Responsible-Topic-1.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/resources_posts/


Issue highlighted:

The Procurement Centre of Excellence established by Welsh Government will act as a

central portal to support cross-sector collaboration and implementation. In collaboration

with others Welsh Government should review existing groups and networks to better

coordinate activity across local government, health, PSBs and regions, along with the third

sector and private sector.  

Public Services Boards should prioritise how they can collaborate and use spend to

maximise social value, contribute to their well-being objectives, and improve well-being on

a local level.

Recommendations to Public Bodies

There is no mechanism for promoting effective collaboration for public

bodies, particularly cross-sector to improve sharing, learning, capacity and

skills.

Further advice on how this could be achieved:

Review the impact of existing initiatives and mechanisms (e.g. Knowledge Hub,

Foundational Economy Community of Practice, national and regional networks).

Greater peer-to-peer support to harness good practice and drive change across sectors.

The Centre for Local Economic Strategy (CLES) is currently working with five clusters of

Public Services Boards in Wales to explore opportunities around procurement, local spend

and community wealth building. There should be support to scale this work up across

Wales. 

www.futuregenerations.wales
45Procuring well-being in Wales

Page 62



www.futuregenerations.wales
46Procuring well-being in Wales

The Future Generations Report 2020 - This report sets out the

Commissioner's assessment of progress made in implementing the

Act within the reporting period. 

The Manifesto for the Future - This document aims to amplify the

voices of young people as we approach the Senedd election in

2021. It sets out the key recommendations that the Commissioner

wants to see the next Welsh Government commit to. The

Commissioner has called on all political parties to consider these

recommendations within their manifesto work.

The Wales Centre for Public Policy 'Sustainable Public Procurement'

2019 Report - Outlines how to implement sustainable procurement

practices.

Procurement in the Foundational Economy - This report highlights

the Welsh Government's ambitions for the role of procurement in

Wales, the current role of procurement, and best practice

examples.

Useful resources and tools, which can help you
follow these recommendations:

Page 63

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/resources_posts/the-future-generations-report-2020
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/manifesto-for-the-future/
https://futuregenerations2020.wales/
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/manifesto-for-the-future/
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/190301-SPP-final_Eng-1.pdf
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/190301-SPP-final_Eng-1.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12308/cr-ld12308%20-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12308/cr-ld12308%20-e.pdf


www.futuregenerations.wales
47Procuring well-being in Wales

Supporting Care Commissioners and Procurers to Promote

'Social Value' Models of Delivery - This document is the

outcome of work commissioned from the Wales Co-operative

Centre by the Welsh Government in mid-2019. The intention

was for the work to “influence commissioners and procurers to

promote co-operatives and other social value models”. 

The National TOMs Wales - A framework for social

value measurement and management that allows for an

unlocking of social value through its integration into

procurement and project management. It incorporates

all of the requirements of the Community Benefits

Toolkit and has been designed to allow organisations

to assess their social value contribution to the Well-

being of Future Generations Act.

Wrap Cymru 

National Social Value Taskforce

National Procurement Service

Constructing Excellence in Wales

Natural Resources Wales 

Welsh Local Government Association

Atebion Solutions

Procurement & Supply Chain Knowledge - CIPS

Sustainable Procurement - CIPS

Institute for Collaborative Working

Making Wales a Deforestation Free Nation – Size of

Wales

Useful contacts to support you with following these
recommendations:

Page 64

https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Social-value-CtoC-Brochure-English-20.11.20.pdf
https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Social-value-CtoC-Brochure-English-20.11.20.pdf
https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/national-toms-wales
https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/national-toms-wales
https://wrap.org.uk/
https://wrap.org.uk/
https://www.nationalsocialvaluetaskforce.org/
https://gov.wales/national-procurement-service
https://www.cewales.org.uk/
https://naturalresources.wales/splash?orig=%2f&lang=cy
https://naturalresources.wales/splash?orig=%2f&lang=cy
https://www.wlga.wales/home
https://www.atebionsolutions.co.uk/
https://www.cips.org/knowledge
https://www.cips.org/knowledge/procurement-topics-and-skills/sustainability1/
https://www.cips.org/knowledge/procurement-topics-and-skills/sustainability1
https://instituteforcollaborativeworking.com/
https://sizeofwales.org.uk/education/deforestation-free-nation/


Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Commissioning Form       

This form is to be completed by the commissioning service or department for all procurement 
proposals with a total value above £25,000.  If you are you seeking an exception from Contract 
Procedure Rules or exception from the requirement to tender, you must complete an Exception 
Form. 

Title   PROCUREMENT TEAM USE ONLY 
      

Head of Service:   Officer   
      

Manager:   Priority High/Med/Low  
      

Report Completed by:   Category   
      

Date:   Received DD/MM/YYYY  
      

Total Estimated Value: 

£ 

 Complete by DD/MM/YYYY  
     

  

Est Hrs 
Required 

 
 

 

     

 

Type                                                                                                                          Copy and paste: 

Goods: 

Services: services not subject to the ‘light touch regime’ (i.e. most services) 

Light Touch Regime: certain social, health, education & other services subject to the ‘light-
touch regime’ 

Works: 
  

Does the proposal include Land contracts or the appointment of   
developers?

Yes No
 

No
 

Yes
 

 

No
  

   

 

If Yes, has the Monitoring Officer (Legal) been consulted? Yes No 

If Yes state the Monitoring Officer’s advice.  If No, state why not: 

 
  

Does the proposal include Information & Communication Technology, 
property or works?

Yes No
    

 

If Yes, has the relevant council service been involved? Yes No 

If Yes state the services’ involvement.  If No, state why not: 

 
 

Procurement Level                                                                                       Copy and paste: 

Intermediate Value: £25,000 to OJEU threshold* 

High Value:  above relevant OJEU threshold* 
 

*OJEU limit Goods/ Services: £181,302  *OJEU limit works: £4,551,413   *OJEU limit light touch regime: 

£615,278,concession agreements:£4,551,413
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 67



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

Procurement Process                                             Copy and paste: 
 

Is there a corporate purchasing arrangement or National Procurement 
Service framework or other framework agreement relevant to your 
proposal?   

Yes No 

    

If Yes, state which below: 

 

    

Are you planning to make use of any corporate purchasing arrangement or 
framework agreement identified above? 

If Yes, will the process be direct award or mini competition? 

 
 

Yes  No 

 
 

 

 

   

 

Timescales 

Date Milestone 

DD/MM/YYYY Authorisation of Commissioning Form 

DD/MM/YYYY Final contract terms, specification & evaluation methodology agreed by 
Procurement/Legal 

DD/MM/YYYY Tender advertised 

DD/MM/YYYY Tender closed to responses, start evaluation 

DD/MM/YYYY Evaluation finalised (start of 10 day standstill period) 

DD/MM/YYYY Contract award 

DD/MM/YYYY Contract start 

 
 

Outline 
Briefly describe the proposal 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

     

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 68



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

 
Price / Quality Weighting 

Please state the percentage weightings being given to price and quality in your tender evaluation:- 
 
 

Price   Quality 
 
 

Options                                                                                                                   Copy and paste: 
 

Has a zero cost option been considered?  Yes  No 
 

Has a reduced cost option been considered?  Yes  No 

State whether and why zero and/or reduced cost options have been adopted or discounted: 

 

 
Collaborative Procurement         
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

Has a collaborative procurement with Denbighshire/Flintshire 
County Council been considered?

 Yes  No 

 
 
If yes please give details, if no please state reason: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Cross Service Procurement         
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

Has a procurement across another Council Service been 
considered if there is the same or similar need for the 
works/goods/services?

 Yes  No 

 
 
If yes please give details: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

% % 

Page 69



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

Existing Council Contracts        
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

Is there an existing Council contract that covers the same or 
similar works, goods or services which can be utilised?

 Yes  No 

 
 
If yes please give details: 

 
 
 
 

 
Safeguarding 
 
Safeguarding includes everything a Council can do to keep people safe, including minimising the 
risk of harm and accidents, taking action to tackle safety concerns and ensuring people grow up 
and live in safe circumstances. Safeguarding covers physical, sexual, psychological and financial 
abuse, neglect, modern slavery and radicalisation.  
 
Does the works, goods or services include any elements that raise safeguarding concerns or 
requirements?      
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

  Yes  No 

 
If yes please give details: 

 
 
 
 

 
Data Protection 
 
Does the works, goods or services include any elements that involve the processing or sharing of 
personal data of living individuals?      
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

  Yes  No 

 
If yes please give details: 

 
 
 
 

 

If Yes, has the Information Governance Team been consulted? Yes No 

If No, state why not: 

 

Page 70



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

 
 
Grant Funding 
 
Is grant funding being used in whole or in part to fund the procurement?    
  
                                                                                                                                Copy and paste: 


 

  Yes  No 

 
 
If yes please give details and please state whether there is a grant agreement: 

 
 
 
 

 
Procurement Checklist                                                                             Copy and paste: 



 

Has a Sustainability / Wellbeing Impact Assessment been 
completed? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you identified and mitigated any potential conflicts of 
interest? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you conducted market dialogue, research, analysis? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you consulted stakeholders, partners and/or end users? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you consulted the Insurance and Risk Manager on 
potential insurance issues? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you instructed the legal team to develop contract terms? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you sought advice on safeguarding issues? Yes  No N/A 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Have you sought advice on any TUPE, IPR or other legal 
issues? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you determined contract management & information 
requirements? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you determined whether to use lots (e.g. to encourage 
SMEs)? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

       

 

Could you reserve the contract for public mutuals or social 
enterprises? 

Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you drafted the tender specification? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you developed evaluation criteria & scoring methodology? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

Have you identified the scorers/evaluators? Yes  No N/A 
      

 

       

 

Yes  No N/A 

Page 71



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

Will you need to arrange interviews, presentations, site visits 
etc.? 

      

 

       

 

Is this proposal funded wholly or in part by EU grant? Yes  No N/A 
      

 
If you wish to expand on any of your responses to these questions please give details in the box 
below: 

 

 
 

Finance   
                                                                                                            

Grant Funding Source Amount 

 £

 £

Total Grant Funding: £
 
 
 

Capital Funding Source Amount 

 £

 £

Total Capital Funding: £
 
 
 

Revenue Funding Source Amount

 £

 £

Total Revenue Funding: £
 
 
 

Estimated Total Value: £ 

Estimated Annual Value £ 
  

Cost Code  

If the contract is a collaboration with external partners the figures quoted should include 
the total contract value not just the Local Authority element. 

Contract 

Page 72



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

Provide basic details of any contract to be awarded 

Type of Contract:  

Form of Contract for Works (eg JCT or     
NEC) 

 

Proposed Start date:  

Proposed End date:  

Proposed options for extension (if any):  

Maximum duration (including extensions):  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community Benefits                                                                                  Copy and paste: 
 

Are you including community benefits?  Yes  No 

If Yes, provide details below: If No, state why community benefits have not been included 

Note that it is mandatory to include community benefits for all contracts for the value of 
£1,000,000 and over. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The Local Economy                                                                                 Copy and paste: 
 

Have you considered ways in which this proposal might benefit 
the local economy and increase opportunities for local 
businesses?

 
Yes   No

     

 

If Yes, provide details below: If No, please state why not. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Risk Assessment 

What is the total estimated value of the proposal? Choose an item. 

If things go wrong, what is the operational risk to the Local Authority? Choose an item. 

If things go wrong, what is the reputational risk to the Local Authority? Choose an item. 

If things go wrong, what is the financial risk to the Local Authority? Choose an item. 

Page 73



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

 

Risk Mitigation 

For risks which have a medium or high risk, state steps to be taken to minimise the risk: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Consultation with Members 

Please confirm that relevant members have been informed where the decision has 

implications for a particular locality. 

Copy and paste: 


 

  Yes  No 

If Yes, please list member’s names below and details of any feedback incorporated.    

 

 

AUTHORISATION 
 
The undersigned authorise the commissioning proposal described 

 

TEAM MANAGER: (if within spend authorisation limit) 

Signature  Date  

 

 
 
 

HEAD OF SERVICE/CHIEF OFFICER: (Mandatory) 

(or Service Manager if within their spend authorisation limit)   

Signature  Date  

 

 
 
 

MANAGER OF BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION & ICT (Mandatory or all ICT Contracts) 

Signature  Date  

 
 

 
 

Page 74



Commissioning Form/Ver 1.7/Feb 2018 

SECTION 151 OFFICER (Finance): (Mandatory for all contracts above £250,000) 

Signature  Date  

 

 
 
 

MONITORING OFFICER (Legal): (Mandatory for all contracts above £250,000) 

Signature  Date  

 

 
 
 

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: (Mandatory for all contracts above £1,000,000) 

Signature  Date  

 
  

N.B: Contracts over £2,000,000 also require Cabinet approval and the 
completion of a Cabinet report. 
 

 

   

 PROCUREMENT TEAM ASSESSMENT 

This section to be completed by the Procurement Team following receipt of an 
appropriately completed commissioning form. 

 
PROPOSED START DATE                                   TARGET END DATE 
 
  

 

 

    

 RECOMMENDATIONS:  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 PROCUREMENT 
OFFICER 

 DATE   

   

 

  

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 Corporate Governance Report  
 

Issue highlighted:  Actions  

Opportunities to deliver on all four dimensions of 
well-being are not being maximised, often due to 
lack of leadership and strategic approach that 
recognises the ‘power of purchase’.   

Consider and act upon the awaited WG response to the report.  
 
Update the Council Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) following WG 
response above, and the forthcoming regulations.  Re-launch of 
corporate CPRs.  
 
The Commissioning Form specifically requests consideration of a 
Well Being Impact Assessment which includes longer term 
implications of a purchasing activity.  
 
Revised Procurement Strategy and Policy Document to be 
developed further with services and Joint Procurement Board on 
how opportunities can be maximised.  Policy document will need 
appropriate member approval and consultation.   
 
Reduction in the use of Exemptions from tendering, in order to 
avoid the same contract rolling over with no opportunity for 
improved, or new, well being obligations included in the contract 
terms.   CPRs to narrow options to exempt.  
 
Business Partner to advise services on appropriate use of quality 
criteria in the context of future generations and carbon footprint.  
 
Community Benefits Hub supporting services in their consideration 
and inclusion of CBs taking into consideration longer term 
implications in Goods and Services contracts over £25K, and Works 
contracts over £100K.   All procurement business partners are 
referring services to the Hub to enable and support officers in the 
context of local well being community opportunities.  
 
Increase collaboration with the Councils’ Economic Development 
team and the CLES initiative (see below).  
 

The “procurement system” is still leading to too 
much focus on process and short-term cost rather 
than delivering wider outcomes over the long-
term, and there is no consistent way of measuring 
the outcomes that can be achieved in line with 
the Act.  

Awaiting new regulations from WG – Green Paper refers to the 
removal of complex and inflexible procedures.   
 
The Council and the Joint Procurement Board have contributed to 
the consultation on the proposed new procurement legislation 
post Brexit.   
 
The Procurement Services’ Business Partners encourage the use of 
longer term contracting, rather than short term repeat exercises.   
 
Consideration is being given to amending the Commissioning Form 
to greater reflect the Act and could be adapted in the future to 
take into account any decision on the Real Living Wage.   
 
The CB Hub has linked its operation and processes to identify 
potential outcomes/benefits early at project inception and again 
prior to the initiation of the procurement process. 
 
DCC is currently rolling out a bespoke measurement and reporting 
online tool that captures CBs in line with the Act, the Community 
Benefits Toolkit, and DCC’s own corporate priorities which are in 
turn linked to the well-being goals and objectives.  

Page 77



Appendix 3 Corporate Governance Report  
 

Issue highlighted:  Actions  

 
The CB Hub role is to link up with council services and departments 
and wider stakeholders to offer training and advice on how to set 
up the benefits sought within their procurement process and how 
to use the tool appropriately for individual project monitoring and 
reporting in aligning them to legislative outcomes and objectives. 
 
The Procurement Unit and the CB Hub report annually to 
Corporate Governance Committee detailing outcomes that have 
been achieved. 
 
Team Managers are actively taking part on existing internal and 
external groups in order to share learning and develop best 
practice. 
 

There is no mechanism for promoting effective 
collaboration for public bodies, particularly cross-
sector to improve sharing, learning, capacity and 
skills.  

DCC/Legal Services hosts an award winning regional public 
buildings framework team which does promote effective 
collaboration cross sector and the benefits of a regional approach 
– Head of Service sitting on both framework and the joint 
procurement board.    
 
A decision will be taken in respect of extending for a further term 
of 3 years the Joint Procurement Service Partnership Agreement in 
2021.  
 
The Joint Procurement Service and the Community Benefits Hub 
have invested in staff development, and has committed to further 
professional training within the team.    4 permanent officers 
within the service have increased skills and CIPS qualifications 
across all levels.   
 
1 career graded post has been created, locally recruited.  
3 placements are to be filled from the DWP to enable exposure to 
procurement and community benefits.   (Kickstart scheme)  
 
Softer relationship skills are being developed within the team to 
encourage collaboration.  Business partners are challenging 
decisions on single rather than joint purchasing.   
 
The Joint Procurement Board is meeting regularly and both 
Councils have improved capacity and skill set compared to pre-
collaboration days.  
 
An escalation process is being developed to be utilised if required, 
where a service states they do not wish to procure collaboratively. 
SLT to receive a report from Head of Service.   
 
Procurement team and the North Wales Construction/Public 
Buildings Framework team to carry out a self assessment on their 
collaborative skills.  (institute for collaborative working).  Results to 
be fed back to respective boards.   
 
Within Denbighshire the CB Hub is the focal point for 
measurement and reporting on CB commitments secured and 
utilised.  Capturing impact of CBs and associated data that will 

Page 78



Appendix 3 Corporate Governance Report  
 

Issue highlighted:  Actions  

inform future CB policy and use, identifying best practice and 
lessons learned. The Denbighshire and Flintshire shared 
Procurement service has developed a joint pilot project approach 
to maximise community benefits and social value through joint 
procurements.    
 
Explore ‘Community Wealth Building’ funded initiative with 
(Centre for local Economic Strategy)  ‘CLES’.  
 

 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 

Date of report 28th April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill / Steve Gadd, Head of Finance 

and Property 

Report author Steve Gadd, Head of Finance and Property 

Title Budget Update – MTFP and Budget Process 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1  The report provides an update for Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 

(CGAC)  on the latest projections included in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and 

the plans for the Budget Process for 2022/23 and beyond. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1  The MTFP and the draft Budget Process has been presented to and discussed at the 

Budget Board on 3rd March, SLT on the 11th March and Cabinet Briefing on the 12th April. 

The current draft has been amended in light of those comments and suggestions. This 

report aims to provide information regarding the current budget process for 2022/23 and 

the key medium term financial planning assumptions in order to help inform the CGAC’s 

oversight role in respect of the council’s budget process. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1  That the committee consider the process and comment as appropriate. 

4. Report details 

4.1  Appendix A sets out the current financial projections included in the Medium Term 

Financial Plan. The Appendix consists of the following: 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



 Medium Term Financial Plan – this now includes initial financial assumptions 

following review by the Budget Board 

 Changes / Decision Log – this itemised and reconciles the current version of the 

MTFP with that presented to Council in January 

 Sensitivity Analysis of possible levels of the Revenue Support Grant (‘the 

settlement’) 

 Sensitivity Analysis of the impact of different levels of Council Tax 

4.2  Budget Process – The second appendix is a report detailing the proposed Budget 

Process which includes the proposed approach to: 

 Pressures 

 Short and longer term savings 

 Invest to save scheme 

 Consultation and engagement 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1  Effective management of the council’s budgets and delivery of the agreed budget 

strategy underpins activity in all areas, including corporate priorities. The proposals include 

allocations to continue to support priorities. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1  Initial assumptions are included in Appendix A – however the financial impact will 

change over the coming months as we go through the budget process internally to refine 

pressures and identify savings. Obviously the major impact on the budget is the funding 

we receive from Welsh Government (though the Revenue Support Grant) which we are 

unlikely to receive any announcement on until the autumn.   

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1  It is the professional judgement of the Section 151 Officer that a Well-being Impact 

Assessment is not required for this report as no decision is being taken.  

Page 82



8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1  The plans highlight the consultation that will be required as we go through the 

process. The draft process itself has been informed by comments received during 

meetings to set the 2021/22 budget and through consultation with the Budget Board, SLT 

and Cabinet. Further consultation will be carried out with the Corporate Governance and 

Audit Committee, Council Briefing meetings, the School Budget and Trade Unions through 

Local Joint Consultative Committee.    

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1  The aim of the budget process is to ensure that the council delivers a balanced 

budget. This draft process aims to: 

 Ensure consultation is thorough and robust 

 Allow for the identification of smaller scale pressures which services have been 

expected to absorb in past years 

 Allow for time to properly consider strategic pressures 

 Identify medium term savings projects that will help reduce the need for a %age 

savings target for services 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1  The budget process itself is a risk management measure with the aim of identifying, 

assessing and agreeing budget proposals in a planned and timely way. Failure to agree a 

proper process will risk the legal requirement to achieve a balanced budget for 2022/23. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1  Local authorities are required under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

to make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 07/03/2021

Financial Projection - as at March 2021

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Funding

Revenue Support Grant & NNDR (RSG) 158,632 158,632 158,632 158,632
Council Tax 58,187 60,462 63,213 66,086
SSA / Budget Requirement 216,818 219,093 221,845 224,718

Use of Balances

Total Funding 216,818 219,093 221,845 224,718

Expenditure

Base Budget 208,302 216,819 222,139 227,095

Inflation / Pressures:

Pay 870 1,019 1,019 1,019
Price - targeted 100 100 100 100
Price - NSI Energy 150 150 150 150

CTRS 350 350 350 350

Fire Levy 162 100 100 100

Income Inflation (462) (250) (250) (250)

Social Services 2,397 1,500 1,000 1,000

Childrens Service 750 750

Other Service Pressures 286

Waste Pressures 250

Schools Inflation 1,205 1,000 1,000 1,000

Schools Investment 1,353
      Schools Demography Adjustment 718 787 787 787
      Covid / Brexit Contingency 683

Other known items:

Investment in Priorities 1
Investment in Priorities 2
Investment in Priorities 3 176 81
Investment in Priorities 4 500 500 500
NWEAB Growth Deal 64
Carbon Zero Project 389 200 200 200
Transfers into/out of Settlement 1,280
New Responsibilities

EFFICIENCIES / SAVINGS:
  Capital and Corporate Savings
  Service Efficiencies - BAU - 1% (690) (967)
  Service Savings (781)
  Schools Efficiency Target (733)
  Social Care Savings Target

Total Expenditure 216,819 222,139 227,095 232,051

Funding Shortfall / (Available) 0 3,046 5,250 7,333

Annual increase/(decrease) in shortfall 0 3,045 2,205 2,083

Key Assumptions
  Settlement % 3.60% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
  Council Tax Increase % Band D 3.80% 2.95% 3.80% 3.80%

S:\STG\MTFP\2022 23 MTFP\MTFP 22 23 Projection March 21 v2 MTFP versionPage 85



APPENDIX A

22/23 22/23 23/24
£000 £000 £000

Shortfall as per Jan Draft Settlement FINAL 1,327 2,573 3,698
Effect of previous years changes
CT Base Revised calculation based on 7 year average -14 -28 -44
Fees and Charges 1% Target (reduced from 2% based on salary projections) 250 500 750
Social Care Pressure Based on reduced overspend in 20/21 500 500 500
Children's Service Pressure Either increase demand - also Meadow Lodge 500 500 500
Service Efficiency Savings 1% Efficiency target -967 -967 -967
Zero Carbon Commitment Details to be confimred 200 400 600

Shortfall + / - (Available) as per March 21 v1 Draft MTFP 1,796 3,478 5,037
Social Care Pressure Additional Pressure agreed at March Budget Board (3/3/21) 500 1,000 1,500
Children's Service Pressure Additional Pressure agreed at March Budget Board (3/3/21) 250 250 250
Initial review of CT levels Agreed to reduce initial level from 3.8% to 2.95% 500 522 546

Shortfall + / - (Available) as per March 21 v2 Draft MTFP 3,046 5,250 7,333

Revenue Support Grant 1% RSG 1,586
1.5% RSG 2,379
2% RSG 3,173
2.5% RSG 3,966
3% RSG 4,759
4% RSG 6,345

Item Description Status

Items to be considered:

P
age 86



APPENDIX A

Settlement Sensitivity Analysis

RSG 2021/22 158,632

%age 
Change

Cash Impact 
£000

Change from 
MTFP 

Assumption
4.0% 6,345 6,345
3.5% 5,552 5,552
3.0% 4,759 4,759
2.5% 3,966 3,966
2.0% 3,173 3,173 Possible?
1.5% 2,379 2,379
1.0% 1,586 1,586
0.5% 793 793
0.0% 0 0 Current

-0.5% -793 -793
-1.0% -1,586 -1,586
-1.5% -2,379 -2,379
-2.0% -3,173 -3,173
-2.5% -3,966 -3,966
-3.0% -4,759 -4,759
-3.5% -5,552 -5,552
-4.0% -6,345 -6,345

Page 87



APPENDIX A

Council Tax Sensitivity Analysis

 % £ £ £000 £000
0.00% 0.00 1,436.76 58,727 0
0.50% 7.18 1,443.94 59,021 294
1.00% 14.37 1,451.13 59,315 588
1.50% 21.55 1,458.31 59,609 882
2.00% 28.74 1,465.49 59,903 1,176
2.25% 32.33 1,469.09 60,050 1,323
2.50% 35.92 1,472.68 60,197 1,470

Lowest Recent level 2.75% 39.51 1,476.27 60,344 1,617 -118 

Proposed 2022/23 Level 2.95% 42.38 1,479.14 60,462 1,734
3.00% 43.10 1,479.86 60,491 1,764
3.25% 46.69 1,483.45 60,638 1,911
3.50% 50.29 1,487.04 60,785 2,058
3.75% 53.88 1,490.64 60,932 2,205

2021/22 Increase 3.80% 54.60 1,491.35 60,961 2,234 500
4.00% 57.47 1,494.23 61,079 2,351

2020/21 Increase 4.30% 61.78 1,498.54 61,255 2,528 794
4.50% 64.65 1,501.41 61,373 2,645
4.80% 68.96 1,505.72 61,549 2,822
4.95% 71.12 1,507.88 61,637 2,910
5.00% 71.84 1,508.60 61,667 2,939
5.25% 75.43 1,512.19 61,814 3,086
5.50% 79.02 1,515.78 61,961 3,233
5.75% 82.61 1,519.37 62,108 3,380
6.00% 86.21 1,522.96 62,255 3,527
6.25% 89.80 1,526.56 62,402 3,674

2019/20 Increase 6.35% 91.23 1,527.99 62,460 3,733 1,999
6.40% 91.95 1,528.71 62,490 3,762
6.50% 93.39 1,530.15 62,548 3,821

2022/23
 

Increas
 Increase 
in Band D 

Proposed 
Band D

Total 
Funding

Inc/Dec in 
Funding

Page 88



 

APPENDIX 1 – BUDGET TIMETABLE 

  

 
 

 

 

watermark 

 

Denbighshire County Council 

 

 

Budget Process 
2022/23 and beyond 

 

Page 89



 

v2 April 2021 

2 

Budget Process 2022/23  

Contents 

Budget Pressures ................................................................................................................ 3 

Service Efficiency Target .................................................................................................. 3/4 

5 Year Savings Plan - Base Budget Service Review ........................................................... 4 

5 Year Savings Plan - Invest-to-Save Fund / Specific Projects ......................................... 4/5 

Communications and Engagement: ................................................................................. 5-7 

 Residents ............................................................................................................ 5 

 Senior Leadership Team .................................................................................. 5/6 

 Cabinet ............................................................................................................... 6 

 Wider Council Membership ................................................................................. 6 

 Corporate Governance and Audit Committee .................................................. 6/7 

 School Budget Forum ......................................................................................... 7 

 Trade Unions ...................................................................................................... 7 

 Local Businesses ................................................................................................ 7 

 

Appendix 1 - Budget Timetable ............................................................................................ 8 

 

 

 

  

Page 90



 

v2 April 2021 

3 

Budget Process 2022/23  

Budget Pressures 

Although the Council has a strong track record of identifying strategic pressures over 

recent years, which is reflected in the Financial Outturn of the Council, feedback received 

from services for a number of years have questioned what the process was to recognise 

smaller scale budget flaws and pressures. In previous years, exercises have been 

undertaken in year, for example when service savings have not been achievable or when 

issues are raised by politicians. There is a risk that this can lead to unbalanced decisions 

and disruption to the budget process and its integrity. Key aspects and aims of the 

process: 

 Capture ‘small’ scale budget flaws (under £100k) 

 Identify key strategic budget pressures (over £100k) 

 Aims to ensure that by the autumn a full picture of pressures can be considered in 

the round 

 Pressures Identified after the autumn will need to be funded by cash and 

considered as part of the following year’s budget process 

 Finance will bring together proformas to record details 

 Decisions on acceptance or not of pressures will be formally recorded 

 Smaller scale budget adjustments will be considered at the Budget Board at the 

end of July to help with service planning 

 Strategic Pressures will be considered in detail during the autumn to allow time for 

the latest projections to be taken into account. 

1% Service Efficiency Target (including assumption that Fees 

and Charges are increased by at least 1%) 

It is probable that the savings coming from the Base Budget Service Review, specific 

projects already identified and the Invest-to-save programme will take time to deliver both 

due to the complexity of some of the projects and the need to gain political approval. It is 

also assumed that as services will be allowed to present non-strategic service pressures, 

this will allow services to continue to review services to ensures they are being delivered in 

Page 91



 

v2 April 2021 

4 

Budget Process 2022/23  

the most efficient way. Monitoring these savings will be on a light touch basis - a basic pro-

forma which is then discussed / presented at the service review meetings in the autumn. 

5 Year Savings Plan - Base Budget Service Review  

This process will be the most in-depth and time consuming. The results of the review will 

need to be monitored and delivered over a five-year timescale and change may require 

short term investment so there is some cross-over with the invest-to-save projects. The 

principle of this process will be similar to the Freedoms and Flexibilities and Cutting the 

Cloth exercises of a few years ago. The starting point will be an analysis of service 

budgets which will aim to identify service areas that are: 

a) Service areas that are linked to current Corporate Priorities and likely future 

priorities based on medium to long term Council and WG priorities (eg 

Homelessness) 

b) Statutory basis if known 

This process should consider: 

a) Scope for commercialisation – charging / alternative delivery models – ensuring full 

cost recovery 

b) Scope for doing things differently – Business Process Re-engineering 

c) Areas that require financial benchmarking to ensure the level of service is at the 

appropriate level or charging position is comparable 

The current plan is that documents are developed from May through to end of June in 

order for them to be sent out to services in July so the details of the information presented 

will be the subject of consultation during that period. The aim of the process is to provide 

people with the information required to challenge the way services are provided. Service 

meetings will initially take place from September to October in but regular meetings and 

monitoring will need to take place over the 5 year period. 

Page 92



 

v2 April 2021 

5 

Budget Process 2022/23  

5 Year Savings Plan - Invest-to-Save Fund / Specific Projects 

It is recommended that an invest to save fund is started in order to help provide cash 

funding for projects. The initial funding for this will come from the Budget Mitigation 

Reserve which is likely to stand at £1m (although will need to wait until Final Outturn 

position is agreed). Key aspects would be: 

 Proforma brought together by finance 

 1 to 3 deadlines during the year (eg July, October and March?) 

 Budget Board would then consider requests 

 Projects would need to generate savings in future years 

 Investment would be considered for medium term savings also so cash 

investment could be in year 1 and 2 to deliver a base budget saving in year 3,4 

or 5. 

Communications and Engagement 

Getting the communications right will be key to a successful; budget process going 

forward. The needs and level of involvement will depend on the stakeholder group: 

Residents 

Communications team came to the Budget Board in the Autumn to review what could be 

done last year and what a new process for 22/23 could look like. Communications will 

attend the Budget Board in April to finalise this aspect of communications and how it can 

link to existing plans such as the Resident’s Survey for example. 

Senior Leadership Team 

Need to be updated on the proposed budget process and progress on Timetable.  

 SLT Report / Briefing on 11th March.  

Page 93



 

v2 April 2021 

6 

Budget Process 2022/23  

 Monthly updates put on the agenda (to coincide with monthly monitoring also) 

 Formal SLT Briefing in the Autumn summarising progress and reviewing 

proposals 

 Further SLT Briefings if required 

Cabinet 

Need to be updated on the proposed budget process and progress on Timetable and also 

agree interim and final proposals. 

 Cabinet Briefing report on the process 12th April 

 MTFS including timetable etc go to Cabinet in May/June 2021  

 Monthly updates to Cabinet Briefing as part of finance update 

 Cabinet Briefing in the Autumn summarising progress and reviewing proposals 

 Further formal Cabinet Briefings if required 

Wider Council Membership 

Communications will be via Council Briefings, Workshops and Group Leaders: 

 Council Workshop in June/July to include an update on MTFP, Budget Process 

and Capital Strategy and the issuing of a Budget Saving Ideas Proforma and 

the Budget Book – also offer of financial advice to inform proposals 

 Council Workshop in late October (this will hopefully be after the Draft 

Settlement Announcement which is usually in the first two weeks of October. 

There may be a possibility of a further briefing if settlements/announcements 

are delayed or assumptions need to change. 

 There will also need to be engagement with Group Leaders 

Page 94



 

v2 April 2021 

7 

Budget Process 2022/23  

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 

The CG&AC’s role is centred on the Budget Process itself rather than any specific budget 

proposals. It is a vital step to give Council assurance that the process is robust and 

effective. 

 Initial report on process in April 

 Usually the Committee request a second report in the Autumn to report on 

progress 

School Budget Forum 

Head of Finance and Property or Chief Accountant will update the forum on proposed 

process and their impact on schools during the summer and autumn terms. 

Trade Unions 

Head of Finance and Property or Chief Accountant will update the Trade Union Local Joint 

Consultative Committee on proposed process and their impact during the summer and the 

autumn. 

Local Businesses 

Details of how local businesses are consulted on the budget proposals will be developed 

with the Economic and Business Development Team.  

Page 95



 

APPENDIX 1 – BUDGET TIMETABLE 

 
Description Responsibility Date Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Revise Budget Board Terms of Reference Budget Board April

Agree MTFP building blocks Budget Board March

Agree Budget/Process Timetable Budget Board March

Medium Term Financial Strategy Budget Board / Cabinet March to May

 Initial Pressure Data Gathering SLT May to June

Dev. of Service Base Budget Review Docs Finance / Legal May to June

 Issue Service Base Budget Review Docs S151 July

Service Base Budget Review Sessions Budget Board September / October

Corp Governance Report (re Process) S151 April & Autumn 2021

 Invest-to-save Project Deadlines Budget Board July / October / Mar

Capital Strategy Budget Board March to September

SLT Engagement S151 11th March / Monthly / Autumn

Cabinet Engagement S151 May / Monthly / Autumn

Union Joint Committee Consultation S151 July / November

Full Council Member Briefing S151 May or June

Full Council Member Workshops S151 July and October

Draft Welsh Government Budget Welsh Government Late Sept ??

Draft Settlement Welsh Government Early Oct ??

Final Settlement Expected Welsh Government Early December ??

Cabinet Approve Draft Budget Cabinet January

Council Approve Budget Council January

Council formally Approve Council Tax Council late February

Key:

Governance

Critical for MTFP

Consultation

External

Budget Timetable - 2022/23 - Tasks
Budget Timetable - 2022/23 - 

Timescales

P
age 96



 

Report to Corporate Governance & Audit Committee  

Date of meeting 28 April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Charter & Strategy 2021-22 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1  This report provides the Committee with the Internal Audit Charter and Strategy 

for 2021-22. The Charter defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 

responsibility in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. The 

Strategy provides details of the proposed Internal Audit projects for the year 

that will allow the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an ‘opinion’ on the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Council’s framework of governance, risk and control 

during the year 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1  Local Authorities subject to the Account and Audit (Wales) Regulations must 

maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit of its accounting 

records and of its system of internal controls. The Charter has been updated to 

reflect that the Chief Internal Auditor’s temporary responsibility for the Project 

Management Team has recently ended. In accordance with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), safeguards will continue for a period of time 

to maintain Internal Auditors’ independence and objectivity.  

2.2  The Strategy contains a risk-based internal audit plan that takes into account 

the PSIAS requirement to deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report 

that the organisation can use to inform its governance statement. This 

Committee’s terms of reference require it to consider internal audit’s plans. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



 
 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1  The Committee approves the Internal Audit Charter (Appendix 1) and the 

Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 (Appendix 2) 

4. Report details 

4.1  The main changes to the Internal Audit Charter in Appendix 1 are included in 

the ‘Positioning & Reporting Lines’ section as follows: 

“The Chief Internal Auditor took on a temporary role to manage the Project 

Management Team that sits within the Business Improvement & Modernisation 

Service during 2020-21. This arrangement ended in March 2021. In order to 

maintain the independence of the Internal Audit service, the Senior Auditors will 

continue to undertake responsibility for audits relating to this team for a period 

of time. This will include the matter of audit selection, scope, frequency, timing 

and report content and the Senior Auditors will report directly to the Section 151 

Officer if appropriate to maintain independence and objectivity.”    

4.2  In line with changes required by the Local Government & Elections (Wales) Act, 

references to ‘Corporate Governance & Audit Committee’ within the Charter has 

been updated to ‘Governance & Audit Committee’ as this will requirements 

becomes effective imminently.  

4.3  The Internal Audit Strategy in Appendix 2 provides background to the internal 

Audit service as well as its proposed plan of work for the year based on an 

assessment of risk and consultation with services.  

4.4  The proposed plan of work will allow the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an 

overall ‘opinion’ for the Internal Audit Annual Report for 2021-22 and inform the 

Annual Governance Statement. This Committee will receive regular information 

reports on progress. 

Page 98



 
 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities? 

5.1  There is no decision required with this report. There is no direct contribution to 

the Corporate Priorities, but some projects in the audit plan will review 

Corporate Priority areas and will provide assurance on their delivery. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other 

services? 

6.1  Not applicable - there is no decision or costs attached to this report. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 

Assessment?  

7.1  This report does not require a decision or proposal for change, so there is no 

impact on people who share protected characteristics. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

8.1  The Chief Internal Auditor has consulted with Corporate Directors, Section 151 

Officer, senior management and their management teams.   

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1  There are no financial implications attached to this report. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 

reduce them? 

10.1  Failure to deliver an adequate level of internal audit may mean that the Chief 

Internal Auditor cannot provide an annual ‘opinion’ on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s framework of governance, risk and control during 

the year. This would potentially lead to a significant governance issue being 

Page 99



 
 

raised in the Council’s ‘annual governance statement’ at the end of the financial 

year. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1 Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

Page 100



April 2021 

 

Internal Audit Charter 

2021-22  

Page 101



Internal Audit Charter 

 
2 

Contents 

Contents 2 

Introduction 3 

Our Purpose 4 

Definition of internal auditing: 4 

Our Mission 4 

Our Objectives 5 

Code of Ethics 5 

Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 6 

Internal Audit Positioning and Reporting Lines 7 

Authority 8 

Scope of Internal Audit Activity 8 

Resources 10 

Internal Audit Plan 10 

Quality Assurance and Improvement 11 

Internal Assessments 12 

External Assessments 12 

  

Page 102



Internal Audit Charter 

 
3 

Introduction 

This Charter defines the purpose, authority and responsibility of internal audit. The Internal 

Audit Charter establishes the internal audit activity’s position within the Council; authorises 

access to records; and defines the scope of internal audit activities.  

All UK public sector internal audit service providers work to the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS).  

The PSIAS use generic terms that, in Denbighshire County Council’s case, are translated 

as: 

PSIAS DCC 

Chief Audit Executive Chief Internal Auditor 

Senior Management Senior Leadership Team (SLT) 

The Board Governance & Audit Committee  

 

The PSIAS require the Chief Internal Auditor to develop and maintain an up to date 

Internal Audit Charter to establish: 

 Internal Audit’s purpose, mission and position within the Council  

 The Chief Internal Auditor’s functional reporting relationship with the CEO and 

Governance & Audit Committee 

 Authorisation for Internal Audit to access records, personnel and physical properties 

relevant to the performance of its work 

 The scope of Internal Audit’s work, including the nature of its assurance role, 

consultancy services and its involvement in anti-fraud and corruption work 

 Arrangements for resourcing the Internal Audit service 

 Arrangements for avoiding conflicts of interest within the Internal Audit service 

The Chief Internal Auditor will review the Charter each year and present it to the 

Governance & Audit Committee for final approval. 

Page 103



Internal Audit Charter 

 
4 

Our Purpose 

The PSIAS include mandatory elements of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) 

International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF): 

 Definition of Internal Auditing 

 Core Principles  

 Code of Ethics 

 International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

Definition of internal auditing: 

“Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed 

to add value and improve an organisation’s operations.  

It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 

approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 

governance processes”. (PSIAS) 

Within the Council, Internal Audit is one of the cornerstones of effective governance. Our 

annual internal audit opinion and other reports are a key element of the framework of 

assurance that is used to complete the Annual Governance Statement. We give 

assurance to elected members and management, highlighting areas for improvement. 

Our role is a unique one, providing effective challenge and acting as a catalyst for positive 

change and continual improvement in governance in all its aspects. Our role is particularly 

important when the Council is facing uncertain and challenging times. 

Our Mission 

“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight” (PSIAS) 

Page 104



Internal Audit Charter 

 
5 

Our Objectives 

 Provide independent assurance and advice to management and elected members 

on risk management, governance and internal control 

 Develop and promote our role to make a significant contribution to modernise the 

Council and deliver efficiencies and improve services for our customers 

 Add value in all areas of our work, providing excellent service to our customers 

Code of Ethics 

All members of the Internal Audit service make an annual declaration that they agree to 

comply with the IIA Code of Ethics as follows:  

Ethic Principle 

Integrity The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and this provides the 
basis for relying on their judgement. 

Objectivity Internal auditors demonstrate the highest level of professional 
objectivity in gathering, evaluating and communicating information 
about the activity or process being examined. 

Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant 
circumstances and are not unduly influenced by their own interest or 
by others in forming judgements. 

Confidentiality Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they 
receive and do not disclose information without appropriate authority 
unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 

Competency Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in 
the performance of internal audit services. 

In addition, our annual declaration states that we will declare any interests we may have in 

any services that we review; and have read the PSIAS, Code of Ethics, Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Officers and have due regard to the Nolan Principles of Public Life. 

 

Page 105



Internal Audit Charter 

 
6 

Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

Our internal audit approach is underpinned by the following Core Principles:  

 Demonstrate integrity 

 Demonstrate competence and due professional care 

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent) 

 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation 

 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced 

 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement 

 Communicates effectively 

 Provides risk-based assurance 

 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused 

 Promotes organisational improvement 

In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor will be appropriately experienced and hold a 

professional qualification (CCAB or CMIIA) and is responsible for: 

 Developing an annual internal audit plan based on an understanding of the 

significant risks to which the Council is exposed.  

 Submitting the plan to the Corporate Governance & Audit Committee and Senior 

Leadership Team for review and agreement. 

 Implementing the plan and reporting any amendments that may occur. 

 Ensuring compliance with the Standards. 

 Developing and maintaining co-operative relationships with management, other 

internal auditors, external auditors and other review bodies to ensure the most 

effective audit coverage is achieved. 

 Maintaining a professional internal audit team with sufficient knowledge, skills and 

experience to carry out the plan. 

 Providing an annual opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 

control environment including any issues which should be considered for inclusion 

in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

Page 106



Internal Audit Charter 

 
7 

Internal Audit Positioning and Reporting Lines 

The Chief Internal Auditor has a functional reporting line to the Head of Business 

Improvement & Modernisation, but also has direct access on internal audit issues to the 

Council’s S151 Officer, the CEO, Cabinet, Governance & Audit Committee and Scrutiny 

Committees. 

These extended reporting lines provide Internal Audit with sufficient independence of the 

activities that it reviews to enable our auditors to perform their duties objectively, allowing 

us to make impartial and effective professional judgements and raise issues for 

improvement. 

The Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation reviews the Chief Internal Auditor’s 

performance with input and feedback from the CEO and Chair of the Governance & Audit 

Committee. This ensures that the Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion and scope of work 

cannot be limited or affected by his functional line management position within the Council. 

Governance & Audit Committee monitor the effectiveness of Internal Audit’s activities. It 

should be involved in the selection process when/if an internal audit service provider 

changes, the appointment or termination of the Chief Internal Auditor and in ensuring that 

internal audit is adequately resourced. 

The Chief Internal Auditor will ensure that the Internal Audit service remains free from all 

conditions that threaten the ability of Internal Auditors to perform their work in an unbiased 

manner. Internal Auditors have no direct operational responsibilities or authority over any 

of the activities audited. In the exceptional circumstance where this is required, the 

approval of the Governance & Audit Committee will be obtained and safeguards put in 

place to protect our independence and objectivity. 

The Chief Internal Auditor took on a temporary role to manage the Project Management 

Team that sits within the Business Improvement & Modernisation Service during 2020-21. 

This arrangement ended in March 2021. In order to maintain the independence of the 

Internal Audit service, the Senior Auditors will continue to undertake responsibility for 

reviewing audits relating to this team for a period of time. This will include the matter of 

audit selection, scope, frequency, timing and report content and the Senior Auditors will 

Page 107



Internal Audit Charter 

 
8 

report directly to the Section 151 Officer if appropriate to maintain independence and 

objectivity.    

Authority 

The Council’s Financial Regulations stipulate Internal Audit’s rights of access, providing 

the service with authority to: 

 Access all Council premises at reasonable times 

 Access all assets, records, documents, correspondence and systems 

 Receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 

matter made under consideration 

 Require any employee of the Council to account for cash or any other Council asset 

under his or her control 

 Access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when required. 

The Chief Internal Auditor attends Governance & Audit Committee and will meet 

independently with the Chair of Governance & Audit Committee periodically and has right 

of access to all Governance & Audit Committee members. 

Scope of Internal Audit Activity 

The Internal Audit service is very proactive and innovative, constantly aiming to improve. 

We have a customer-focused approach to audit planning, project scoping and service 

delivery, involving elected members, senior management and operational staff. 

Our Internal Audit Assurance Plan links closely to the Council’s Governance Assurance 

Framework, taking account of other assurances that the Council may receive, internal or 

external, to prevent duplication and co-ordinate regulatory work. It also takes account of 

discussions with senior management. 

Our work provides a risk-based approach that allows the Chief Internal Auditor to form and 

evidence her opinion on the control environment to support the Council’s Annual 

Governance Statement. 

Page 108



Internal Audit Charter 

 
9 

Internal Audit is not responsible for managing the risk of fraud – this lies with the Council’s 

senior management. Internal Auditors have sufficient knowledge to evaluate the risk of 

fraud and the manner in which it is managed by the Council, but are not expected to have 

the expertise of a person whose primary responsibility is detecting and investigating fraud. 

The Council’s Financial Regulations and investigation procedures require managers to 

inform the Chief Internal Auditor of any suspected financial irregularities. The Chief Internal 

Auditor retains the right to decide on an appropriate course of action, which may mean a 

joint investigation or investigation by the service. All investigation reports should be sent to 

the Chief Internal Auditor for inclusion in a report on fraud investigations within the Internal 

Audit Annual Report. We will also consider any control issues identified in the fraud 

investigation in terms of the impact on current and future internal audit activity. 

Internal Audit occasionally provide guidance and advice e.g. on new systems or may help 

to develop new processes using our specific skills. Services may also occasionally ask us 

to carry out specific projects on a consultancy basis for a fee. The Chief Internal Auditor 

will accommodate such requests only where there is sufficient capacity to carry out the 

work to the required standard. We make it clear from the outset that we are working on a 

consultancy basis and are not giving audit assurance on these occasions.  

The PSIAS permit assurance services to be provided where internal audit has previously 

performed consulting services. This will only be the case where the consulting/advisory 

work completed has not impaired objectivity. Individual objectivity will be managed when 

assigning resources to the engagement. 

  

Page 109



Internal Audit Charter 

 
10 

Resources 

The Governance & Audit Committee has the responsibility to ensure the internal audit 

function is sufficiently resourced and has the required skills and competencies required to 

meet the Council’s audit needs.  

The service structure remains the same, so the team continues to be 6FTE. This 

comprises of the Chief Internal Auditor, three Senior Auditors and two Auditors. 

We have a well-qualified and experienced team, mainly following the Chartered Institute of 

Internal Auditors qualification route (CIA) at Senior Auditor level and Association of 

Accounting Technicians (AAT) for the Auditor role. The Chief Internal Auditor holds the 

CMIIA and is a Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA). 

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Chief Internal Auditor 

will advise senior management and the Governance & Audit Committee of any changes to 

resources that are likely to affect the completion of the planned work which may impact the 

ability to provide the necessary assurance. 

Internal Audit Plan 

At least annually, the Chief Internal Auditor will submit to senior management and the 

Governance & Audit Committee an internal audit plan for review and approval. The internal 

audit plan will consist of a list of audit priorities and resource requirements for the next 

financial year. The Chief Internal Auditor will communicate the impact of resource 

limitations and significant interim changes to senior management and the Governance & 

Audit Committee.  

The internal audit plan will be developed based on a prioritisation of the audit universe 

using a risk-based methodology, including input of senior management and the 

Governance & Audit Committee. The Chief Internal Auditor will review and adjust the plan, 

as necessary, in response to changes in the organisation’s business, risks, operations, 

systems, and controls. Any significant deviation from the approved internal audit plan will 

be communicated to senior management and the Governance & Audit Committee through 

the Internal Audit Update Report.

Page 110



Internal Audit Charter 

 
11 

Reporting and Monitoring 

A written report will be prepared and issued by the Internal Auditor following the 

conclusion of each internal audit engagement and will be distributed as appropriate. 

Internal audit results will also be communicated to the Governance & Audit Committee.  

The internal audit report will include management’s response and corrective action taken 

or to be taken in regard to the specific findings. Management's response will be 

incorporated into an action plan which will include a timetable for anticipated completion of 

action to be taken and an explanation for any corrective action that will not be 

implemented.  

The internal audit activity will follow-up all low assurance and no assurance areas and 

report the results to the Governance & Audit Committee. A representative from the Service 

will be asked by the Committee to attend to explain the action taken to address identified 

weaknesses.  

The Chief Internal Auditor will periodically report to senior management and the 

Governance & Audit Committee on the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, and 

responsibility, as well as performance relative to its plan. Reporting will also include 

significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues, and 

other matters needed or requested by senior management and the Governance & Audit 

Committee. 

Quality Assurance and Improvement 

The Chief Internal Auditor maintains the quality assurance and improvement programme 

which covers all aspects of Internal Audit’s activities. The programme includes internal and 

external assessments to evaluate Internal Audit’s conformance with the Mission 

Statement, the Core Principles of Internal Auditing and the International Standards and 

application of the Code of Ethics. 

Page 111



Internal Audit Charter 

 
12 

Internal Assessments 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 places a statutory obligation on the 

Council to conduct a review of effectiveness of internal audit at least once a year. This 

comprises of: 

 Ongoing monitoring of the performance of the internal audit activity 

 Periodic self-assessment of the internal audit activity against the PSIAS. 

External Assessments 

PSIAS require an External Assessment to be conducted at least once every five years by 

a qualified, independent assessor from outside the Council.  

An external assessment was carried out in 2017-18 on a peer review basis organised 

through the Welsh Chief Auditors Group. The results were reported to Corporate 

Governance & Audit Committee in November 2018 which concluded that:  

“The overall opinion following the external validation of Denbighshire County Council 

Internal Audit Service is that it generally conforms with the PSIAS. Some opportunities for 

further improvement have been identified as shown in this report but none of the items of 

partial or non-conformance are considered to be a significant failure to meet the 

Standards”. 

Actions to address items of partial conformance have been completed as reported to the 

Governance & Audit Committee.  

Any known instances of non-conformance with the PSIAS will be reported to the Corporate 

Governance & Audit Committee and any significant deviations will be considered for 

inclusion in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

Page 112



April 2021 

 

Internal Audit Strategy  
2021-22 

  

Page 113



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
2 

Contents 

Contents 2 

Introduction 3 

High Level Audit Plan 4 

Counter Fraud and Corruption Work including NFI 4 

Partnership working with other auditors 5 

Proposed Audit Priorities for 2021-22 6 

Internal Audit Performance Monitoring 10 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 11 

  

Page 114



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
3 

Introduction 

The Internal Audit Service is an independent and objective internal team that provides 

assurance and advice to all levels of management and elected members on the quality of 

operations within the Council. We particularly focus on governance, risk management and 

control arrangements.  

Internal Audit will continue to deliver its services in accordance with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards and the Internal Audit Charter which sets out its purpose, 

authority and principle responsibilities.  

The Internal Audit Strategy for 2021/22 aims to support the council in making the best use 

of its resources and takes into account strategic risks and the corporate priorities. The 

internal audit plan and the work of internal audit must focus on the things that matter to the 

organisation, and the opinions and improvement suggestions that internal audit provide 

must help the organisation achieve its objectives and be valued by stakeholders. 

This Internal Audit Strategy contains the proposed internal audit activity for the year and 

gives an outline scope of coverage for each area of work. The plan must retain sufficient 

flexibility to allow us to react to changes in the risk environment. Any changes will be 

agreed with management and reported to the Governance & Audit Committee. 

The plan of work provides the council with objective opinions on the effectiveness of the 

organisation’s risk management, governance and control arrangements. These are key 

elements of the evidence which informs the: 

 Internal Audit Annual Report; and 

 Annual Governance Statement. 

The Internal Audit structure comprises six full-time equivalent (FTE) members of staff, 

comprising the Chief Internal Auditor, 3 Senior Auditors and 2 Auditors (a Senior Auditor 

post is currently vacant). The equates to 781 days available for productive assurance 

work. The number of productive days does not include “non-productive” days such as 

annual leave, training, illness, management (e.g. 121s) and team meetings. 

Page 115



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
4 

High Level Audit Plan 

The Audit Plan 2021/22 takes into account the: 

 Council’s corporate and service risk registers; 

 corporate assurance requirements, including the Annual Governance Statement; 

 the outcome of previous audits and those of other assurance providers, 

 discussions with service management teams. 

 Planned work deferred from 2020-21 

The plan recognises the need for additional assurance that controls are effective following 

the Covid-19 emergency. The plan remains flexible to ensure that it reflects any emerging 

or changes to risks and priorities of the Council. It will be regularly reviewed with services, 

and updated as necessary, to ensure it remains valid and appropriate so that internal audit 

resource is deployed effectively. As a minimum, the plan will be reviewed after six months. 

The table on page 7 lists the priority audit areas for the year.  

Counter Fraud and Corruption Work including NFI 

Counter fraud arrangements are a high priority for the Council and assist in the protection 

of public funds and accountability. As per the Internal Audit Charter, Internal Audit is not 

responsible for managing the risk of fraud – this lies with the Council’s senior 

management.  

Internal Audit will continue to investigate instances of potential fraud and irregularities 

referred to it by management, and will also carry out pro-active counter fraud and 

corruption testing of systems considered to be most at risk of fraud. This is informed by 

CIPFA’s ‘Code of Practice on managing the risk of fraud and corruption’. Notable areas of 

fraud nationally include: Housing Benefit, Council Tax, Housing and Tenancy, 

Procurement, Insurance, Abuse of Position, Blue Badges and Direct Payments (Social 

Care).  

Audit Wales facilitates a national data matching exercise (National Fraud Initiative – NFI) 

every two years. Work on the 2018/19 is complete and the 2020/21 exercise has recently 

Page 116



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
5 

commenced. Internal Audit engages with relevant Council services to ensure system 

reports are extracted accurately and on time, and that data matches are reviewed and 

resulting action is taken as necessary. Progress will be reported to Governance & Audit 

Committee periodically as part of the Internal Audit Update report. 

Internal Audit captures details of referrals where there are allegations/suspicions of fraud 

or corruption taking place and this is reported to the Governance & Audit Committee as 

part of the Internal Audit Update Report. An Annual Fraud Report will be included as part 

of the Internal Audit Annual Report to summarise and reflect on the work that has taken 

place during 2020/21. 

Partnership working with other auditors 

We continue to work to develop effective partnership working arrangements with other 

local authority audit services. We participate in audit networks, locally and nationally, 

which provide for a beneficial exchange of information and practices. This often improves 

the effectiveness and efficiency of the audit process, through avoiding instances of “re-

inventing the wheel”, particularly in new areas of work which has been covered in other 

authorities. We continue to maintain an effective working relationship with the Council’s 

external auditors, Audit Wales, and meet regularly to exchange information and minimise 

potential duplication. 

 

  

Page 117



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
6 

Proposed Audit Priorities for 2021-22 

This year’s audit plan has been developed through discussions with senior and middle 

management, and aligned with the corporate priorities and corporate and service risks 

registers and the council’s risk appetite. It is also informed by previous audit results, 

horizon scanning and current themes such as Climate Change and post Covid-19 

recovery. For 2021/22, key considerations for setting the plan include: 

 ongoing covid-19 recovery and response, including the requirements of assurance 

over grants; 

 financial challenges and related budget savings required to be delivered by the 

council; 

 organisational changes including increased partnership working and major projects; 

 organisational resilience and sustainability including workforce planning. 

All audit areas identified as high priority within the plan will be undertaken together with 

annual audits of financial areas for the Section 151 Officer with particular focus on key 

changes and Covid-19 grants. Audit areas rated as medium priority will be kept under 

review and any changes or emerging risks will be captured and the audit plan updated as 

necessary. 

The following list shows the current priority projects for 2021-22 that has been agreed 

between the CIA and each service management team and directors. The Governance & 

Audit Committee will continue to receive a regular progress update on Internal Audit work 

actually undertaken, which will include a list of upcoming work from the project priority 

schedule. 

A summary brief for each audit area is listed in the table below, detailed scope of work will 

be developed and agreed with management prior to the start of each review. This is to 

ensure that key risks to the operation or function can be considered during the review. 

Page 118



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
7 

Audit Project Audit Brief 

Risk Management 

Review will focus on the corporate risks in the Corporate Risk Register 

that have not been covered elsewhere in the Audit Plan; with a specific 

review of the effectiveness of the mitigating controls and further actions 

specified against each risk. 

Adoption Service 

Review partnership arrangements for the Adoption Service to ensure the 

council is achieving value for money and assess the effectiveness of the 

council’s processes. Carried forward from 2020/21 

Childcare Settings 
Service risk. Review of wrap around care linked to Schools/Council in 

terms of liabilities, risk management and financial processes. 

Programme & Project 

Management 

Corporate risk. Review of a sample of key council programmes or 

projects to give assurance over governance, risks management, and 

controls. Include Working Denbighshire project. 

Financial Systems 
Annual assurance for the S151 Officer. Focus on Covid-19 grants and 

impacts. 

Revenues & Benefits 
Annual Assurance for the S151 Officer. Focus on Universal Credit and 

Covid-19 impact and the council’s response.  

Safeguarding 
Support/advise the Council on its response to new Liberty Protection 

Safeguards (DOLS/DIDS). 

Commercial Waste 

Linked to corporate priority – Environment. Focused review of key 

processes including contract management and income collection. Carry 

forward from 2020/21 

Denbighshire Leisure 

Limited (DLL) 
Service Level Agreement to provide internal audit service to DLL. 

Youth Service 

Linked to corporate priority – young people. Review effectiveness of the 

council’s arrangements and its response to the recent WG’s Youth Work 

Strategy. Carry forward from 2020/21 

Highways Maintenance 

Linked to corporate priority – connected communities. Review 

implementation of the Highways Code of Practice: "Well-Managed 

Highways Infrastructure". Carry forward from 2020/21 

Page 119



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
8 

Audit Project Audit Brief 

Housing Rent Arrears Review the impact of Universal Credit and Covid-19. 

Cefndy Healthcare Service risk – review impact of Brexit and key risks. 

Workforce Planning 
Linked to corporate and service risk around capacity and resilience of 

key roles.  

School Audits 
Reviews of schools providing assurance over: governance, financial 

management, safeguarding and other key areas. 

Community Safety 

Partnership 

Review effectiveness of current arrangements including partnership and 

links with the Public Services Board. Include safeguarding 

considerations. Carried forward 2020/21 

Property Management Asset management including acquisition and disposal decisions. 

Health & Wellbeing 
Impact of Covid-19 on staff health & wellbeing and organisational 

response.  

Additional Learning 

Needs Implementation 

(ALN) 

Following on from previous review, advisory/assurance work on 

implementation of the ALN requirements. Carried forward from 2020/21 

Wellbeing Impact 

Assessments 

Review to ensure that decision making takes proper account of 

Wellbeing Impact Assessment. Also, inclusion of carbon reduction and 

socio-economic duty. Carry forward from 2020/21 

Housing Maintenance 
Review impact of Covid-19 and effectiveness & efficiency of current 

processes. Include review of new IT system implementation. 

Procurement - 

Exceptions and 

Exemptions 

Compliance audit - assurance that exceptions and exemptions are 

authorised and used appropriately in line with Contract Procedure Rules 

(CPRs).  

Governance – Decision 

making 

Corporate Governance review linked to Annual Governance Statement. 

Review of decision making structure, delegated decisions (lead member 

and officer level), arrangements for scrutiny of decisions and record 

keeping. 

Page 120



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
9 

Audit Project Audit Brief 

Equalities 

Corporate risk – regulatory. Assurance that the council is meeting the 

requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty including the response 

to the new socio-economic duty and tackling poverty.  

Pupil Development 

Grant 
Annual grant certification work. 

Post 16 Education 

Grant 
Assurance over the grant claim preparation and authorisation process. 

Housing Support Grant  
Assurance on the preparation of the grant claim and authorisation 

process. 

AONB Grant 

Certification 
Annual grant certification work. 

 

 

  

Page 121



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
10 

Internal Audit Performance Monitoring 

Internal Audit will continue to use the following performance measures from 1 April 2021 to 

measure its customer service and its efficiency and effectiveness in following up action 

plans and ensuring that agreed improvement is delivered by services following an internal 

audit review.  

Service Standards Target 

Internal Audit will discuss, agree and send services the Internal Audit 

Project Scoping Document before it commences work. 
100% 

At the conclusion of its work, Internal Audit will hold a closing meeting 

with all relevant people to discuss the outcome of its work, and then 

send services a draft report as soon as possible after that meeting. 

Avg. Days 

(less than 10) 

Internal Audit will issue a final audit report as soon as possible after 

agreeing the report and its action plan with services. 

Avg. Days 

(less than 5) 

Using performance management system (Verto), Internal Audit will 

monitor and report on the % of agreed improvement actions that have 

been implemented by services to show that Internal Audit’s service is 

effective in helping to deliver improvement. 

75% 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22 

 
11 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

PSIAS 1312 states that “External assessments must be conducted at least once every five 

years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the 

organisation. The CAE [Chief Audit Executive, which is Denbighshire’s case is currently 

the CIA] must discuss with the board: 

 The form and frequency of external assessments. 

 The qualifications and independence of the assessor or assessment team, including 

any potential conflict of interest.” 

This external assessment was completed in 2017-18 by the arrangement of the Welsh 

Chief Auditors Group through a peer review by a local authority Internal Audit Service. 

Denbighshire’s assessment was carried out by Gwynedd County Council’s Internal Audit 

Service and reported that Denbighshire Internal Audit Services:  

“…generally conforms with the PSIAS. Some opportunities for further improvement 

have been identified … but none of the items of partial or non-conformance are 

considered to be a significant failure to meet the Standards”.  

The CIA has updated the self-assessment to capture the partial conformance items raised 

in the external assessment. The Quality Assurance Improvement Plan was reported to 

Governance & Audit Committee in November 2018 and an update was provided as part of 

the Annual Internal Audit Report in June 2019 and July 2020. A further update will be 

included as part of the Annual Internal Audit Report in June 2021. 

The Internal Audit Charter has been updated to capture the requirements highlighted in 

the report and a review of Ethics & Culture has recently been completed which means that 

all improvement actions arising from the external assessment have been addressed. A 

further update will be provided to the Governance & Audit Committee in June 2021 as part 

of the Annual Internal Audit Report. 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Corporate Governance & Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 28 April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr Julian Thompson Hill / Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal 

Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Update 

1. What is the report about? 

This report provides an update for Corporate Governance & Audit Committee on 

Internal Audit’s latest progress in terms of its service delivery, assurance provision, 

reviews completed, performance and effectiveness in driving improvement. It also 

includes an update on progress with the CIPFA Good Practice for Audit 

Committees. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

To provide information on the work carried out by Internal Audit since the last 

Committee meeting. It allows the Committee to monitor Internal Audit’s 

performance and progress as well as providing summaries of Internal Audit reports 

so that the Committee can receive assurance on other council services and 

corporate areas. This enables the committee to discharge its responsibilities as 

per its Term of Reference. Delivery of the audit plan will assist the committee with 

obtaining assurance that the Annual Governance Statement appropriately reflects 

the conditions of the Council. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

That the Committee considers the report content, assesses Internal Audit’s 

progress and performance. 

Page 125

Agenda Item 8



 
 

That the Committee decides whether in needs further assurance on any of the 

audited areas to follow up progress with implementing the improvement action 

plans. 

4. Report details 

Appendix 1 provides an update on internal audit work carried out since the last 

update report to the committee in January 2021. Since the last Corporate 

Governance & Audit Committee update report two audits have been completed, 

none of which were given a low assurance rating. Three follow up reviews of 

previous low assurance audit were also completed which are included as separate 

agenda items. 

In light of the coronavirus pandemic, the internal audit team continues to provide 

advice and support in relation to changes to control arrangements affected by the 

pandemic and remote working requirements. Our focus is to complete priority 

audits planned for 2020/21 as reported to the committee in November 2020 and, 

while engagement from services is generally good, Covid-19 continues to impact 

on the pace and progression of some of our audits.   

Appendix 1 shows the impact had on progress against the Audit Plan for 2020/21 

due to Covid-19 and temporary reduction in audit resource as reported previously. 

We have successfully appointed a Senior Auditor for a 12-month fixed term 

contract to cover the secondment (initially a redeployment) of the Senior Auditor to 

the Test, Trace & Protect Team which has since been extended to September 

2021. The internal audit structure carries a vacant Senior Auditor post. 

The Chief Internal Auditor considers that sufficient work has taken place during the 

year, based on the work completed to date and that which is nearing completion, 

along with reliance placed on other assurance sources. Despite a reduction in 

audit coverage, a reliance on other assurances should enable the Chief Internal 

Auditor to form an Annual Opinion on governance, risk management and internal 

control arrangements without any scope limitations in what has been an 

exceptional year. The Annual Opinion will be written having regard for CIPFA’s 

recent guidance on providing an Annual Opinion.  

Page 126



 
 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 

Priorities? 

There is no decision required with this report. There is no direct contribution to 

Corporate Priorities, but some projects in the audit plan will review Corporate 

Priority areas and will provide assurance on their delivery. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other 

services? 

Not applicable – there is no decision or costs attached to the report. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 

Assessment?  

Not applicable – this report does not require a decision or proposal for change. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 

and others? 

Not required. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

There are no financial implications attached to this report. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 

reduce them? 

There is a risk that the Chief Internal Auditor is unable to draw on sufficient 

assurance to issue a complete annual opinion in accordance with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards. Remaining audits are prioritised to provide coverage of 

governance, risk management and internal controls and scopes for these audits 

will focus on key risks. CIPFA has recently issued guidance on providing an annual 

opinion to account for any limitations. 

Page 127



 
 

11. Power to make the decision 

Not applicable – there is no decision required with this report. 

Page 128



 

Issue April 2021 

Internal Audit Update 
 
April 2021  

Page 129



 

 

2 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Contents 

Contents .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Internal Audit Reports Recently Issued ............................................................................ 3 

Rhyl Regeneration Programme – February 2021 ......................................................... 3 

Settlement Agreements – April 2021 ............................................................................ 5 

Progress in Delivering the Internal Audit Assurance ........................................................ 7 

Progress with Counter Fraud Work ................................................................................ 11 

Referrals 2020/21 ....................................................................................................... 11 

Internal Audit Performance Standards ........................................................................... 12 

Appendix 1 – Assurance Level Definition ........................................................................... 13 

  

Page 130



 

 

3 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Internal Audit Reports Recently Issued 

Since the last Internal Audit Update report in January 2021, Internal Audit has completed 

two reviews and a full copy of each report has been circulated to members of the 

committee. Three follow up reviews of low assurance audits have also been completed 

and a revised assurance rating awarded to reflect improvements made. The assurance 

given and number of issues raised for each review is summarised below: 

Area of work Assurance 

Level 

Critical 

Issues 

Major 

Issues 

Moderate 

Issues 

Rhyl Regeneration Programme Medium  0 0 3 

Settlement Agreements Medium  0 0 1 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up* Medium  - - - 

Support Budgets & Direct 

Payments Follow Up* 

Medium  - - - 

Payment Card Industry – Data 

Security Standards Follow Up* 

Medium  - - - 

* Follow Up of audits previously awarded a low assurance rating. It should be noted that the 

updated opinion is based on the assumption that systems and controls as previously identified 

during the original audit remain in operation and are being complied with in practice. The 

purpose of our follow up exercises is not to retest the operation of controls which have already 

been assessed, but to review how management has responded to the action plans following 

our initial work. The Follow Up reports for Housing Tenancy, Support Budgets & Direct 

Payments and PCI-DSS are available as part of separate agenda items. 

Rhyl Regeneration Programme – February 2021 

Medium Assurance     Number of Risk Issues:   3 Moderate  

This review was completed as part of our review of Rhyl based programmes and projects 

and focused on: governance arrangements, roles and responsibilities, programme 

delivery, finance and risk management.  

Page 131



 

 

4 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Rhyl regeneration has been a focus for the council since 2004, particularly with the Rhyl 

Going Forwards Strategy in 2011.  

Implementation of revised governance arrangements for Rhyl regeneration have been 

delayed due to the previous programme manager leaving the council in January 2020 and 

the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. While separate governance definition documents 

have been agreed for both the Programme Board and the Community Development 

Board, there are no terms of reference for the Programme Board detailing its roles and 

responsibilities. More clarity is needed on the role and remit of the Board, the workstream 

leads, project executives and project boards to ensure there is sufficient accountability and 

monitoring of projects and relationship to other committees. 

The council follows the Managing Successful Programmes (MSP) methodology for 

operating programme boards, which the Chair of the Programme Board is qualified in. A 

more permanent solution for its programme management needs to be put in place, which 

is consistent with the council’s other programme boards. At the conclusion of our review, 

political oversight had been discussed with the Leader, which included regular meetings 

with him to discuss the work of both boards. 

Both boards meet regularly (although meetings have been impacted by the pandemic), 

and are overall well attended. The Strategic Planning & Performance Manager attends 

both boards so can provide updates to each. However, there is not an effective 

mechanism for recording and reporting the programme board’s activities, including risks, 

benefits, and performance.   

The focus of the Programme Board’s work is regenerating the town centre, as captured 

within the Rhyl Town Centre Vision and Masterplan, which is linked to the Regional 

Regeneration Plan. The Community Development Board also has its own vision 

document. Consideration should be given to having an overall Rhyl regeneration strategy 

to: align the work of the two boards, setting joint SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, 

relevant and timely) objectives, timescales for actions and a vision for Rhyl regeneration.  

There has been a considerable amount of investment in Rhyl regeneration, which has 

been supported by significant grant funding. Long term commitment is needed to deliver 

existing regeneration projects, some of which are complex and ambitious. An investment 

strategy could assist in exploring opportunities for attracting external investment.  Previous 

Page 132



 

 

5 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

lessons learnt reviews highlighted that better financial information was required to enable 

effective monitoring of project costs and funding streams. This has been addressed. 

Overall, we provide a medium assurance rating as the Rhyl Regeneration Board was 

aware of most of the issues identified and was in the process of putting them in place. 

Settlement Agreements – April 2021 

Moderate Assurance     Number of Risk Issues:  1 Moderate  

We undertook a review of settlement agreements for staff with a leave date between 

September 2017 and February 2019 to provide assurance over: validity of the payments, 

key representatives authorisation and involvement in the decision, the process for 

managing the settlements.  

This review commenced before the pandemic and we were unable to access key 

documents, which delayed the conclusion of our review. 

Overall, our review found that the process for managing settlements agreements continues 

to work well. We are satisfied that there is justification for settling and the associated 

payments were not excessive.  

It should be noted that the circumstances behind each settlement case is different, 

meaning that resulting payments and settlement terms also differ.  Our testing focussed 

therefore on whether each case was conducted in line with agreed Council protocol, 

appropriate professional advice had been sought early on during the decision making 

process and that the rationale behind payments was reasonable. 

Our testing confirmed that: HR were involved in all cases; Payroll ensured that National 

Insurance and Income Tax contributions were correctly accounted for; Legal services were 

involved in all cases but there were some instances where they were involved at a late 

stage. 

Our testing highlighted that, occasionally, situations arise where the council inherits 

circumstances which result in settlement agreements.  For instance: Regional groups 

(where Denbighshire is not the lead authority) changes its structure or job roles without 

proper consultation with the council. HR confirmed that managers are made aware of this 

Page 133



 

 

6 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

scenario and risk by their HR business partners during recruitment, particularly those 

involving grant funded positions. 

We raised one risk issue relating to controls around authorisation and following procedures 

not always being applied. 

This review also highlighted that key records are paper based which impacted the 

conclusion of the audit. Services involved (HR & Legal) have recognised that a review of 

the settlement agreement process would be beneficial to ensure that it is still effective 

especially in light of officers working remotely as a result of the pandemic 

  

Page 134



 

 

7 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Progress in Delivering the Internal Audit Assurance  

Internal Audit is currently focusing on completing priority audits from the Audit Strategy 

2020-21 and no new projects are currently planned until the Audit Strategy for 2021-22 is 

agreed.  

In light of the coronavirus pandemic, the internal audit team continues to support and 

advise services regarding changes to arrangements that the Council is having to 

implement at pace to respond to the pandemic. We continue to carry out audits remotely 

and make progress with the highest priority areas within the 2020/21 plan of work (agreed 

in July 2020) with good engagement from services; however, the pace and progression of 

audits continues to be impacted.  

The table below provides an update on progress against the Audit Plan for 2020/21. A 

number of projects will be carried forward to the financial year 2021/22. The Senior 

Auditor’s secondment to the Test Trace Protect team has been extended to September 

2021 and the team carries a Senior Auditor vacancy.  

The Chief Internal Auditor has made an assessment on the assurance work carried out 

during the year and based on this, will be able to form an Annual Opinion on governance, 

risk management and internal control arrangements without any scope limitations. The 

Internal Audit Annual Report will be presented to Governance & Audit Committee in June 

2021. 

Page 135



 

 

8 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

AONB Grant Complete Grant 
certification 

0 0 0 Annual 
accounts audit 

Provision of Homeless 
Accommodation 

Complete Low  0 2 5  

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 

C/f 2021-
22 

- - - - 2021-22. 
Awaiting 
revised Welsh 
Government 
guidance 

Education Improvement 
Grant 

No 
longer 
required 

- - - - Grant terms 
and condition 
no longer 
require audit. 

Pupil Improvement Grant Complete High  0 0 1 Annual grant 
certification 

Financial Management 
System 2019-20 

Complete Not 
applicable 
 

- - - Project at an 
early stage so 
unable to give 
an assurance 
rating. 

Treasury Management 
2019-20 

Complete High  0 0 3  

Accounts Payable 2019-
20 

Complete High  0 0 0  

Direct Payments for 
Children 

Complete Low  0 4 2  

Recruitment & Retention Complete High  0 0 2  

Health & Safety 
Enforcement 

Complete High  0 0 4  

Schools audit: Ysgol 
Pendref 

Complete Medium  0 0 6  

School Audit: Ysgol Bro 
Cinmeirch 

Closing 
Meeting 

-    Delayed due to 
Covid-19 

Supply Chain Risk Complete Advisory - - - Advisory 

Housing Support Grant Complete High  0 0 0  

Rhyl Regeneration 
Programme  

Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Project Management: 
SC2 

Draft 
report 

-     

Project Management: 
Queens Market 

Complete Low  0 2 2  

Page 136



 

 

9 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

Business Rates Grants  Complete Advisory - - - Advisory 

Discretionary Business 
Grants 

Complete Advisory    Advisory 

Free School Meals Direct 
Payments 

Complete N/a - - - Advisory 

Social Care Workers 
Bonus Payments 

Complete N/a - - - Advisory 

Transport complaint Complete N/a    Advisory 

Rhuddlan Town Council Complete N/a    External fee 
earning work 

National Fraud Initiative Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a Commencing 
2020-21 
exercise 

Revenues & Benefits 
2020/21 

Draft 
report 

-    Focus on 
Covid impact 

Capital Management Draft 
Report 

-     

Financial Services 
2020/21: 

- Accounts 
Payable 

- Payroll 

Closing 
meeting 

-    Reviews of 
Accounts 
Payable & 

Payroll 

Community Living 
Schemes 

Draft 
Report 

-     

Data Protection & 
Freedom of Information 

Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Denbighshire Leisure 
Limited 

Fieldwork -     

ICT Capacity & 
Resilience 

Fieldwork -     

Ethical Culture Complete Medium  0 0 3  

Risk Management Fieldwork -     

General Fraud Enquiries Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Follow up audits Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

School fund audits Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Corporate Governance 
Framework 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Corporate Working 
Groups 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Page 137



 

 

10 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Area of work Current 
status 

Assurance 
level 

Critical 
issues 

Major 
issues 

Moderate 
issues 

Comment 

Consultancy & Corporate 
Areas 

Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Team Meetings /1:1s Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Management Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

Training & Development Ongoing N/a N/a N/a N/a  

 

As indicated previously, the following projects will no longer be completed in 2020/21. The 

areas assessed as high priority areas will be carried forward to the Audit Plan for 2021/22: 

 Community Mental Health Team – BCUHB confirm that it is focusing on other 
priorities 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) – carry forward to 2021/22 

 Adoption Service – Carry forward to 2021/22 

 Youth Service – Carry forward to 2021/22 

 Works in Defaults – no longer a priority 

 Workforce Development – carry forward to 2021/22 as Workforce Planning. 

 School Audits – on hold, carry forward to 2021/22 

 Heritage Services – no longer a priority 

 Additional Learning Needs – carry forward to 2021/22 

 Empty Homes – no longer a priority 

 Commercial Waste – Carry forward to 2021/22 

 Exceptions and Exemptions with CPRs – Carry forward to 2021/22 

 Equalities / Wellbeing and Impact Assessments – Carry forward to 2021/22  

Page 138



 

 

11 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Progress with Counter Fraud Work 

Counter fraud work carried out since the last internal audit update includes: 

1. Providing advice on counter fraud to officers on request. This has included the 

emergency Covid-19 related grants for businesses. 

2. National Fraud Initiative (NFI) update: 

a. NFI exercise 2018-19 is complete and closing down any open cases. Monies 

identified as wrongfully paid are in the process of recovery. 

b. Data matches for the 2020-21 exercises have been released. Training and 

awareness raising with services to enable review and investigation. 

3. Education Support continue to prompt schools to maintain up-to-date school fund 

certificates. Coordinating with schools to prevent potential scam which was 

highlighted by another Welsh local authority.  

4. The Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud, Corruption and Bribery and 

Fraud Response Plan scheduled to go to Senior Leadership Team prior to the 

Governance & Audit Committee. 

5. Alerts from the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) relating to Business Rates 

Grants and potential Mandate Fraud reviewed with the relevant service and 

response taken accordingly. 

6. Responding to Whistleblowing concerns which involve allegations of potential fraud. 

Referrals 2020/21 

While it is not Internal Audit’s role to identify or investigate fraud, Internal Audit keeps 

abreast of potential fraud from a view of ensuring that any governance, risk management 

or control weaknesses are addressed.  

Four allegations relating to potential fraud have been referred to Internal Audit during the 

financial year 2020/21: one has been referred to the police, two have been concluded with 

no fraud proven and recommendations made to strengthen existing controls, the most 

recent allegation is under investigation. 

Whistleblowing concerns are reported separately to Committee as part of the Annual 

Whistleblowing Report but are included in the above figures should there be an element 

relating to potential for fraud.   

Page 139



 

 

12 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Internal Audit Performance Standards 

The table below shows Internal Audit’s performance to date for 2020/21.  

Performance Measure Target Current 
Performance 

Send a scoping document before the start of 
every audit 

100% 100% 

Issue draft report within 10 days of the closing 
meeting 

Average days less 
than 10 

7 days 

Issue final report within 5 days after agreeing 
the draft report and action plan 

Average days less 
than 5 

8 days 

Percentage of audit agreed actions that have 
been implemented by services 

75% 62% 

Performance relating to issuing the final report within an average of 5 days following 

agreement to the draft report has been adversely impacted by capacity shortage within the 

team following the redeployment of a senior auditor to the Trace, Test Protect (TTP) team 

at short notice. Performance continues to improve over recent months. 

Implementing of agreed actions has not achieved the target with Community Support 

Services and Highways & Environment Services showing the lowest rates of completion. 

Covid-19 is the main reason attributed for this with the particular services areas having 

additional demands placed upon them in terms of respond to the pandemic. Internal Audit 

are prioritising the completion of assurance work and continue to follow up previous 

reviews awarded a low assurance to ensure that necessary improvements are being 

made. While many actions are taking longer to resolve that originally envisaged by 

services, we are satisfied that progress is still being made to implement the requisite 

change. 

  

Page 140



 

 

13 

Internal Audit Update – April 2021  

Appendix 1 – Assurance Level Definition 

Assurance Level Definition Management Intervention 

High Assurance  Risks and controls well 

managed and objectives 

being achieved 

Minimal action required, easily 

addressed by line management 

Medium Assurance  Minor weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls but no risk to 

achievement of objectives. 

Management action required 

and containable at service level. 

Senior management and SLT 

may need to be kept informed. 

Low Assurance  Significant weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls that put achievement 

of objectives at risk. 

Management action required 

with intervention by SLT. 

No Assurance  Fundamental weaknesses in 

management of risks and/or 

controls that will lead to 

failure to achieve objectives. 

Significant action required in a 

number of areas. Required 

immediate attention from SLT. 

 

Risk Issue Category Definition 

Critical  Significant issues to be brought to the attention of SLT, Cabinet 

Lead Members and Governance and Audit Committee. 

Major  Corporate, strategic and/or cross-service issues potentially 

requiring wider discussion at SLT. 

Moderate  Operational issues that are containable at service level. 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to Corporate Governance & Audit Committee  

Date of meeting 28 April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report provides an update on progress in implementing the action plan that 

accompanied the Internal Audit report on Housing Tenancy dated November 

2019 which was presented to this committee in January 2020. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

Sub-heading (delete as needed) 

2.1. This report is to provide information on how the council is implementing 

improvements with Housing Tenancy arrangements since the issue of the 

Internal Audit report. The report gave a low assurance, so Corporate 

Governance & Audit Committee requested a progress report. This is the first 

progress report. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the committee reviews progress with addressing the audit actions and 

decides whether it requires any further update reports on progress with the 

improvement action plan. 

4. Report details 

4.1. Our review of Housing Tenancy, report dated November 2019, gave a low 

assurance rating due to the significant weaknesses identified.  

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



 
 

4.2. The follow-up identified that progress has been made to implement the agreed 

action raised, but due to the impact of Covid-19 some implementation dates 

have been extended. Progress has been made will the agreed actions with 

several actions complete. The Internal Audit Follow Up Report which details 

progress with implementing the agreed action plan is available in Appendix 1.  

4.3. Based on the results of our follow up review, we provide a medium assurance 

rating. 

4.4. Internal Audit will continue to follow up the outstanding actions to ensure that 

they are all suitably addressed.  

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report 

Page 144



 

 

April 2021  1 

  

Internal Audit of Housing Tenancy 
Follow Up Review 

 

P
age 145



 

 

April 2021 2 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

Purpose & Background Information 

Our original review of Housing Tenancy was completed in 

November 2019 giving a low assurance rating due to the 

significant weaknesses identified. 

It should be noted that the updated opinion is based on the 

assumption that systems and controls as previously identified 

during the original audit remain in operation and are being 

complied with in practice. The purpose of our follow up exercise 

is not to retest the operation of controls which have already been 

assessed, but to review how management has responded to the 

action plans following our initial work. 

Audit Opinion 

The follow-up identified that some progress had been made to 

address the issues raised, but had been impacted by Covid-19, 

therefore dates have been pushed forward. 

Progress has been made with the outstanding actions, with eight 

actions complete;  

 The team now use the traffic light system on Open 

Housing to highlight gaps in data at every customer 

contact point. 

 Staff have been trained to ensure they have full 

knowledge of how and when to update Open Housing 

data. 

 Staff now have access permissions to support maintaining 

up to date occupancy data on the IT system. 

 Targeted work has been carried out to identify high risk 

properties.  

 NFI (National Fraud Initiative) AppCheck has been 

considered; however, this will not currently be used due to 

other resources being utilised. 

 Currently working with the corporate NFI checking process 

which is a clear control to detect fraud.  

 Consulted with Denbighshire Tenant and Residents 

Federation (DTARF) regarding potential fraud. They 

agreed that regular newsletter articles to raise awareness 

on what to do if fraud is suspected would be appropriate. 

 Newsletters have been sent out to tenants, raising 

awareness of what is tenancy fraud, its impact, and how to 

P
age 146



 

 

April 2021 3 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

report suspected cases and the differentiation with 

lodging. 

A further follow up review will be needed to establish the 

progress made with the outstanding actions.  

Based on the results of our follow up review, we provide a 

medium assurance rating. 

Assurance Rating  

Audit Opinion Rating 

At Final Report Low  

At Follow Up Medium  

Progress with Implementing Agreed Actions 

Action Risk 
Rating 

Actions Fully 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Yet Due 

Critical  0 0 0 

Major  8 4 0 

Moderate  1 2 0 

 
 

  

P
age 147



 

 

April 2021 4 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

Ref Agreed Action Issue & Risk Manager Responsible 

& Target Date 

Follow Up Status and 

Comments 

1.1 Planned programme of 
tenancy visits to all council 
homes to be implemented. 
This will support the gathering 
of up to date information on 
tenancies including NINO and 
DOB and other historically 
absent data. 

The quality of the data held in 
the Open Housing system is not 
robust. This could cause poor 
customer service, has 
implications for GDPR, and 
could result in staff time being 
used inefficiently. 

Major  

 

Senior Officer 
Neighbour hoods  

 

March 2020 

Letters went out to tenants to 
explain why the visits were to 
take place and what information 
was needed; however, Tenancy 
Visits have been put on hold 
due to COVID-19. An electronic 
tenancy verification form has 
been developed, in line with 
GDPR.  

Officers will visit households 
over an 18-month period. 

Original documents are obtained 
to confirm identity but copies are 
not kept. The team record 
details of what was shown as 
proof of identity, making a note 
of any serial numbers.   

March 2022 

1.2 Reaffirm team requirement to 
use traffic light system on 
Open Housing to highlight 
gaps in data at every customer 
contact point. 

 

The quality of the data held in 
the Open Housing system is not 
robust. This could cause poor 
customer service, has 
implications for GDPR, and 

Senior Business 
Support Officer 

March 2020 

All staff are encouraged to use 
the traffic light system on Open 
Housing. This process is 
embedded in day-to-day work, 
therefore there is no written 
guidance. 

P
age 148



 

 

April 2021 5 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

could result in staff time being 
used inefficiently. 

Major  

The Senior Business Support 
Officer will continue to monitor 
within the service as part of her 
role. 

Complete 

1.3 Ensure staff have full 
knowledge of how and when to 
update Open Housing data 
including the administration of 
tenancy changes, recording 
deceased tenants, appropriate 
storage of occupancy details 
and detailing of lodger 
requests and permissions. 

The quality of the data held in 
the Open Housing system is not 
robust. This could cause poor 
customer service, has 
implications for GDPR, and 
could result in staff time being 
used inefficiently. 

Major  

Senior Officer - 
Neighbourhoods 

 

March 2020 

Staff training has taken place at 
the end of 2019/beginning of 
2020 and permissions amended 
so occupancy updates can now 
be amended by relevant staff.  

Complete  

1.4 Investigate staff permissions to 
support maintaining of up to 
date occupancy data. 

The quality of the data held in 
the Open Housing system is not 
robust. This could cause poor 
customer service, has 
implications for GDPR, and 
could result in staff time being 
used inefficiently. 

Major  

 

Senior Business 
Support Officer  

March 2020. 

 

Relevant staff now have 
permission and will need 
additional training on adding 
occupancy details to the system. 
Occupancy of tenants changes 
frequently. 

Complete 

2.1 2.1 Ensure copies of ID 
retained at initial new tenancy 
stage for future cross 
checking. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 

Senior Officer – 
Neighbourhoods 

 

Copies of the original tenants’ ID 
documents are not kept but 
details are recorded of what was 

P
age 149



 

 

April 2021 6 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

March 2020 shown as proof of identity, 
making a note serial numbers.  

The tenancy verification form 
and pre tenancy verification 
form provides staff with 
guidance on tenant identification 
listing the options of acceptable 
identity documentation. 

Complete 

2.2 Investigate whether use of 
photos for new tenancies is 
practical, effective and legally 
compliant. Consider 
implications of tenant refusal. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Senior Officer - 
Neighbourhoods 

March 2020 

Legal advice was obtained and 
confirms that Housing can 
request photographs under 
“avoiding prejudice in the 
prevention and detection of 
crime”. Policies would need to 
be amended, checked and 
approved by Legal before sign 
off. 

Allocations would have to be 
clear on what the consequences 
are for anyone who refuses for a 
photograph to be held and 
without prejudice.  

Also, consideration would be 
required on how best to store 
and manage the data. Under 
GDPR, the council must have a 
valid reason for collecting the 

P
age 150



 

 

April 2021 7 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

personal data, it needs to be 
information needed as part of 
our business, and more 
importantly it has to be 
necessary and proportionate.    

 

Revised date March 2022 

2.3 Develop process to identify key 
stages where an ID check 
must be carried out such as 
during tenancy visits, prior to 
tenancy change permissions, 
planned improvement work 
and disabled adaptations.  
Include awareness to expect 
these requests in 
communications to tenants 

 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Senior Officer – 
Neighbourhoods 

March 2020 

The processes already in place 
and the additional system that 
can report on rent patterns more 
easily, including the ‘Categories’ 
and ‘Sub-Categories’ added 
enables Housing Officers to 
record any housing fraud 
dealings against the appropriate 
description 

ID checks are carried out before 
any changes are made to the 
tenancy with any planned 
improvement work /disabled 
adaptations only being 
authorised once confirmation or 
validation that they are the 
tenant of the property.  

Documented guidance for staff 
would also reinforce the 
process. 

 

P
age 151



 

 

April 2021 8 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

Revised date March 2022 

2.4 Targeted work to identify high 
risk properties will be 
developed. This will include 
analysing data on “limited 
contact” properties and 
changes in rent payment 
behaviour for example. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy 2.5management 
process to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Senior Business 
Support Officer 

September 2020 

Targeted work has been carried 
out to identify high risk 
properties; reviewed ‘red flag’ 
properties, gas maintenance 
yearly analysis, raising 
awareness through repairs and 
maintenance team.  

‘Mobisoft’ system is now being 
used; a caseload management 
system for rent payments. Staff 
run reports weekly to analyse 
tenancies in arrears, in credit, 
rent patterns and behaviours.  

Complete 

2.5 Improve the processes for 
administering NFI matches to 
ensure robust action is taken. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Senior Business 
Support Officer 

September 2020 

It was agreed by the Head of 
Customer, Communication and 
Marketing that review and 
investigation of NFI matches 
would be put on hold while 
Housing focuses its resources 
on other priorities e.g. Covid-19 
response. Tenancy Fraud 
training has taken place with 
staff so they are more aware of 
how to investigate further should 
it be required. 

P
age 152



 

 

April 2021 9 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

 

Further staff training planned, no 
date confirmed. 

Revised date August 2021 

2.6 Investigate potential to use NFI 
AppCheck. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Senior Business 
Support Officer 

September 2020 

Housing use other resources to 
cover this risk. The service is 
capturing deaths through the 
Tell Us Once process and 
others. Potential to use NFI App 
Check will be reviewed in 
January 2022, but currently 
continue to focus efforts on 
responding to Covid-19. 

Complete 

2.7 Investigate customer insight 
products such as Housing 
Partners that could support 
improving the quality of data 
and fraud detection taking into 
account other corporate anti- 
fraud projects and data sharing 
requirements. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Lead Officer – 
Community Housing 

September 2020 

Currently, working with the 
corporate NFI checking process 
which is a clear control to detect 
fraud. All housing applicants 
have a full ID check prior to any 
allocation of Housing and as 
part of pre-tenancy processes. 
Projects to assess products to 
detect fraud such as Housing 
Partners are currently on hold 
due to changes in rules on how 
data is shared. 

Complete 

P
age 153



 

 

April 2021 10 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

2.8 Consult DTARF the tenant 
representative group regarding 
these proposals. 

Controls are not robust within 
the application process and 
tenancy management process 
to prevent inaccurate 
information being held, and 
assist with detecting 
unauthorised subletting or 
lodgers, and tenancy fraud. 

Major  

Lead Officer – 
Community Housing 

December 2019 

After consulting with DTARF, it 
was agreed that fraud is unfair 
on those looking for homes and 
acknowledged that often 
neighbours may not know that 
someone new has not moved in 
legitimately. DTARF have no 
knowledge themselves of this 
being an issue. They agreed 
that regular newsletter articles to 
raise awareness on “what to do 
if fraud is suspected” would be 
appropriate. 

Complete 

3.1 Develop and implement 
procedures for staff on 
processing requests for 
lodgers. 

Clearer documented guidance is 
needed for both staff and 
tenants on sub-letting, lodgers 
and tenancy misuse and fraud.  
Without this, it could mean that 
there is a lack of awareness, 
and any unauthorised practice 
may not be detected so that 
appropriate measures can be 
put in place. 

Minor  

Senior Officer 
Neighbourhoods 

 

March 2020 

A system is in place for any 
lodger requests to be authorised 
by a Team Leader. 

Further progress has been 
impacted by Covid-19 i.e. 
written procedures for staff on 
lodgers has yet to be developed. 

 

Revised date March 2022 

P
age 154



 

 

April 2021 11 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

3.2 Develop and implement 
procedures for staff for dealing 
with suspected tenancy fraud 
reports including investigation 
and legal processes. This will 
include how and when to share 
data with other council 
departments to detect potential 
fraud. 

Clearer documented guidance is 
needed for both staff and 
tenants on sub-letting, lodgers 
and tenancy misuse and fraud.  
Without this, it could mean that 
there is a lack of awareness, 
and any unauthorised practice 
may not be detected so that 
appropriate measures can be 
put in place. 

Minor  

Senior Officer 
Neighbourhoods 

March 2020 

A written process is included 
within the SARTH procedures 
2019 document. 

The process where someone 
applies for Universal Credit 
needs to be verified by a team 
leader to confirm that they are in 
fact a tenant. If flagged up as 
not a tenant, this will prompt an 
investigation by the housing 
officer. 

Staff training on Housing Fraud 
took place in October 2019. 

 

March 2022 

3.3 Raise awareness with tenants 
through social media and 
newsletters of what is tenancy 
fraud, its impact and how to 
report suspected cases and 
differentiation with lodging. 

Clearer documented guidance is 
needed for both staff and 
tenants on sub-letting, lodgers 
and tenancy misuse and fraud.  
Without this, it could mean that 
there is a lack of awareness, 
and any unauthorised practice 
may not be detected so that 
appropriate measures can be 
put in place. 

Minor  

Customer Engagement 
& Marketing Manager 

March 2020 

 

Newsletters have included 
tenancy fraud articles (Nov 2020 
and May 2021). With regards to 
social media, it was decided not 
use this platform as 
communications need to be 
targeted specifically to tenants 
and the information to report 
tenancy fraud would be different 
for each landlord. 

Complete 

  

P
age 155



 

 

April 2021 12 

Housing Tenancy Follow Up 

Report Recipients 

• Lead Officer (Community Housing) 

• Senior Business Support Officer 

• Neighbourhood Housing Team Leader 

• Senior Officer Neighbourhoods 

• Head of Communities & Customers 

• Senior ICT Business Systems Officer (Open Housing 
system) 

• Corporate Director: Communities 

• S151 Officer 

• Lead Officer (Destination, Marketing and Communication)  

• Lead Member for Housing & Communities  

• Lead Member for Finance, Performance & Strategic 
Assets 

• Corporate Governance & Audit Committee 

Internal Audit Team 

Sara Webster, Auditor  01824 712033  sara.webster@denbighshire.gov.uk 

Key Dates 

Review commenced November 2020  

Review completed April 2021 

Proposed date for next follow up review     August 2021 

P
age 156

mailto:sara.webster@denbighshire.gov.uk


 

Report to Corporate Governance & Audit Committee  

Date of meeting 28 April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards 

(PCI-DSS) Follow Up 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report provides an update on progress in implementing the action plan that 

accompanied the Internal Audit report on Payment Card Industry Data Security 

Standards (PCI-DSS) dated November 2019 which was presented to this 

committee in January 2020. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

Sub-heading (delete as needed) 

2.1. This report is to provide information on how the council is implementing 

improvements with regards to compliance with PCI-DSS since the issue of the 

Internal Audit report. The report gave a low assurance, so Corporate 

Governance & Audit Committee requested a progress report. This is the first 

progress report. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the committee reviews progress with addressing the audit actions and 

decides whether it requires any further update reports on progress with the 

improvement action plan. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



 
 

4. Report details 

4.1. Our review of PCI-DSS, report dated November 2019, gave a low assurance 

rating due to the nature of the control issues identified.  

4.2. The follow-up identified that progress has been made to implement the agreed 

action raised, but due to the impact of Covid-19 some implementation dates 

have been extended. Three of the eight agreed actions have been completed. 

The Internal Audit Follow Up Report which details progress with implementing 

the agreed action plan is available in Appendix 1.  

4.3. Internal Audit will follow up the outstanding actions to ensure that they are 

suitably addressed. This is scheduled for October 2021.  

4.4. Based on the results of our follow up review, we provide a medium assurance 

rating. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

Page 158



 
 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report. 

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

April 2021  1 

  

Payment Card Industry – Data Security 
Standards 
Follow Up Review 

 

P
age 161



 

 

April 2021  2 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

Purpose & Background Information 

Our original review of Payment Card Industry – Data Security 

Standards (PCI-DSS) was completed in November 2019 giving a 

low assurance rating due to the nature of the issues and control 

weaknesses identified. 

It should be noted that the updated opinion is based on the 

assumption that systems and controls as previously identified 

during the original audit remain in operation and are being 

complied with in practice. The purpose of our follow up exercise 

is not to retest the operation of controls which have already been 

assessed, but to review how management has responded to the 

action plans following our initial work. 

Audit Opinion 

The follow-up identified that progress has been made to 

implement the agreed action raised, but due to the impact of 

Covid-19 some implementation dates have been extended. 

Three of the eight agreed actions have been completed, as 

follows:  

 A report was taken to SLT in December 2019 encouraging 

corporate buy-in for ensuring corporate compliance with 

PCI-DSS.  

 A cross service Task & Finish Group (T&FG) has been set 

up and met to discuss a programme or strategy to ensure 

corporate compliance with PCI-DSS.  Workshops have 

also been held by a specialist PCI consultant to work 

towards compliance. 

 The contract with Denbighshire Leisure is in place and 

compliance with PCI DSS was included in their 

obligations. 

The remaining five actions have missed the agreed timescales 

for implementation. This is mainly attributed to the impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic on council services and the PCI-DSS 

consultant’s availability. A further follow up review will be needed 

to establish the progress made with the outstanding actions. 

Based on the results of our follow up review, we provide a 

medium assurance rating.  

 

P
age 162



 

 

April 2021  3 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

Assurance Rating  

Audit Opinion Rating 

At Final Report Low  

At Follow Up Medium  

Progress with Implementing Agreed Actions 

Action Risk 
Rating 

Actions Fully 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Yet Due 

Critical  0 0 0 

Major  2 2 0 

Moderate  1 3 0 

 
 

Action Plan Update 

Ref Agreed Action Issue & Risk Manager Responsible 

& Target Date 

Follow Up Status and 

Comments 

1.1 Report to the Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) to 
ensure corporate buy-in.  

The council does not have a 
programme or strategy in place 
to ensure corporate compliance 
with PCI-DSS. This poses the 
risk of financial and/or reputation 
loss and potential withdrawal 
from payment card acceptance 
programmes. 

Major  

 

Chief Accountant / Chief 
Internal Auditor 

31/12/2019 

 

Complete 

Initial report taken to SLT in 
December 2019 and approved 
in principle.  

P
age 163



 

 

April 2021  4 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

1.2 A cross disciplinary Task and 
Finish Group/Project team will 
be set up to implement the 
changes required. The Key 
services that need to be 
included in the T&FG include: 

 Finance 

 ICT 

 Information 
Management 

 Customer Services 

 Procurement Service 

 Service / User Group 
Representation. 

The council does not have a 
programme or strategy in place 
to ensure corporate compliance 
with PCI-DSS. This poses the 
risk of financial and/or reputation 
loss and potential withdrawal 
from payment card acceptance 
programmes. 

Major  

Business and Risk 
Manager 

31/12/2019 

Complete 

A cross disciplinary Task and 
finish Group has been set up 
and met. Workshops have been 
held to address compliance. 

1.3 The T&FG will devise a 
programme which will take 
account of the issues raised.  It 
is vital that SLT have input into 
and buy-into the programme 
as it will impact a number of 
services. This T&FG will feed 
into the Information 
Governance Group to update 
and monitor progress and 
escalate any issues. 

The council does not have a 
programme or strategy in place 
to ensure corporate compliance 
with PCI-DSS. This poses the 
risk of financial and/or reputation 
loss and potential withdrawal 
from payment card acceptance 
programmes. 

Major  

Task and finish group/ 
Head of Business 
Improvement and 
Modernisation/ Business 
and Risk Manager 

31/10/2020 

The T&FG are yet to implement 
a programme which will take 
account of the issues raised 
around the compliance.  

It has identified the need for an 
additional module on the income 
system which will assist 
compliance on the telephone 
payment channel. This is on 
order and waiting on the 
supplier to implement. Delays 

P
age 164



 

 

April 2021  5 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

are due to Covid-19 demands 
on the supplier’s resources. 

Revised Date 31/09/2021 

2.1 The Task and Finish Group to 
develop and agree training for 
all relevant staff. 

Training provision and record 
keeping of training is 
inconsistent and weak in some 
areas. There is a risk that staff 
are unaware of requirements to 
protect cardholders’ data 
resulting in weak security of 
sensitive personal information. 

Moderate  

Task and Finish Group 

31/03/2020 

All staff that are set up to take 
card payments have been 
reminded of their responsibilities 
around card security  

A formal training document will 
be developed once the work 
with the PCI consultant is 
concluded, but in the meantime 
staff will periodically be sent 
reminders around card security. 

Revised Date 31/09/2021 

3.1 Set up a separate policy or 
procedures to cover the 
council’s approach to 
compliance with the PCI-DSS 
to incorporate procedure to 
take in the event of a card data 
breach. This will link to other 
relevant policies such as the 
Information Security Policy and 
Data Protection Policy 

Lack of policy or procedure to 
direct staff towards PCI DSS 
compliance. 

Moderate  

Task and Finish Group 

31/03/2020 

As previously mentioned, the 
work with the consultant is 
ongoing and delayed due to 
demands on the consultant’s 
time due to Covid-19. Due to the 
delays with the consultant, a 
policy or procedure has yet to 
be developed. 

Revised Date 31/09/2021 

4.1 Cost comparisons with card 
service providers to be 
explored. This will need to take 

The council’s various 
agreements with card providers 
may not offer value for money 

Task and Finish Group 

31/10/2020 

Discussions are ongoing in 
regard to contract extensions 
which will address the card rate 

P
age 165



 

 

April 2021  6 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

into account the full costs, 
including per transaction costs.  
A report to be taken to SLT to 
give assurance that value for 
money is being achieved.  

Contracts/arrangements for 
card payments will be 
consolidated where possible. 

and make it difficult to 
administer as the card payment 
environment is more complex 
that it needs to be. Not only has 
this resulted in different fees and 
charges, there is an increased 
risk of vulnerabilities and non-
compliance going undetected. 

Major  

issue. Once the new finance 
system is agreed, it is hoped 
that the contract can be 
extended and include the new 
card rate structure. 

Revised Date 31/09/2021 

5.1 The Task and Finish Group will 
explore possible measures and 
update the procurement 
process (if deemed necessary) 
to ensure that PCI DSS is 
always considered when 
procuring card payment 
suppliers/services. 

PCI-DSS compliance is not 
always considered as part of 
procurement or contractual 
agreements with suppliers that 
take card payments on behalf of 
the council. 

Moderate  

Task and Finish 
Group/procurement 

31/03/2020 

Continual communications 
between parties whenever 
systems involving card 
payments are brought up within 
the procurement process. 

Work on this is ongoing and a 
formal procedure will follow but 
awareness has been raised and 
current contracts have been 
revised to account for PCI (e.g. 
card payment in public 
conveniences). 

Revised Date 31/09/2021 

5.2 Include PCI-DSS as a 
requirements within 
Denbighshire Leisure’s (ADM) 
contract T&Cs. 

PCI-DSS compliance is not 
always considered as part of 
procurement or contractual 
agreements with suppliers that 

Legal Services Manager 

31/03/2020 

Complete 

The contract with Denbighshire 
Leisure is in place and 
compliance with PCI DSS was 
included in their obligations. 

P
age 166



 

 

April 2021  7 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

take card payments on behalf of 
the council. 

Moderate  

 
 
  

P
age 167



 

 

April 2021  8 

Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standards Follow Up 

Report Recipients 

 Head of Business Improvement and Modernisation 

 Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

 Chief Accountant/ S151 Officer 

 Chief Digital Officer 

 Business and Risk Manager 

 Business Continuity and ICT Security Officer 

 Legal and Procurement Operations Manager 

 Team Leader – Communications & Campaign 

Management 

 Corporate Director – Economic and Community Ambition 

 Lead Member for Corporate Services and Strategic 

Direction 

 Lead Member for Finance, Performance & Strategic 

Assets 

 Corporate Governance & Audit Committee 

Internal Audit Team 

Sara Webster, Auditor, 01824 712033, sara.webster@denbighshire.gov.uk 

Key Dates 

Review commenced March 2021 

Review completed April 2021 

Proposed date for next follow up review     October 2021 

P
age 168

mailto:sara.webster@denbighshire.gov.uk


 

Report to Corporate Governance & Audit Committee 

Date of meeting 28 April 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Report author Lisa Lovegrove – Chief Internal Auditor 

Title Internal Audit Support Budgets & Direct Payments – Follow Up 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1. This report provides an update on progress in implementing the action plan that 

accompanied the Internal Audit report on Support Budgets & Direct Payments 

dated August 2019 which was presented to this committee in September 2019. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

2.1. This report is to provide information on how the council is implementing 

improvements with regards to ‘Support Budgets & Direct Payments’ since the 

issue of the Internal Audit report. The report gave a low assurance, so 

Corporate Governance & Audit Committee requested a progress report. This is 

the first progress report. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

3.1. That the committee reviews progress with addressing the audit actions and 

decides whether it requires any further update reports on progress with the 

improvement action plan. 

4. Report details 

4.1. Our original review of Support Budgets & Direct Payments was completed in 

August 2019 giving a low assurance rating because of the major risks/issues 

raised, e.g. robustness of the monitoring processes, and the accessibility and 

consistency of key information held. The provision of support budgets and direct 

Page 169

Agenda Item 11



 
 

payments was in a transitional period at the time of our original review with 

documentation, processes and procedures being reviewed. 

4.2. Our follow up review was originally scheduled to be reported to committee in 

March 2020, however, it was delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

4.3. The Internal Audit follow up report (Appendix 1) shows that 22 actions are 

marked as completed and the six remaining actions are in the process of being 

addressed. 

4.4. While Community Support Services (CSS) have had other priorities, particularly 

as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, significant progress has been made with 

implementing the agreed actions raised. Based on the results of our follow up 

review, we provide a medium assurance rating.  

4.5. Internal Audit will continue to monitor the outstanding actions to ensure that 

they are completed with a second follow up scheduled for July 2021. 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

5.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

6.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

7.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

8.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

9.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

Page 170



 
 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

10.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

11. Power to make the decision 

11.1. Not applicable - there is no decision required with this report  

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

April 2021  1 

  

Internal Audit of Support Budgets & Direct 
Payments 
Follow Up Review 

 

P
age 173



 

 

April 2021  2 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

Purpose & Background Information 

Our original review of Support Budgets & Direct Payments was 

completed in August 2019 giving a low assurance rating because 

of the major risks/issues raised, e.g. robustness of the monitoring 

processes, and the accessibility and consistency of key 

information held. The provision of support budgets and direct 

payments was in a transitional period at the time of our original 

review with documentation, processes and procedures being 

reviewed. 

One of the key principles of the Social Services and Well-being 

(SSWB) (Wales) Act 2014 is ensuring that the citizen has a say 

and control over their outcomes to help them improve their 

wellbeing. A direct payment or support budget enables citizens to 

identify their own needs and make choices about how they want 

to be supported. Local authorities have a fiduciary duty to ensure 

that there are sufficient controls to manage public expenditure, 

but have to balance this in line with the principles of the Act to 

ensure it is adaptable to suit the individual.  

Citizens can have a combination of support budgets (provider 

administered or local authority managed), or direct payments (an 

amount of money is paid to a citizen so they have control over 

their own care and support) to meet their needs.  

Internal Audit carry out a follow up review of all audits that 

receive a low or no assurance rating and as well as any high or 

major risk issues to provide assurance that the agreed actions 

identified at our initial audit visit have been implemented, or 

suitable progress is being made to address the areas of concern. 

This enables us to reconsider the overall assurance opinion and 

provide an updated opinion where appropriate. The updated 

opinion is based on the assumption that systems and controls as 

previously identified during the original audit remain in operation 

and are being complied with in practice. The purpose of our 

follow up exercise is not to retest the operation of controls which 

have already been assessed, but to review how management 

has responded to the action plans following our initial work. 

P
age 174



 

 

April 2021  3 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

Audit Opinion 

During our original review, information in relation to support 

budgets or direct payments was difficult to find due to how it was 

recorded. Within this review, we identified that staff are working 

more electronically and there is more consistency in how 

information is recorded, providing a clearer audit trail for 

payments. Having robust guidance will also provide clarity to staff 

on where information should be saved, and this was being 

finalised at the conclusion of our review. Additionally, a quality 

assurance tool has been designed, but not yet implemented due 

to Covid-19, to check recording practices.  

The council is looking to procure the Welsh Community Care 

Information System (WCCIS) to replace both the PARIS system 

and the CIS system that is used to make payments. At the 

conclusion of our original review, it was envisaged that the 

PARIS system could be improved in the interim, but this is no 

longer a feasible option due to staff capacity. Alternative 

measures have been put in place instead, including designing 

new care and support assessment and review templates.  

Since our last review, all cases that were in receipt of care and 

support were checked to ensure that an annual review of the 

outcomes to be achieved from the support budget or direct 

payment is carried out. Administration staff now run regular 

system reports when these reviews are due. 

Implementation of prepayment cards is in its infancy with training 

having been provided, but staff have identified that further 

improvement is needed to reporting to allow for effective 

monitoring. 

While Community Support Services (CSS) have had other 

priorities, particularly as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, 

significant progress has been made with implementing the 

agreed actions raised. Based on the results of our follow up 

review, we provide a medium assurance rating.  

Assurance Rating  

Audit Opinion Rating 

At Final Report Low  

At First Follow Up Medium  

P
age 175



Registration Service Follow Up 

 

April 2021 3 

Progress with Implementing Agreed Actions 

Action Risk 
Rating 

Actions Fully 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Implemented 

Actions Not 
Yet Due 

Critical  0 0 0 

Major  14 4 0 

Moderate  8 2 0 

 

Ref Agreed Action Issue & Risk Manager Responsible 

& Target Date 

Follow Up Status and 

Comments 

1.1 Reviewed welcome pack and 
changed stated retention 
period to 7 years. 

Clearer documented guidance 
on support budgets and direct 
payments is needed. Without 
this, it could mean that staff are 
not clear of their duties and 
carry out processes 
inconsistently, which could lead 
to non-compliance with 
legislation. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
Complete 
 

Completed 

The welcome pack has been 
updated to amend the retention 
period to seven years. 

P
age 176



 

 

April 2021  4 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

1.2 Complete support 
budget/direct payment 
guidance review and finalise to 
ensure staff have a clear 
understanding of their roles 
and responsibilities. 

Clearer documented guidance 
on support budgets and direct 
payments is needed. Without 
this, it could mean that staff are 
not clear of their duties and 
carry out processes 
inconsistently, which could lead 
to non-compliance with 
legislation. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Quality & Policy Officer 
 
29/11/2019 

In Progress 

Documented guidance for 
citizens has been updated since 
our initial review. A copy is 
available on the intranet, and on 
the council’s website.  

All staff that are involved with 
support budgets and direct 
payments have been consulted 
as part of an internal review of 
the process. The documented 
guidance for staff is being 
drafted, but progress with 
finalising the document has 
been impacted by Covid-19 and 
other priorities.  

1.3 Training on revised support 
budget/direct payment 
guidance to be delivered to all 
CSS operational staff. 

Clearer documented guidance 
on support budgets and direct 
payments is needed. Without 
this, it could mean that staff are 
not clear of their duties and 
carry out processes 
inconsistently, which could lead 
to non-compliance with 
legislation. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Team Manager 
(Business Support) 
 
20/12/2019 

In Progress 

Documented guidance for staff 
has not been finalised. Training 
is planned to be delivered 
virtually shortly. 

 

P
age 177



 

 

April 2021  5 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

2.1 New Mental Capacity 
assessment document and 
training implemented. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (North 
Locality) 
 
Complete 

Completed 

The new mental capacity 
assessment templates are in 
place. The Team Manager 
(North Locality) has completed 
training for staff on its use.  

2.2 We have already put 
processes in place for all 
operational team 
administration officers to attach 
financial paperwork into the 
Legal documents section (this 
is a relatively new section of 
PARIS and previously 
information could have been 
held in case notes).  We are 
also encouraging lead 
practitioners to provide 
scanned rather than paper 
copies of key documentation. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
31/12/2019 

Completed 

The Team Manager (Client 
Services) confirmed it is 
standard practice to scan 
documents and attach into the 
Legal documents section of 
PARIS. 

There were positive results 
overall in our sample testing, 
with three out of five cases 
having the required financial 
paperwork saved into the Legal 
documents section. Legitimate 
reasons were provided for the 
exceptions, e.g. paper copy held 
in the office and will be scanned 

P
age 178



 

 

April 2021  6 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

in next time an employee is in 
the office. 

2.3 Revised assessment 
document being developed in 
PARIS to better capture key 
information. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/ ICT Business 
Partner (CSS) 
 
20/12/2019 

Completed 

Various temporary forms have 
been used by staff during the 
Covid-19 pandemic in line with 
the Coronavirus Act. 

However, a new assessment 
form was designed and 
implemented from October 2020 
to provide consistency. The form 
is attached into PARIS when 
completed and this means that 
no system reporting of 
assessments can be carried out. 
The Service is pursuing a new 
system when the current 
contract ends in 2023, so no 
further time is being spent 
redesigning the current system 
to suit the Service’s needs. 

2.4 Training on new assessment 
document to be delivered to all 
CSS operational staff. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/ Team 
Manager (Business 
Support) 
 
31/03/2020 

Completed 

Training on the use of the new 
assessment document has been 
delivered to all key staff.  

P
age 179



 

 

April 2021  7 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

2.5 ‘Missing’ CIS identifiers on 
PARIS have been identified for 
current Direct Payment 
recipients.  A piece of work will 
be completed to record these 
on PARIS.  Process to add CIS 
identifier on PARIS will be 
incorporated in the FAO Team 
practices. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
30/09/2019 

In Progress 

The Team Manager (Client 
Services) confirmed that all 
cases have been checked to 
ensure a CIS number is 
recorded on PARIS. Our testing 
identified that 11% of citizens in 
receipt of direct payment or a 
support budget did not have a 
CIS number recorded. The 
Team Manager (Client Services) 
confirmed that cases will be 
reviewed again for both CCS 
and Education & Children’s 
Services. 

2.6 Regular monthly catch up 
meetings have been 
implemented between finance 
officers and the Team 
Manager, Client Services to 
look at budget recording and to 
identify processes to improve 
this. This will be tied into the 
development of a Direct 
Payment spreadsheet 
incorporating two new detail 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 

Team Manager (Client 
Services)/ Principal 
Finance & Assurance 
Officer 
 
31/12/2019 

Completed 

There were regular catch ups 
last year to improve the process, 
and to assist with the 
implementation of prepayment 
cards. Two new detail codes 
have been set up, but not yet 
implemented, on the ledger for 
third party support budgets and 
direct payments. Additionally, 

P
age 180



 

 

April 2021  8 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

codes for third party and self-
managed support budgets.  
Finance will transfer these 
transactions with effect from 1 
April 2019. 

Major Risk  the citizen’s name is recorded 
on the ledger so payments can 
easily be traced. Local authority 
support budgets could be coded 
to various codes within the 
general ledger, but this is due to 
the limited functionality of the 
current payment system used. 
This makes it difficult to 
determine the true cost of 
support budgets and direct 
payments for the council. An 
alternative system is being 
pursued. 

2.7 Implementation of regular 
Team & Service Manager 
casefile audits to improve 
recording practice and ensure 
adherence to process 
(including authorisations). 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Service Manager 
(Specialist Services)/ 
Service Manager 
(Localities) 
 
20/12/2019 

In Progress 

A process for carrying out 
quality assurance checks had 
been agreed at the conclusion 
of our original review, but further 
work has been carried out since 
and a new process designed. 
This includes a template for 
carrying out a casefile audit, but 
has not yet been implemented 
because of other priorities as a 
result of Covid-19. The Principal 
Manager (Operational Services) 
explained that this will be 

P
age 181



 

 

April 2021  9 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

implemented as soon as it is 
practically possible. 

2.8 Implementation of pre-payment 
cards for new and existing 
direct payment recipients. This 
has already been scoped 
including a separate payment 
method. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
31/03/2020 

In Progress 

The Team Manager (Client 
Services) confirmed that pre-
payment cards have been 
implemented but with a pilot to 
identify how well the new 
process is working. This has 
identified some improvement is 
needed in terms of the real-time 
reporting to allow for robust 
monitoring, e.g. more detail in 
terms of expenditure. Staff have 
been trained to assist with 
embedding the process, but 
take up of new direct payments 
has been low during the 
pandemic as some lunch clubs 
and other support groups have 
been closed. 

2.9 Team Managers are auditing 
their team’s unauthorised 
ICSPs and ensuring they are 
all either authorised, closed or 
cancelled. 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 

All Operational Team 
Managers 
 
31/10/2019 

Completed 

The Principal Manager 
(Operational Services) 
confirmed that a check had 
been completed as part of a 
data cleansing exercise, and all 
Integrated Care and Support 

P
age 182



 

 

April 2021  10 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Plans (ICSPs) have been closed 
where required. A PARIS report 
has been designed to allow 
managers to monitor this going 
forward. 

2.10 Implementation of regular case 
file audits to monitor 
effectiveness of actions listed 
in this report (this action 
cannot be implemented until 
changes to PARIS are 
complete and associated 
training delivered). 

Key management information 
held for support budgets and 
direct payments is not robust as 
it is either recorded incorrectly 
or inconsistently, or not easily 
accessible. This has meant that 
monitoring cannot be carried out 
in some areas as the 
information cannot easily be 
reported on. 
 
Major Risk  

Service Manager 
(Localities)/ All 
Operational Team 
Managers 
 
31/01/2020 

Closed 

See action 2.7. 

3.1 Values contained within the 
RAS have been updated and 
agreed to reflect 2019 costs. 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Principal Finance & 
Assurance Officer 
 
Complete 

Completed 

The values contained within the 
Resource Allocation System 
(RAS) were updated to reflect 
2019 costs at the conclusion of 
our original review. However, 
they have not been updated 
since to reflect 2020 or 2021 
costs, which the Principal 
Manager (Operational Services) 
will discuss with the Principal 
Finance & Assurance Officer. 

P
age 183



 

 

April 2021  11 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

The use of RAS to calculate 
support budgets or direct 
payments is optional, as all 
costings for cases are approved 
by a peer forum. 

3.2 RAS is now an optional tool 
with responsibility for 
determining value of support 
budgets being assumed by 
peer forums. Determining the 
value of support budgets will 
be addressed in the revised 
guidance and associated 
training. 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
team managers 
 
Complete 

Completed 

While the guidance for staff is 
currently in draft format, there is 
a section contained within the 
document on the calculation and 
payment of support budgets and 
direct payments. 

3.3 Updating and finalising of staff 
guidance on the role of peer 
forums in determining value of 
support budgets, and ensuring 
staff have a clear 
understanding of their roles 
and responsibilities (see action 
1.2). 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Quality & Policy Officer 
 
29/11/2019 

Completed 

While the guidance for staff is 
currently in draft format, the role 
of peer forums in approving the 
costs of a care and support plan 
is detailed. 

3.4 Training on revised support 
budget/direct payment 
guidance to be delivered to all 
CSS operational staff (see 
action 1.3). 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Team Manager 
(Business Support) 
 
20/12/2019 

Closed  

Duplicate action (with 1.3). 
Documented guidance for staff 
has not been finalised. Training 
is planned to be delivered 
virtually shortly. 

 

P
age 184



 

 

April 2021  12 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

3.5 Revised assessment 
document to be developed in 
PARIS to better capture key 
information (see action 2.3). 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/ ICT Business 
Partner (CSS) 
 
20/12/2019 

Completed 

A new assessment form was 
designed and implemented from 
October 2020 to provide 
consistency. 

3.6 Training on new assessment 
document to be delivered to all 
CSS operational staff (see 
action 2.4). 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/  Team 
Manager (Business 
Support) 
 
31/03/2020 

Completed 

Training on the use of the new 
assessment document has been 
delivered to all key staff. 

3.7 Implementation of regular 
Team & Service Manager 
casefile audit to improve 
recording practice and ensure 
adherence to process 
(including support budget 
calculation) (see action 2.7). 

There is a risk that direct 
payments may be calculated 
inconsistently due to a lack of 
clear guidance, and the original 
tool provided is not robust. 
 
Moderate Risk  

Service Manager 
(Specialist Services)/ 
Service Manager 
(Localities) 
 
20/12/2019 

Closed 

Duplication with 2.7. A process 
has been designed but has not 
yet been implemented because 
of other priorities as a result of 
Covid-19. The Principal 
Manager (Operational Services) 
explained that this will be 
implemented as soon as it is 
practically possible. 

4.1 Explore possibility of a revised 
ICSP to improve output from 
PARIS and enable a copy to 
be shared with citizens. 

The process for reviewing 
outcomes is not robust. There is 
a risk that the support budget or 
direct payment may not be 
working effectively, or that 

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/ ICT Business 
Partner (CSS) 
 
20/12/2019 

In Progress 

New templates have been 
redesigned for both the ICSP 
and outcome review process. 
These were designed to ensure 

P
age 185



 

 

April 2021  13 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

payments continue after 
outcomes have been met. 
 
Major Risk  

that they could be shared with 
citizens as the previous version 
was of poor quality when 
printed. However, there is 
nothing within the new template 
that prompts practitioners to 
share the documents. 
Additionally, the casefile audit 
tool does not prompt to check 
that the ICSP has been offered 
to be shared with the citizen.  

At the conclusion of our review, 
we were advised that the 
Service’s assessment tool has 
been amended to prompt 
sharing with citizens. ICT also 
plan to amend the ICSP to 
record: 

• whether or not the citizen 
has been asked if they 
would like a copy of their 
plan 

• the date when the copy was 
sent to the citizen 

Revised Date – 31/05/2021 

4.2 Explore the possibility of 
amending PARIS to enable 
‘Review’ alerts and reporting. 

The process for reviewing 
outcomes is not robust. There is 
a risk that the support budget or 
direct payment may not be 

Team Manager (North 
Locality)/ ICT Business 
Partner (CSS) 
 

Completed 

The Administration team (CSS) 
run regular system reports to 

P
age 186



 

 

April 2021  14 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

working effectively, or that 
payments continue after 
outcomes have been met. 
 
Major Risk  

20/12/2019 
 
 

identify when outcome reviews 
are due to ensure that reviews 
are completed in line with the 
SSWB Act. 

4.3 Reviewing improvement plan 
to be developed and 
implemented. 

The process for reviewing 
outcomes is not robust. There is 
a risk that the support budget or 
direct payment may not be 
working effectively, or that 
payments continue after 
outcomes have been met. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager 
(Stepdown and Review 
team)/ Service Manager 
(Localities) 
 
29/11/2019 

Completed 

A cross-check of the system 
was completed by the 
Administration team in 
conjunction with ICT to ensure 
all citizens in receipt of care and 
support are subject to an annual 
review. As part of this process, if 
it was identified that there was 
incomplete supporting 
documentation retained, cases 
were returned to the locality 
team so this could be resolved. 

4.4 Support budget/direct payment 
guidance to be reviewed and 
finalised to ensure staff have a 
clear understanding of their 
roles and responsibilities (see 
action 1.2). 

The process for reviewing 
outcomes is not robust. There is 
a risk that the support budget or 
direct payment may not be 
working effectively, or that 
payments continue after 
outcomes have been met. 
 
Major Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Quality & Policy Officer 
 
29/11/2019 

Completed 

While the guidance for staff is 
currently in draft format, there is 
a section contained within the 
document on the monitoring and 
review process for direct 
payments and support budgets. 

4.5 Training on revised support 
budget/direct payment 
guidance to be delivered to all 

The process for reviewing 
outcomes is not robust. There is 
a risk that the support budget or 

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 

Closed  

P
age 187



 

 

April 2021  15 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

CSS operational staff (see 
action 1.3). 

direct payment may not be 
working effectively, or that 
payments continue after 
outcomes have been met. 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager 
(Business Support) 
 
20/12/2019 

Duplicate action (with 1.3). 
Documented guidance for staff 
has not been finalised. Training 
is planned to be delivered 
virtually shortly. 

 

5.1 Implementation of pre-payment 
cards for new and existing 
direct payment recipients. This 
has already been scoped 
including a separate payment 
method (see action 2.8). 

Implementation of pre-payment 
cards for new and existing direct 
payment recipients. This has 
already been scoped including a 
separate payment method (see 
action 2.8). 
 
Major Risk  

Principal Manager 
(Operational Services)/ 
Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
31/03/2020 

Closed 

See action 2.8.  

5.2 Implementation of a Team 
Support Budget Monitoring 
spreadsheet with standardised 
recording across the Team. 

Implementation of pre-payment 
cards for new and existing direct 
payment recipients. This has 
already been scoped including a 
separate payment method (see 
action 2.8). 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
31/12/2019 

Completed 

A new spreadsheet template 
has been implemented to 
enable a standardised 
monitoring and recording of 
direct payments by the Financial 
Assessment Officers (FAOs). 

5.3 Project to move monitoring role 
from all FAOs to specific 
FAOs, this will be part of the 
wider project to implement 
payment and monitoring of 
support budgets via prepaid 
cards solution.   

Implementation of pre-payment 
cards for new and existing direct 
payment recipients. This has 
already been scoped including a 
separate payment method (see 
action 2.8). 
 
Major Risk  

Team Manager (Client 
Services) 
 
30/09/2020 

Completed 

Specific FAOs have been 
identified who monitor that key 
documentation in relation to 
direct payments is kept up-to-
date. 

P
age 188



 

 

April 2021  16 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

The financial monitoring 
capability of WCCIS will also 
be explored as part of the 
three year implementation 
project. 

Progress with the 
implementation of the WCCIS 
project has been impacted by 
the Covid-19 pandemic, 
however, it is hoped that a 
business case will be submitted 
shortly. 

 

  

P
age 189



 

 

April 2021  17 

Support Budgets & Direct Payments Follow Up 

Report Recipients 

 Principal Manager (Operational Services)  Corporate Director: Communities  

 Team Manager (Client Services)  Strategic Planning & Performance Officer  

 Quality & Policy Officer   Scrutiny Co-ordinator  

 Head of Community Support Services   Chair – Performance Scrutiny Committee  

 ICT Business Partner (extract)  Lead Member for Wellbeing and Independence  

 Principal Finance & Assurance Officer (extract)  Lead Member for Finance, Performance & Strategic Assets  

 Principal Manager (Support Services)   Corporate Governance & Audit Committee  

Internal Audit Team 

Lisa Harte, Senior Auditor  01824 718084  lisa.harte@denbighshire.gov.uk 

Key Dates 

Review commenced March 2020  

Review completed March 2021 

Proposed date for next follow up review     July 2021 

P
age 190

mailto:lisa.harte@denbighshire.gov.uk


Governance and Audit Committee Forward Work Programme 
 

9 June 2021  Standing Items  

 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny Committees (if any) Scrutiny Coordinator – Rhian Evans 

 
2 

Recent External Regulatory Reports Received (if any) Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation– Alan 
Smith, Nicola Kneale 

 3 Forward Work Programme Democratic Services 

    

  Reports   

 4 Annual Governance Statement Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 5 Internal Audit Annual report Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 
6 

Contract Management update 
 

Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

28 July 2021  Standing Items  

 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny Committees (if any) Scrutiny Coordinator – Rhian Evans 

 
2 

Recent External Regulatory Reports Received (if any) Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation– Alan 
Smith, Nicola Kneale 

 3 Internal Audit Update Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 4 Forward Work Programme Democratic Services 

    

  Reports   

 5 Treasury Management  Head of Finance – Steve Gadd 

 6 Anti-fraud and corruption policy   Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 7 Draft Statement of Accounts Head of Finance – Steve Gadd 

 8 Internal Audit- Homelessness follow up report. Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 
9 

Annual SIRO report Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation– Alan 
Smith 

 10 RIPA report – following inspection Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

22 September 
2021 

 
Standing Items  

 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny Committees (if any) Scrutiny Coordinator – Rhian Evans 

 
2 

Recent External Regulatory Reports Received (if any) Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation– Alan 
Smith, Nicola Kneale 

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 12



Governance and Audit Committee Forward Work Programme 
 

 3 Forward Work Programme Democratic Services 

    

  Reports  

 5 Social Services Budgetary Cost Pressures follow up report WAO 

 6 Parking Income  Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 7 Final Statement of Accounts Head of Finance – Steve Gadd 

    

24 November 202  Standing Items  

 1 Issues Referred by Scrutiny Committees (if any) Scrutiny Coordinator – Rhian Evans 

 
2 

Recent External Regulatory Reports Received (if any) Head of Business Improvement & Modernisation– Alan 
Smith, Nicola Kneale 

 3 Internal Audit Update Head of Internal Audit – Lisa Lovegrove 

 4 Forward Work Programme Democratic Services 

    

  Reports  

 5 Follow up report – Cyber Resilience  Barry Eaton – Chief Digital Officer 

 6   

 7   

    

    

FUTURE ITEMS     

 1 Updated Action plan from the Whistleblowing Report Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

 2 The Local Government Act Head of Legal, HR & Democratic Services 

 

NB The exact date of publication of occasional reports by for example Wales Audit Office or Annual Reports by the Ombudsman are not 

presently known.  They will be assigned a meeting date as soon as practicable. 

Date Updated : 16/04/2021 SJ 

P
age 192


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
	4 MINUTES
	5 PROCURING WELL-BEING IN WALES
	ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review
	Commissioning form
	Appendix 3

	6 BUDGET UPDATE - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP) AND BUDGET PROCESS
	APP A - MTFP Summary
	APP B - Budget Process

	7 INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER & STRATEGY 2021-22
	Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Charter 2021
	Appendix 2 - Internal Audit Strategy 2021-22

	8 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE
	Appendix 1-Internal Audit Update April 2021

	9 INTERNAL AUDIT HOUSING TENANCY
	Appendix 1 Housing Tenancy Fraud Follow-up Report

	10 INTERNAL AUDIT PAYMENT CARD INDUSTRY DATA SECURITY STANDARDS (PCI-DSS)
	Appendix 1 PCI DSS Follow-up Report

	11 INTERNAL AUDIT SUPPORT BUDGETS & DIRECT PAYMENTS
	Appendix 1 Support Budgets  Direct Payments follow up

	12 GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

